

OECD Reviews of Tertiary Education

KOREA

W. Norton Grubb, Richard Sweet, Michael Gallagher and Ossi Tuomi



OECD Reviews of Tertiary Education

Korea

W. Norton Grubb, Richard Sweet, Michael Gallagher and Ossi Tuomi



ORGANISATION FOR ECONOMIC CO-OPERATION AND DEVELOPMENT

The OECD is a unique forum where the governments of 30 democracies work together to address the economic, social and environmental challenges of globalisation. The OECD is also at the forefront of efforts to understand and to help governments respond to new developments and concerns, such as corporate governance, the information economy and the challenges of an ageing population. The Organisation provides a setting where governments can compare policy experiences, seek answers to common problems, identify good practice and work to co-ordinate domestic and international policies.

The OECD member countries are: Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Japan, Korea, Luxembourg, Mexico, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Portugal, the Slovak Republic, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, the United Kingdom and the United States. The Commission of the European Communities takes part in the work of the OECD.

OECD Publishing disseminates widely the results of the Organisation's statistics gathering and research on economic, social and environmental issues, as well as the conventions, guidelines and standards agreed by its members.

This work is published on the responsibility of the Secretary-General of the OECD. The opinions expressed and arguments employed herein do not necessarily reflect the official views of the Organisation or of the governments of its member countries.

Corrigenda to OECD publications may be found on line at: www.oecd.org/publishing/corrigenda.

© OECD 2009

You can copy, download or print OECD content for your own use, and you can include excerpts from OECD publications, databases and multimedia products in your own documents, presentations, blogs, websites and teaching materials, provided that suitable acknowledgment of OECD as source and copyright owner is given. All requests for public or commercial use and translation rights should be submitted to rights@oecd.org. Requests for permission to photocopy portions of this material for public or commercial use shall be addressed directly to the Copyright Clearance Center (CCC) at info@copyright.com or the Centre français d'exploitation du droit de copie (CFC) at contact@cfcopies.com.

Table of contents

Executive Summary	7
1. Introduction	13
1.1 The OECD Thematic Review of Tertiary Education	
2. The Current State of Tertiary Education in Korea	19
2.1 The Expansion of Tertiary Institutions 2.2 The Funding of Tertiary Education 2.3 Comparing Korea with Other OECD Countries 2.4 The Issues Created by Expansion	28 33
3. Tertiary Education and the Labour Market: Over-education, Mismatch and New connections	
3.1 The Rhetoric of Under-education and the Reality of Over-education . 3.2 Under-education and Post-Graduate Education . 3.3 The Mismatch of Skills	46 47
4. The Elusiveness of Quality in Tertiary Education	55
4.1 The Varied Conceptions of Quality	60 62
5. The Quality of Teaching and Learning	67
5.1 The Current Efforts to Improve Teaching and Learning	
6. Governance and Regulation	73
6.1 The Current Forms of Governmental Control	

6.3 The Internal Governance of the Ministry of Education and Resources Development	
6.4 Consistency and Communication Among Ministries	
6.5 Developmental Conceptions of Regulation	
The Roles of Tertiary Education in Research and Development	85
7.1 The Current State of R&D in Korea	
Equity in Tertiary Education: The Issues of Class, Gender, and Reg	ion93
8.1 The Effects of Family Background	94
8.2 Gender Inequalities	97
8.3 Equity Mechanisms: Fee Waivers, Loans, and Special Programme	
8.4 A Note on Regional Inequities	100
Internationalisation and Globalisation	103
9.1 The Curriculum Implications of Globalisation	103
9.2 The Roles of Foreign Universities in Korea	
0. Improving the Coherence of the System	107
10.1 Effects on Secondary Education	108
10.2 Student Transfer Among Tertiary Institutions	
10.3 The Roles of Colleges	
10.4 Expanding Choice	
10.5 Expanding Lifelong Learning	
10.6 Alternative Models for a Tertiary Education System	114
1. General Patterns and Final Observations	117
11.1 The Transition from Quantity to Quality	117
11.2 The Divide between Practice and Theory	
11.3 Market and Non-market Mechanisms	
11.4 The Allocation of Scarce Resources	
11.5 Data and Evaluation	
11.6 The Emphasis on Economic Purposes	122
eferences	125

Annex 1: Members of the OECD Review Team	••••	129
Annex 2: Authors of the National Background Co-ordinators	•	
Annex 3: Programme for the National Visit	•••••	133
Annex 4: Comparative Indicators on Tertiary Educat	tion	135

This report is based on a study visit to Korea in October 2005, and on background documents prepared to support the visit. As a result, the report reflects the situation up to that point.

Executive Summary

As a result of expansion that has occurred over the last 20 years, Korea now has the highest rate of participation in tertiary education of any OECD country. This remarkable expansion, which has been achieved almost entirely through increased rates of progression of young people from upper secondary education to tertiary study, has been the result of several factors. These include the expansion of upper secondary education, whose completion rates are now also among the highest in the OECD. In turn these high completion rates have been made possible by very high levels of achievement in literacy, mathematics and science. Helping to drive both of these expansions in educational participation has been a traditional Korean reverence for education. Within the tertiary education system itself, much of the explanation for the expansion can be found in a loosening of the regulations governing the establishment of new institutions, and a heavy reliance upon private funding, the heaviest such reliance in the OECD.

The expansion has lead to a number of challenges, which are the focus of this Country Note. These challenges, alongside demographic trends and a concern for Korea's international competitiveness, are among the factors that are now leading Korea to shift its emphasis from growth to quality improvement and consolidation. This Country Note is intended to enhance this emphasis. Its broad approach is to suggest a range of options that could be considered in addressing current challenges in tertiary education. This recognises that those in Korea are best placed to decide directions for the future.

A key challenge is to improve the connections between tertiary education and the labour market. Part of this is a concern within Korea to address what has been termed "a crisis of over-education", but to do so in a way that does not reduce young people's opportunities to undertake tertiary study. We suggest a number of steps that might be taken. These include: a tighter control over the types and levels of qualifications that can be offered by institutions of particular types; a more precise specification, through the creation of a national qualifications framework, of the characteristics of and outcomes expected from qualifications of different levels; requiring unmet demand in the labour market to be demonstrated before new programmes

can be established; improved co-ordination between the several Ministries responsible for tertiary education; stronger industry involvement in setting the content of study programmes; strengthening existing initiatives to create internships and work-based learning; improved career guidance in secondary schools; more flexible opportunities for transfers among fields of study and among institutions; the establishment under government auspices of a forum in which improved dialogue between employers and tertiary institutions can take place; and incorporation of the parallel system of licensing exams into the graduation requirements for degrees.

Whilst conceptions of quality vary widely in Korea, in broad terms we favour a reduced concern with institutional status and prestige, and greater attention to quality in teaching and learning and research, as well as the development of better outcome indicators and the development of a culture of evaluation. The development of a comprehensive national quality framework, encompassing institutions that are governed by all Ministries responsible for tertiary education, both public and private, would be an important initiative. We support the establishment of an independent national quality assurance agency for tertiary education, and we make some suggestions on how such an agency might operate. Underpinning all initiatives to improve quality there is a pressing need for improved data on the basis of which quality can be assessed and publicly reported. An important aspect of quality that should be given more attention is the quality of teaching and learning, and we suggest that indicators of teaching quality be included in future performance appraisals. We are, of course, cognisant that a shift from traditional Confucian approaches to teaching in Korea, in which the teacher is seen as an expert whose role is to impart knowledge, is not a simple proposition. However we encountered good examples of the use of more active and engaging teaching methods designed to develop the types of independent learning skills that both many tertiary staff and many employers believe will be important for the future. We believe that it will be important to encourage, and help to disseminate, such initiatives.

Enhancing the quality of Korean tertiary education, and improving its responsiveness to the labour market will, we believe, necessitate both improved systems for data collection and use and a strengthened culture of evaluation. It will also require thought being given to the ways in which the system is regulated and governed in order to improve its flexibility and to allow market-like mechanisms to operate more effectively. We support the moves that have been made to enhance institutional autonomy. We encourage a reduction in the number of separate programmes for matters such as student loans, and an associated consolidation in the number of separate divisions within the Ministry of Education and Human Resources Development. We advocate the adoption of a developmental, or "soft touch"

approach to the regulation of the system, in which central agencies encourage regular co-operative review of institutions against agreed indicators, provide increased technical assistance to institutions to improve performance and meet agreed objectives, and support them in doing so by providing improved data for the judgment of performance and for increasing the public transparency of the system. The development of a national qualifications framework is another important aspect of new approaches to system regulation in order to enhance quality and responsiveness. Options that we suggest to support new approaches to regulation include broadening the skills and qualifications of the staff of central agencies, the establishment of regular review meetings with institutions to discuss goals and performance, and the creation of a national council for tertiary education to assume responsibility for enhanced data collection and dissemination, as well as for advisory and consultative roles.

Korea has taken important steps in recent years to concentrate and focus its research efforts, and we support these. A distinctive feature of research and development in Korea is the strong part played by companies. In the context of a national concern to improve the contribution of research and development to economic performance, this raises key questions about the role that tertiary education should play in national research policies. We believe that the role of universities in the overall national R&D effort would be enhanced by a strong focus upon basic research, and by a recognition that a key role for universities is the training of future researchers through postgraduate and doctoral programmes. We suggest that this will require a stronger concentration of doctoral programmes in institutions that have demonstrated research strengths. While there is currently a desire to increase the number of Korean universities that are of world standing, we suggest that a better use of scarce funds might be to enhance specific areas of research, and particular programmes to train researchers. However it should also be recognised that the creation of "world class" universities will require more than an injection of research funds. Also important are the granting of enhanced autonomy to institutions, including a capacity to offer more differentiated salaries, and the creation of an entrepreneurial culture and visionary leadership within institutions. We also support the strengthening of networking among institutions in order to improve research performance.

The rapid expansion of tertiary education and recent concerns to improve quality have been associated with issues of equity receiving somewhat lesser prominence, although concerns for equity and fairness have certainly been important in the design of a number of key policies such as the "three nots", and in putting in place a wide number of loan programmes targeted at particular groups. Evidence from the OECD's PISA survey shows that the impact of family background upon 15 year-olds' performance

is among the lowest in the OECD. The expansion of tertiary education in Korea would certainly have enhanced opportunities for the children of low income families to take part in tertiary study. There is, however, an association between family background and the types of institutions that young people enrol in, with those from low income families being more likely to attend the lesser prestige institutions. We support recent government encouragement for institutions to broaden their selection criteria as one way of addressing this issue. We also suggest the gathering of improved data on the relationship between family background and course completions. Gender differences in tertiary participation in Korea are relatively high, and are linked to the overall role of women in Korean society and the labour market. Recent initiatives to promote gender equity in tertiary education are steps in the right direction, and we support their continuation and expansion. Existing arrangements for fee waivers and loans, designed to promote equity, appeared to us to be too complex, and they could benefit from simplification and consolidation. We also favour the introduction of a limited range of financial grants for particular target groups. We encourage the investigation of an income-contingent loans scheme, covering both tuition fees and living costs. We suspect that existing policies to encourage regional equity through limiting enrolments in the Seoul area are likely to be less effective than policies to better co-ordinate educational initiatives with regional economic development.

While large numbers of Korean students study abroad, the number of foreign students in Korean tertiary institutions is very small, and the presence of foreign institutions in Korean tertiary education is very limited. We encourage the creation of wider partnerships between Korean institutions and foreign institutions, subject to the development of improved systems of quality assurance and qualifications that are applicable to both.

We suggest a number of ways in which connections and linkages between different parts of Korea's tertiary education system, and its constituent institutions, might be strengthened. These include: a further broadening of the selection criteria for tertiary admission; new mechanisms to improve the transition from secondary school to tertiary study; improving opportunities for transfer among programmes and institutions, and in particular opportunities for transfer from college to university; strengthening the role of colleges, including through enhanced transfer opportunities, a national qualifications framework, and improved quality indicators; continuing existing efforts to promote institutional diversity; and strengthening opportunities for lifelong learning, particularly within the college sector. We also suggest that there might be advantages, in order to strengthen the coherence of the system, in formalising the distinction which

exists in practice between the three main sectors of the system – colleges; universities with little or no research involvement; and research universities.

We conclude this Country Note by noting a number of common issues that have emerged in our discussion of the above challenges: the transition from quantity to quality; the divide between theory and practice; the roles of market and non-market mechanisms in steering the system; priorities in the allocation of public resources; the need for improved data and evaluation; and the emphasis upon the economic purposes of tertiary education.

1. Introduction

1.1 The OECD Thematic Review of Tertiary Education

This Country Note on Korea forms part of the OECD Thematic Review of Tertiary Education. This is a collaborative project to assist the design and implementation of tertiary education policies which contribute to the realisation of social and economic objectives of countries. The tertiary education systems of many OECD countries have experienced rapid growth over the last decade, and are experiencing new pressures as the result of a globalising economy and labour market. In this context, the OECD Education Committee agreed, in late 2003, to carry out a major thematic review of tertiary education.

The principal objective of the review is to assist countries to understand how the organisation, management and delivery of tertiary education can help them to achieve their economic and social objectives. The focus of the review is upon tertiary education policies and systems, rather than upon the detailed management and operation of institutions, although clearly the effectiveness of the latter is influenced by the former. The project's purposes, methodology and guidelines are detailed on the OECD web site. The purposes of the review are:

- To synthesise research-based evidence on the impact of tertiary education policies and disseminate this knowledge among participating countries;
- To identify innovative and successful policy initiatives and practices;
- To facilitate exchanges of lessons and experiences among countries;
 and
- To identify policy options.

Reports and updates are available from www.oecd.org/edu/tertiary/review

All countries taking part in the review prepare a detailed national background report that is written using a common framework developed by the OECD secretariat, working in association with member countries. At the time of writing, 24 countries had agreed to participate in the review. Somewhat over half of these, including Korea, have asked for a review of their tertiary education policies by a team of external examiners. This team visits the country for one and a half to two weeks, talking to institutions, key stakeholders, policy makers and national experts. A report, referred to as a country note, is then prepared. This has two aims: to describe the country's national system of tertiary education for the benefit of outsiders; and to make suggestions that the country can use to help the development of its national system and policies.

At the conclusion of the review a comparative report will be written that summarises the lessons learned from the review. It will draw upon national background reports, country notes, expert papers commissioned for the review, and a range of detailed statistical and research material.

Each country taking part in the review is asked to appoint a steering committee of key stakeholders to guide the writing of its background report and to assist in developing the programme for the national visit (if one of these has been requested). Meetings of national co-ordinators for the countries taking part in the review, and of other experts and international organisations, take place at regular intervals during the review. The review is expected to conclude late in 2007.

A draft of Korea's background report was made available in July 2005. It was prepared by the Korean Educational Development Institute (KEDI), a Korean government research organisation with a special expertise in the field of tertiary education. A team of four examiners subsequently visited Korea in the period 17-26 October 2005. The team visited a wide range of institutions both in Seoul, the capital, and in several regional areas. It held discussions with the Korean Minister for Education and Human Resources Development, with members of the National Assembly, with senior policy makers in a number of Ministries, and with key stakeholders.²

Particular thanks are owed to Dr Byung Shik Rhee of KEDI, Dr Jong-Gap Lee and Dr Wha-Jin Kim of the Ministry of Education and Human Resources Development (MOE) who have been the national coordinators for Korea's participation in the review, and to Dr Byung Shik Rhee and Dr Jae Eun Chae of KEDI who supervised and carried out much of the work

2

The members of the review team can be found in Annex 1. The authors of the national background report are listed in Annex 2. The detailed programme for the visit is given in Annex 3.

involved in the development of the background report and in the planning of the national visit

1.2 The Korean Economy and Labour Market

Over the last two decades Korea's per capita income has raised from one-third to two-thirds of the OECD average³ (OECD, 2005a), in the preceding two decades its economic progress was equally remarkable. In the last five years, in part as the result of structural reforms undertaken since the 1997 economic crisis and in part as the result of strong external demand, it has achieved an average annual growth rate of 5.5%.

The economic policies that have underpinned this growth have emphasised the development of a vigorous, export-oriented manufacturing industry, with a progressive shift towards high technology- and knowledgeintensive production. Korea remains more dependent upon manufacturing than nearly all other OECD countries. In 2003 manufacturing accounted for 26% of gross value added, a figure exceeded only by Ireland, with 31%. One third (35%) of the civilian labour force is employed in manufacturing, one of the highest levels in the OECD, and only two thirds (64%) in the service sector, one of the lowest (OECD, 2004a). Current economic policy favours a continued strong manufacturing sector with a higher technological base, rather than a significant shift towards the service sector. Where services do grow, the emphasis is expected to be on niche sectors and upon service industries with a high value added. There has been significant expansion of knowledge-based industries, both in manufacturing and in the service sector in recent years. Between 1997 and 2002, output in knowledge-based manufacturing industries such as computers, semiconductors and precision instrumentation grew by 87%. In knowledge-intensive service industries such as software, e-commerce and business services it grew by 26%. Between 1995 and 2002 labour productivity grew, at just over 4%, faster in Korea than in nearly all other OECD countries, exceeded only by Ireland and the Slovak Republic. In 2000, high- and medium-technology- and knowledge-intensive manufacturing represented a higher proportion of total gross value added in Korea (close to 15%) than in any OECD country other than Ireland (OECD, 2003a, Charts D.3 and D.6).

This emphasis upon knowledge-intensive industries within national economic policy results in a high priority being attached to research and development, to science and innovation policies, to the development of advanced technologies such as wireless broadband, digital multimedia

USD 20 900 in 2004 using current purchasing power parities.

broadcasting and robotics, and to policies that can turn knowledge into commercial products with a competitive advantage. The challenge posed by China's growing lower wage, export-oriented manufacturing sector looms large in Korean economic thinking, and tertiary education assumes a high importance within such an economic framework.

A distinctive feature of the Korean economy is the significant role played by the *chaebol*. These large, usually family-controlled conglomerates, such as Hyundai and Samsung, consist of many companies clustered around one parent company, and have strong ties to government agencies. They have been a significant force in the growth of modern Korean industry and exports, but since the economic crisis of the late 1990s, closely linked to high debt levels among the *chaebol*, pressures have grown for their reform and diversification. They continue to play a very important role in Korea's overall research and development effort.

Another distinctive feature is the dominant role played by Seoul, the national capital. As well as being the seat of government, it is the home of virtually all major enterprises. It is the location of a high proportion of all tertiary institutions and of nearly all of the most prestigious ones. Close to 50% of Korea's population of 48 million lives in the Seoul region and around 25% in Seoul itself. This represents the highest concentration of a country's population within a single urban area in the OECD. Pressures to counterbalance its power to pull jobs, population and economic resources from other regions are an important feature of current government policies, including policies for education. The notion of "balanced regional development" has been a feature of Korean economic policies since the early 1990s (McManus, 2001).

Formally measured unemployment in Korea is, at 3.5% in 2004, very low by OECD standards, and half the rate experienced during the 1997 economic crisis. Nevertheless the present rate is higher than the rates of around 2% experienced a decade earlier, and reducing it is a priority for the government. Long term unemployment in Korea is the lowest in the OECD, with only 1% of all unemployment represented by spells of 12 months or more. Reflecting the generally low overall unemployment rate, youth unemployment (measured using the labour force aged less than 25) is also below the OECD average. However the youth to adult unemployment ratio in Korea is among the highest in the OECD, with the unemployment rate among 15-24 year-olds being over three times as high as that among 25-54 year-olds. This reflects the significant disadvantage that young Koreans experience in the labour market. Korea has a weakly developed social safety

The unemployment rate among 15-24 year-olds relative to the rate among 25-54 year-olds.

net – for example in December 2004 only 24% of the unemployed received unemployment benefits – and as a result those who are unemployed rely heavily upon their families for support and assistance, reflecting the strong role that family networks play in Korea in general. Strengthening the social safety net is likely to be a priority for any future public expenditure increases

Part-time employment is quite low in Korea, at only 8% of total employment and 12% of female employment, compared to averages for the OECD as a whole of 15% and 20%. However non-regular employment, represented by workers with short-term contracts, temporary agency workers and on-call workers is high and rising. It represented 30% of all employment in 2004, up from 17% in 2001 (OECD, 2005b). It is supported and encouraged by the quite high rates of employment protection in Korea (OECD, 2004b), and particularly the high protection of permanent workers against individual dismissal, that make it difficult for new entrants to break into the regular labour force. It is notable, in this context, that self employment in Korea is high at 27% of total employment, nearly double the rate for the OECD as a whole.

Korea has an ageing population. In 2000 the old-age dependency ratio⁵ was less than 10%, among the lowest in the OECD. However by 2050 it will, at over 50%, be among the highest. This will put pressure both upon public expenditure to meet the resulting health and retirement income costs, and upon policies to increase the supply of labour, either from domestic or international sources. A major challenge in doing so will be for Korea to lift its female labour force participation rate. Currently only 54% of women aged 15-64 are in the labour force in Korea, well under the 60% for the OECD as a whole, and the fourth lowest in the OECD (after Turkey, Mexico and Italy). The foreign labour force is also small, representing only 1.8% of the total labour force in 2003. This was larger than the figure for Japan (0.3%), but well under the figures of 5.6% for France, 9.4% for Germany, and 19.9% for Canada.

Defined as the ratio of the population aged 65 and over to the population aged 20-64.

2. The Current State of Tertiary Education in Korea

Formal schooling on Korea has an ancient history. The country itself emerged around 3 000 years ago, and the first institution of higher education was founded in 372 A.D. The establishment of Sunkyunkwan in 1398 – still in existence as Sunkyunkwan University – was based on the three traditional principles of Confucian education – virtue, civility, and excellence – and focused on subjects like the study of nature, household management, country governance, and such ideals as sincerity, morality, and universal harmony. This form of education depended on a clear hierarchical relationship between master and student, where the student imbibed wisdom from the master, without questioning or interference. This view persists, as many Koreans will confirm, and provides a foundation for some of the oldest universities

More recently Korea, like many countries around the world, has embraced formal schooling for its economic power. This view emphasises the role of formal schooling for its value in creating economic growth. international competitiveness, and individual advancement; as we heard many times, Korea does not have any natural resources, so it must rely on the development of its human resources, its people. Often this view begins with the assumption that economies are changing, away from manufacturing toward a "knowledge economy" where new competencies and higher levels of schooling are necessary. As Kwon (2001) has commented, "the idea of a knowledge-based economy is enthusiastically treated like a gospel among Korean people". The belief in education evident in many countries can be called the Education Gospel (Grubb and Lazerson, 2004), reflecting a faith in education as the solution to both social problems and individual mobility. The current goals of the Korean government for tertiary education are largely related to economic development, including increasing international competitiveness of tertiary education, improving employment rates of graduates, increasing knowledge transfer between industry and academia, providing education that better prepares students for the demands of industry, and building 15 world-calibre research universities. The only prominent goal that is not wholly economic is the improvement of quality, which is widely thought to have deteriorated during the expansion

of tertiary education; as one measure, the student-teacher ratio climbed to about 30:1 during the period of rapid expansion.

The Confucian tradition and more recent economic conceptions of education are united in the emphasis they place on education. As we will see later in this chapter, Korea has expanded its system of higher education more quickly than any country in the world. But these two conceptions depart in other ways, as we will see: the Confucian tradition emphasises moral attributes and non-economic dimensions of society, while the Education Gospel stresses the skills valued in employment and economic roles. The Confucian tradition is dominated by strict transfer of knowledge from master to student; but the skills that employers want in a modern economy may require forms of teaching in which students learn to question and critique, as we stress in Chapter 5 on teaching and learning. Professors may assume that a broad range of learning is important, while their students may be motivated more by the desire for access to high-status jobs. So the existence of different traditions and perspectives may generate conflict over what education should be, at the same time that they reinforce the value of schooling.

In this chapter we describe the current state of tertiary education Korea, stressing the rapid growth, the different types of tertiary institutions in Korea, and comparisons with other countries to clarify the ways in which the Korean tertiary education is distinctive — and therefore particularly valuable in a comparative review. We then outline the challenges caused by the rapid expansion of tertiary education, as a way of introducing subsequent chapters.

2.1 The Expansion of Tertiary Institutions

As of 1945 when Korea was liberated from Japanese rule, there was only one national university in the country. Seven national universities were established during the period 1951-53; thus the modern system of universities in Korea is little more than 50 years old. The period of time between 1960 and 1980, under the administration of Park Chung Hee, was largely concerned with economic development and the links of education to economic growth, marked by an emphasis on science and the establishment of vocational schools (now colleges). The real expansion of universities and colleges took place initially during the 1960s, but also during the 1980s when there was a 30% increase in student numbers, and during the 1990s. Legislation passed in 1995 facilitated the establishment of new universities and two-year colleges. (Following the Korean convention, we will simply call these colleges; some of their programmes take three years.) Table 2.1 clarifies how quickly tertiary education grew, in both numbers of

institutions and enrolments: over the 1990-2004 period enrolments more than doubled

Table 2.1 The scale of tertiary education, 1990-2004

Year	Institutions	Students	Faculty	Administrative staff
1990	265	1 691 681	42 911	32 613
1991	273	1 762 154	45 366	33 095
1992	286	1 982 510	48 265	29 896
1993	300	2 099 735	51 277	29 399
1994	310	2 197 842	54 135	28 412
1995	323	2 343 894	58 977	29 975
1996	333	2 541 659	63 809	29 227
1997	344	2 792 410	69 157	30 118
1998	348	2 950 826	54 185	29 960
1999	353	3 154 245	55 718	29 010
2000	353	3 363 549	56 903	29 199
2001	353	3 500 560	58 532	29 466
2002	354	3 577 447	59 750	33 432
2003	356	3 558 11	61 012	35 704
2004	419	3 548 728	66 862	38 547

Source: KEDI, Education Statistics Annual Report.

In addition, the completion rate of secondary school increased, from 46% in 1970 to almost 100% by 1999 (Kim and Lee, 2004, p. 9). Korea has thereby become one of the first countries to have nearly universal completion of secondary education, and this rate of growth was the highest of any of the OECD countries (OECD 2003b, Table A.12, p. 37). Currently, 81% of all secondary school graduates go on to tertiary university, the highest proportion in the world.

Universities, of many kinds, dominate tertiary education in Korea. These provide four-year programmes leading to a baccalaureate degree; a small number of students are enrolled in five-year programmes. The fields of

See especially Trow (1973, 2005) on the development of mass as distinct from elite systems of tertiary education.

study are described in Sections 7 and 8 of Annex 4, which contains a wide range of comparative indicators on tertiary education in Korea. The fields span the usual range of subjects found in other countries, including the engineering and technology-related fields that have contributed to the development of advanced sectors in Korea. As Table 2.2 clarifies, the majority of universities are nominally private, with government-sponsored (national or public) universities enrolling only 22% of university students. National universities receive governmental funding (as Table 2.3 clarifies). are administered by the Ministry of Education and Human Resources Development and in a few cases by other ministries; their presidents are selected by staff and appointed by the President of Korea; and in several ways they are more tightly controlled by MOE. Private universities depend more on tuition fee revenues (see Table 2.4), and their tuition fee levels are typically higher; they are more autonomous, and governed by a corporate board, though they are also subject to a variety of MOE regulations that we describe in Chapter 6. As we will argue later in this chapter, the complexities of funding and regulation make it difficult to separate private and public (both national and other)⁸ universities as strictly as these names imply.

Among universities there is a well-known ranking of the most prestigious universities: nearly everyone in Korea agrees on what the top eight universities are, and one administrator commented that every high school students knows the ranking of the top 50 — surely an exaggeration, but one indicating how important these status rankings are. The competition to get into the "best" universities is correspondingly fierce, and secondary school students typically work an additional four to six hours per day in tutoring schools (if their parents can afford them) to improve their score on the university admission test, the College Scholastic Aptitude Test (or CSAT). With a few exceptions such as Seoul National University, the CSAT apparently counts for 70% of the overall selection for colleges and universities, with the student's high school record contributing only 10%, so it's not surprising that the CSAT and tutoring schools are so important — more important than high school itself.

7

Although strictly speaking those universities administered and funded by other ministries are administered under legislation relating to private universities.

In addition to the national public universities, several metropolitan cities and provinces have established their own institutions.

Table 2.2 Number of institutions and students by institutional control, 2004

Туре	National/	Public	Private		Tot	al
	Institutions	Students	Institutions	Students	Institutions	Students
University	26	397 352	145	1 439 297	171	1 836 649
Junior College	15	38 747	143	858 842	158	897 589
University of Education	11	23 335	-	-	11	23 335
Industrial University	8	86 892	10	102 143	18	189 035
Technical University	-	-	1	196	1	196
Open University	1	290 728	-	-	1	290 728
Cyber University	-	-	17	39 450	17	39 450
Corporate University	-	-	1	62	1	62
Grad School University	-	-	28	276 918	28	276 918
Miscellaneous Schools	-	-	5	1 153	5	1 153
Total	61	921 046	350	2 634 069	411	3 555 115

Source: KEDI.

Table 2.3 Financial structure of national universities

	Per cent of total funds		
Source of funds	2002	2003	
Government (normal accounts: tuition + grants)	61.0	62.1	
Student (student fees + tuition fees)	30.9	30.1	
Misc.	8.1	7.8	
Total	100.0	100.0	

Source: KEDI.

Table 2.4 Financial structure of private four-year universities

	Per cent of total funds				
	2001	2003			
Tuition fees	69.7	69.6	69.0		
Transfers	8.5	8.4	8.8		
Grants	10.3	11.3	11.6		
Government grants	4.5	4.0	3.9		
Supplementary income	2.3	2.7	2.7		
Non-educational income	4.7	4.0	4.0		
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0		

Source: KEDI.

Most universities are comprehensive, providing teaching in a broad range of sciences, social sciences, the humanities, and professional subjects like engineering and business. However, some are limited to technical subjects; for example, the Korea Advanced Institute of Science and Technology (KAIST) and Pohang University of Science and Technology (POSTECH), the latter founded by the Pohang Iron and Steel Company, are high-quality, high status universities largely devoted to engineering subjects. While most universities are under the control of the MOE, other ministries have created universities: KAIST is funded partly by the Ministry of Science and Technology; the Korean University of Technology and Education (KUT) has been funded by the Ministry of Labour (MOL), originally to train teachers for labour market programmes. Particularly with the expansion of universities after 1990, there is room in the system for universities that provide quite different visions of what a university should be; for example, Handong University in Pohang, based on Christian principles, creates small groups of students who work closely with their professors, and uses a great deal of team teaching and project-based learning (including senior-year projects). There is some variety possible in the current system, then, although a dominant complaint is that many universities look alike except for their rankings, that regional universities fail to take advantage of regional differences, and that the university system as a whole provides relatively little choice to students. As a result the diversification and specialization of universities has become one of the goals of government policy.

The second dominant type of institution is the college, which now enrols about 40% of students in tertiary education. Most programmes last two years, though about 10% of students are enrolled in three-year programmes. especially in the sciences, engineering, and other technical fields. As in many other countries (OECD, 2005c), these institutions exist to prepare middle-level manpower and technicians; the fields of study include a range of occupations in engineering, health including nursing, business and law, and education. While colleges are viewed as the locus of vocational education, most of their offerings are in "modern" occupations linked in some way to academic competencies — health occupations, business, technical areas requiring science and math — rather than "traditional" vocational areas rooted in the Industrial Revolution, though colleges do offer programmes for secretaries, auto mechanics, and other traditional vocational subjects.

Compared to the universities, a larger fraction of colleges and college enrolments are in private rather than national institutions. Table 2.2 clarifies. This in turn means that those institutions are more reliant on tuition fees and less on government funding; they also do not receive government funding for research, as some universities do. On the other hand, colleges appear to be more closely related to employers than universities are: it is more common for colleges to set up partnerships with local firms, particular small and medium-size enterprises (SMEs); they often offer customised training, in which firms pay for short-term training adapted or customised to their purposes. It's difficult to ascertain the magnitude of such relationships since, as in many other countries, colleges do not keep systematic records of their transactions with firms, and there are no national figures on the extent of such working relationships. However, they appear to be more extensive in colleges than they are in universities, which apparently don't like the image of providing such training. Potentially, customised training serves both as a connection to local labour markets and as a potential source of revenues.

Some colleges also appear to engage in creative forms of teaching. We heard frequently about the dominance of lecture and information-transfer at universities; one student at a highly-ranked university confessed to being disappointed at finding so little conversation and debate in his classes though why he expected such departure from conventional teaching is unclear, since secondary education is dominated by such approaches. However, some colleges make substantial use of labs and workshops. particularly since most of their programmes are vocational. Colleges also claim that they provide more internships and other forms of work experience than do universities, though the data necessary to confirm this claim are unavailable. At one college we visited, a professor mentioned team-teaching

with industry employees, a practice that would help bridge the divide between "theory" and "practice" — whereas universities were uniformly described as being overly "theoretical" and not concerned enough with practical applications. In general, however, we understand that there is enormous variation among colleges, just as there is enormous variation among universities. In the absence of more careful research, it is impossible to say whether teaching in colleges is more varied and active than it is in universities

Table 2.5 Number of enrolled and graduated students by type of institution and type of degree, 2004

Type of institution		Students			Graduates	
Type of motivation	Bachelor	Master	Doctoral	Bachelor	Master	Doctoral
Junior College	897 589			226 886		
University	1 836 649	221 227	40 463	267 058	63 153	7 995
University of Education	23 335	6 638	0	7 381	1 535	0
Air and Broadcasting University	290 728	664	0	23 547	101	0
Industrial University	189 035	4 671	150	26 221	1 260	0
Technical University	196	-	-	97	-	-
Miscellaneous Junior College	89	-	-	67	-	-
Miscellaneous four- year University	1 064	-	-	263	-	-
Cyber Junior College	2 734	-	-	731	-	-
Cyber four-year University	36 716	-	-	223	-	-
Corporate University	62	-	-	68	-	-
Total	3 278 197	233 200	40 613	552 542	66 049	7 995

Source: KEDI. Education Statistics Database.

In many ways, then, colleges seem more to address many of the complaints that have been made about tertiary education in Korea. However, just as the varieties of universities are dominated by a rigid hierarchy of status, colleges are dominated by their much lower status compared to universities. Repeatedly we heard that students would not consider applying to colleges if they had a chance to attend a university; some companies will not hire from colleges, and one large international firm insisted that it would never hire college graduates because doing so would lower the firm's own status — though why customers would either know or care about the education of employees was unclear. Individuals in national agencies and associated organisations with whom we met rarely discussed colleges. except in direct response to our questions. In addition, as we will examine in greater detail in Chapter 4, university graduates have been taking the jobs that colleges generally prepare their students for, so in some ways colleges are being squeezed out of their major labour markets. The low status of colleges, and the problems in their labour market positions, are among the challenges we address, particularly in Chapter 10 on the creation of a coherent system of tertiary education.

In addition to universities and colleges, there are several other types of tertiary institutions described in all government reports. The 18 industrial universities focus on providing workers with further education, and encouraging collaboration between universities and industries. However, many of them have become much like conventional universities: the distinction between traditional universities and industrial universities has become blurred in terms of the students served and courses offered. The 11 education universities prepare teachers for the elementary-secondary schooling system. There is one corporate university, operated by Samsung, and one technical university, affiliated with Korean Air, which offers programmes in aviation and distribution. In addition, broadcasting, correspondence, and cyber universities exist for distance education. The credit bank system allows individuals to accumulate credits from different institutions, from short and intensive programmes, from independent study and licensing courses. However, we did not visit any of these other types of institutions, and received little information about them; as Table 2.5 clarifies, they account for only 20% of institutions and 23% of enrolments in tertiary education. In addition, the credit bank system granted relatively few associate and baccalaureate degrees, so it too is numerically unimportant (even if it may provide some flexibility). We have therefore concentrated on universities and colleges, the two main types of institutions.

The existing system includes relatively few older students: of all university enrolments only 17% are 25 or older. The practice of lifelong learning (LLL), often mentioned as part of the Education Gospel, has not been particularly active in Korea, partly because of an emphasis on degree programmes rather than shorter courses, partly because the offerings of colleges and universities generally assume full-time participation that is impossible for adults already in employment, and partly because adults over the age of about 35 grew up in a society where post-secondary education was relatively rare. We will return to the subject of LLL in Chapter 10, in considering what a coherent system of tertiary education might look like; for the moment is it sufficient to note that students generally enter tertiary education right after secondary schooling, and that most students in tertiary education are of conventional age.

Finally, there exists a parallel system of licensing required for many occupations. For many of the trades (like electricians, cosmetologists, and auto mechanics), as well as many professions (like law, medicine, teaching, engineering, and architecture), students need to pass licensing examinations before working in that occupation. In most cases students need to complete the degrees given by education institutions, like the associate degrees of colleges and the baccalaureate degrees of universities, before they take licensing examinations; in a few cases individuals may take licensing examinations without a parallel level of formal schooling. In general however, these are parallel systems because educational institutions universities as well as colleges and the new polytechnics sponsored by the MOL — do not prepare students specifically for licensing examinations. Instead students enrol in private tutoring to prepare for these exams, just as secondary school students enrol in private tutoring to prepare for the CSAT. Reportedly, preparation for exams — and particularly for the civil service exam required for government employment — can take a great deal of time during the third and fourth years of universities, or after graduation. This seems to us to be a potential inefficiency in the current system of preparation, and we return to this practice when we discuss the responsiveness of tertiary education to labour market patterns.

2.2 The Funding of Tertiary Education

Korea has managed to increase the scale of tertiary education remarkably, as Table 2.1 clarifies, but even more remarkable is the fact that the country has done so without increasing public funding substantially. National (or public) universities received some government subsidies, as well as research funding, and about 30% of their revenues come from tuition

On the relative lack of adult education and LLL in Korea, see the Korea Country Note (2005d) from the Thematic Review of Adult Learning.

fees. However, private universities derive 69% of their revenues from tuition fees, and only 4% from government grants, as Table 2.4 clarifies.

In general, tuition fees in colleges are about 80% of those in universities. University tuition fees vary by field of study, and are lowest in the humanities and highest in medicine, as Table 2.6 shows. Roughly, tuition fees in private university are about double those in public universities. Within limits, colleges and universities can set their tuition fee levels, so there can be substantial differences between the highest- and lowest-tuition cost institutions, on the order of about 2:1. By way of comparison, the average annual salary in Korea in 2004 was about KRW 21 million, so tuition fees between KRW 4 million and KRW 8 million represent between 19% and 38% of annual salary, a substantial proportion.

Table 2.6 Tuition costs per student, 2004^{1, 2}

			Public	Private
Junior Colleges		Highest	4 062 000	6 128 000
		Lowest	800 000	3 607 000
Universities	Humanities and social sciences	Highest	4 534 700	5 930 000
		Lowest	2 228 700	1 680 000
		Average	2 485 500	5 009 800
	Natural sciences	Highest	5 898 900	7 292 000
		Lowest	2 687 600	3 842 000
		Average	3 093 000	5 996 000
	Engineering	Highest	6 131 700	7 710 000
		Lowest	2 754 000	3 300 000
		Average	3 007 200	6 537 100
	Performing arts	Highest	7 511 300	8 156 000
		Lowest	2 752 000	3 045 000
		Average	3 338 600	6 622 500
	Medicine	Highest	6 776 300	8 964 000
		Lowest	3 657 100	6 832 000
		Average	4 595 300	7 764 800

^{1.} Unit=1 000 KRW per year. 1 000 KRW equals roughly.

Source: KEDL

^{2.} Excludes admission fees which are charges only in the first year of study.

Some students are able to receive tuition waivers or grants to cover their tuition fees. Both needs-based grants, for low-income students otherwise unable to afford tuition, and merit-based grants for high-performing students are available; in a few cases — like KAIST, where 10% of students are on industry-paid scholarships — grants come from employers. However, most grants take the form of fee waivers from individual institutions. In 2004 about 5% of students received grants, including 6% of university students, 3% of college students, 34% of those in colleges of education, and 8% of post-graduate students. It's more common for students to take out loans to fund tuition. About 25% of students in university programmes, and 22% of students in all university and post-graduate programmes, received loans in 2004; the average amount of KRW 2.8 million covered tuition and fees but not living expenses. Given that the average tuition fees in Korean universities range from about KRW 2.3 million to KRW 7.8 million, it seems that loan amounts are inadequate for the highest cost fields of study in private universities.

However, there are several other sources of funding in the existing system, though it becomes difficult to document their magnitude. Some universities have been founded by groups that continue to provide funding. For example, many universities were founded by churches, which provide continuing support; the Pohang University of Science and Technology (POSTECH) was founded by the Pohang Iron and Steel Company (Posco), which continues to subsidise it. Ministries other than MOE provide funding to specific institutions, as the Ministry of Labour does to KUT and the Ministry of Science and Technology does to KAIST, but total government funding through agencies other than MOE is not known. According to one estimate (Yoo, 2001), 70% of government funding comes through MOE, with the remaining 30% from other ministries and from local governments, indicating that MOE funding levels seriously understate total funding. They also seem to be increasing at a high rate, having almost tripled between 1996 and 2001. These other sources of funding, some private and some governmental, vary substantially among universities. Without a more careful accounting of these funds, it's impossible to be sure of how much is spent on tertiary education in Korea.

In addition, expenditures through the tax system support tertiary education, and we suspect that this source of governmental revenue is substantial. Korea has a progressive income tax structure, in which citizens pay taxes based on their incomes, with high-income individuals paying a higher marginal tax rate (up to 35%) compared to lower-income individuals (for whom tax rates start at 10%). Tuition costs for tertiary education are fully deductible, meaning that there is a subsidy through the tax system ranging from nothing, for individuals whose earnings are too low for them

to pay taxes, to 10% for those in the lowest income tax bracket, to 40% for the highest-income individuals. Credit bank programmes and independent study for a qualification are also included in this tax incentive programme. These tax expenditures favour higher-income individuals, and are therefore inequitable; we also suspect that they are inefficient, in the sense that they provide government subsidies for tertiary education to families who would support tertiary education for their children on their own. However, the very existence of these tax expenditures was never once mentioned by education officials; no one has calculated the magnitude of these expenditures, though they could be substantial indeed. At the very least, there should be some public accounting of how much is spent through tax deductions, since these are hidden forms of subsidies that at the very least should be explicitly considered. In addition, the effectiveness of tax expenditures in promoting various social goals is generally unknown.¹⁰ When we examine the prospects for funding various changes in tertiary education in Korea, the moderation or elimination of tax expenditures in favour of public spending that is more efficient and equitable — and that more precisely furthers public rather than private purposes — will be one of the possibilities we suggest.

In addition, firms can deduct the costs of training their employees from the corporate income tax. Such costs appear when firms subsidise their employees to enrol in colleges or universities, when firms provide customised training through colleges, or when firms develop their own training centres including universities. This too is a form of tax expenditure, and again its very existence — along with its magnitude — has not been widely recognised in Korea. While it is quite conventional to allow firms to deduct the costs of training, as one of the usual costs of business, at the very least Korea should recognise how large the government subsidy is. Indeed, in some cases — like co-operative training — there may be tax deductions both for industry and for individuals deducting tuition costs, so the total subsidy may be quite substantial. Under other circumstances Korea might want to redirect these subsidies to other, more targeted purposes.

There is yet another elusive cost that appears to be quite substantial, a cost incurred during secondary education that is nonetheless caused by the competitiveness of university entrance. In secondary schools, the pressures to achieve high scores on the CSAT exam are extraordinarily high, and those parents who can afford to typically spend large sums for after-school tutoring programmes. It is apparently not unusual for middle-income parents

10

An OECD analysis of tax expenditures and lifelong learning concluded that there is limited evidence of any effect of tax policy on any human capital investments (see OECD, 2004c).

to spend 30% of their earnings on tutoring schools for high school students; Choi *et al.* (2003) found that 56% of high school students and 19% of vocational students had private tutoring in 2003, spending an average of KRW 3 586 000 per year — compared to an average annual salary of about KRW 21 million. In effect, such spending from private sources converts what is nominally a public system of secondary education into a public-private mix.

There is apparently a second stage of intensive tutoring before students take the licensing examinations required for a broad range of lower-level occupations (including such occupations as cosmetology, car and truck mechanics) and professional occupations like law, medicine, engineering, teaching, accounting, and many others. These licensing examinations may take place at different points in the educational process: some of them require specific years of formal education before students can take the exams, while others can be taken at any time. As for the CSAT, taking some of these exams involves extensive private tutoring, and again this is sometimes paid by parents. Other than the 2003 study by Choi *et al.* cited above, we saw no estimates of the amounts of private funding for tutoring at any levels of the education system, though this is widely recognised as necessary condition for entry into universities and later into occupations.

Funding patterns in Korea, together with regulatory practices, therefore make it difficult to say whether certain forms of tertiary education are strictly public or strictly private. National universities are the clearest examples of institutions that are governmentally funded and regulated; but tuition fees still account for 30% of their revenues, and the private costs of private tutoring must be considered. Some universities that are nominally private received substantial support from various social groups, such as churches, and from tax expenditures for tuition costs, and they are regulated in various ways — the subject of Chapter 6. There are of course degrees of public and private support that matter a great deal, as the figures in Tables 2.3 and 2.4 indicate, but still the distinctions between the two are not as sharp as categories of institutions might imply.

The governmental accounting for the costs of tertiary education is therefore incomplete, with both private funding (for tutoring and the support of universities) and governmental support (through tax expenditures) missing. When we use these official statistics to compare Korea with other countries, in the next section, we should therefore remember that virtually all official country statistics are incomplete, and therefore the comparisons we can make with these numbers are based at best on incomplete information.

2.3 Comparing Korea with Other OECD Countries¹¹

In comparing Korea with other countries, it is important to remember that the increase in tertiary education has been quite recent — largely since the mid 1980s. Therefore the education levels of the older population are low relative to OECD averages, while the levels of tertiary education for younger cohorts are relatively much higher. In Section 1 of Annex 4 for example, 18% of Koreans 25-64 have university education, below the OECD average, while Section 2 reveals that 26% of those 25-34 have such qualifications, 7% more than the OECD average. The rate of tertiary qualifications in the population age 25-34 has almost doubled between 1991 and 2002 (Section 4), a much greater rate than the growth rate of 40% in OECD countries generally.

Enrolment figures also clarify that Korea lags behind OECD countries in the enrolment of women compared to men (Sections 1 and 17). These patterns are surely linked to the relatively recent emergence of women as employees, since female labour force participation rates in Korea have been comparatively low compared to most OECD countries — a pattern true of many Asian countries.

The enrolment patterns shown in Sections 7 and 8 of Annex 4 show a few marked differences from OECD patterns. At the university level, enrolments in engineering, manufacturing, and construction and in mathematics and physical sciences are particularly high, reflecting a pattern of using university graduates for research and development related to technological developments. However, enrolments in humanities and the arts are also relatively high, perhaps reflecting the continuing Confucian tradition of scholarly study and research. Enrolments in education are low, although the universities include 18 institutions devoted to teacher training. The demographic decline of the school-age population may be responsible, as well as large class sizes and high student-teacher ratios, which mean that Korea needs fewer teachers per student than other countries. Enrolments in social sciences, business, and the law are also relatively low; Korea has not vet followed the U.S. pattern, recently emulated in Europe, of extensive use of business schools and law schools, though there is some recognition that the maturation of Korean corporations may require more attention to these fields in the future

At the college level, again enrolments in engineering and sciences are relatively high, reflecting a commitment to technological development and

¹¹ Here we draw upon the comparative indicators shown in Annex 4. The Sections that we refer to are the Sections of that Annex.

technician training, but humanities and the arts are also high. Enrolments at ISCED level 5B, most of which are in the colleges, are largely in "modern" occupational areas connected to academic subjects (including science) and to technological developments, rather than concentrating on the traditional vocational fields of mechanics and auto repair, secretarial fields, or the crafts; these are still predominantly the domain of secondary vocational programmes.

Sections 9 and 10 reveal the employment benefits for males of increasing levels of education. For women the patterns are more complex: women with lower secondary education only (grades 7-9) more likely to be employed than those with upper secondary or college education, a pattern quite different than in other OECD countries. These figures also reveal that the employment rates for women with tertiary education in Korea are 30-40 percentage points lower than in all OECD countries, except at the lowest levels of schooling.

Section 13 indicates the extraordinarily high rates of enrolment in type 5B programmes, most of which are in colleges, as well as type 5A and 6 programmes, most of which are located in universities. Indeed, participation in 5B programmes is the highest of all OECD countries, a fact that has led us to emphasise the roles of colleges (in Chapters 3 and 10). From Section 14, the demographic decline in the university-aged population would by itself have caused enrolments to fall; but increasing rates of enrolment, 28% higher than the OECD average, are responsible for the overall increase in enrolments. Section 16 further clarifies that this increase has come from "traditional-age" students, 24 years and younger; the rate of enrolment among individuals over 35 is quite low, indicating the lack of any tradition of lifelong learning in Korea.

Sections 11 and 12, on the earnings of graduates from colleges and universities, confirm some puzzles also present in the Korea data from the prior section. While the earnings benefits of university graduation are substantial — 47% for those 25-64, and 42% for those 30-44 who have less experience in labour markets — the earnings advantages for those with 5B qualifications who are in the most part college graduates seem quite small (6% and 13% respectively), near the bottom of the OECD distribution. When we consider the relationship of tertiary education to the labour market, in Chapter 3, we will explicitly try to explain why there appear to be very low earnings benefits for colleges in Korea.

12

Between 1990 and 2000 the university-aged population 20-24 declined by 12.5%, whereas this cohort has continued to increase in many countries.

When we turn to expenditure patterns in Section 24, average expenditures per student in Korea appear to be lower than the OECD average. This may partly reflect the fact that Korea has a somewhat higher proportion of college students compared to university students, and spending per student in colleges is roughly half of what it is in universities (USD 4 295 in colleges versus USD 8 236 in universities). However, Section 26 reveals that expenditures per students relative to GDP are much higher than the OECD average, and indeed Korea is first among these countries in total spending on tertiary education as a fraction of GDP.

Section 27 clarifies an unusual feature of Korean expenditure patterns: governmental spending for tertiary education is quite low, while private spending is relatively high, nearly four times the OECD average. This reflects the pattern of growth since 1980 where tertiary education has expanded by allowing new institutions to open and parents (and other private sources, like churches and corporations) to fund the enormous increase in enrolments without any substantial increase in public funding. This pattern in turn reflects the enormous commitment of parents to the education of their children, again a reflection of both Confucian traditions venerating formal schooling and of the more recent pressures to increase schooling as the only route into decent jobs. There is some sense in Korea that the level of governmental funding in tertiary education is "too low", particularly compared to funding for elementary-secondary education, and that the amounts of private funding are "too high". However, increasing public spending on tertiary education to the OECD average would require almost five times the amount of government revenues. As we explain later in this chapter, we think it unlikely that such increases in government resources will be available given other pressing demands such as meeting the increased costs associated with an ageing population and improving the social safety net. Rather, Korea should consider itself fortunate that parents and other private groups are willing to support tertiary education at such high levels.

Finally, Section 31 reveals another distinctive feature of the Korean system: a strong preference for loans over grants. Grants to households that is, to students and parents — are very small, less than 1% of all public spending, but loans represent 9% of public spending, slightly higher than the OECD average. We will further examine the structure of loans and grants in Chapter 8, when we analyse equity in the system; for now it is sufficient to note the general absence of grants, which in other countries are often used to subsidise the tuition costs of low-income students

On several dimensions, then, Korea provides a pronounced contrast with other OECD countries. It is one of the few countries where graduation from secondary school is virtually universal. The rate of progression into tertiary education, 81% overall, is the highest among all countries, and that figure has grown rapidly since 1990 when it was only 33%; the idea of "tertiary education for all", sometimes articulated as a goal of policy (OECD, 1998), is closer to reality in Korea than in any other country. These increases, all accomplished without substantial increases in public funding, are truly remarkable, and they provide evidence to other countries wanting to expand formal schooling that it can indeed be done, at least in a country with a deep faith in formal schooling. Whether or not it is a desirable objective for other OECD countries to expand their tertiary systems to the same extent as Korea is, of course, a separate issue. Some of the challenges arising from the expansion in Korea are central concerns of this Country Note.

2.4 The Issues Created by Expansion

The extraordinary growth of tertiary education has created a series of challenges¹³ — and there is debate in Korea about which of these are the most important. One way to view the current state of tertiary education in Korea is that the basic building blocks are now in place — the universities, colleges, and other specialised institutions with the capacity to enrol substantial proportions of new generations of students. However, the overall challenge for the next several decades is to take these institutions and form them into a coherent system responsive to the needs of parents and prospective students, to employers, and to the social purposes of education.

We have identified nine challenges in particular, and we devote a chapter to each of them in this Country Note:

- The match with labour markets: While it is often asserted that more individuals need to be schooled to meet the challenges of competition and growth, there is evidence that the rapid expansion of tertiary education has resulted in over-education. In addition, there are substantial complaints, particularly from employers, that the skills of graduates do not match the skills required in the labour force. In Chapter 3 we examine these various charges, and review the potential ways of strengthening connections of tertiary education to labour market requirements.
- Quality: Virtually everyone in Korea agrees that expansion has resulted in lower quality. However, no one agrees how to recognise or measure quality, and therefore there is little agreement what to do about it. Furthermore, the country's Quality Assurance (QA)

13

Some of these challenges, of course, also arise from other factors in addition to expansion.

mechanisms appear relatively weak to us, both at the system level and the institutional level. In Chapter 4 we present a number of alternatives designed to strengthen quality assurance through the use of more flexible and outcome-oriented mechanisms

- The quality of teaching and learning: A somewhat separate dimension of quality involves the nature of teaching. Most of Korean education has been concerned largely with information transfer, and this pedagogical approach is certainly consistent with Confucian thought. But many students appear dissatisfied with the lack of participation and discussion in their classes, and many Koreans have recognised that conventional lecture-dominated teaching is not a good way to prepare entrepreneurs, creative thinkers, or new perspectives on Korea's role in a changing world. The existing efforts to change teaching and learning appear relatively weak and isolated. Chapter 5 examines this particular dimension of quality, and outlines the long-run initiatives that would be necessary to ensure change.
- Governance and regulation: The expansion of Korean education occurred largely through expansion of nominally private institutions, but with relatively tight control from MOE that has created institutions that in some cases have less autonomy and flexibility than they might. In addition to the relationship between MOE and educational institutions, both public and private, the relationships within MOE and among government ministries more generally need to be examined. We conclude the chapter on governance and regulation by noting that a more developmental conception of regulation — one designed to develop the capacities of tertiary institutions, rather than relying on bureaucratic norms to control their actions — probably requires a different approach, and a different type of government agency.
- The role of tertiary education in research and development (R&D): Korea has become concerned with R&D as a way of enhancing technology and competitiveness, and a persistent question is what the role of tertiary institutions in R&D should be. In Chapter 7 we examine where R&D of several kinds is now carried out, and identify the unique roles that universities can and should play.
- Equity in tertiary education: The expansion of tertiary education has taken place with little thought for equity issues, understood in Chapter 8 as equity among social classes (or income groups) and equity between men and women. On the one hand expansion may have enhanced equity, by increasing the opportunities in tertiary

education. On the other hand, the extreme differentiation of tertiary education in Korea, with intense pressure to get into the best universities, has created new forms of inequality. The existing equity mechanisms, particularly the fragmented system of loans, could be improved, and so we propose some alternatives for Korea to consider.

- Regional equity and the domination of Seoul: Equity in Korea also takes the form of a regional imbalance, where most young Koreans seem to want to migrate to Seoul while the government would like to see the population, and employment, more evenly spread throughout the country. This desire has in turn resulted in some education regulations, particularly quotas on tertiary institutions in Seoul, intended to correct this imbalance. But we suggest these are matters for a coherent regional development policy; educational measures by themselves cannot stop the expansion of Seoul, and we suggest in Chapter 8 what alternative measures might be.
- Globalising pressures: Particularly for a country like Korea, operating in an open economy, the transformation of a globalising world and economy have been powerful. However, the implications specifically for tertiary education are not as clear, and we identify a few specific issues in Chapter 9 that might be addressed.
- Creating a system of tertiary education: Because the expansion of tertiary education has happened so quickly, there is now a case for paying increased attention to ways of creating a coherent system of inter-related institutions, as we argue in Chapter 10. After we describe some of the unresolved problems in the current system, we outline several issues for Korea to consider including clarifying the roles of transfers among institutions; the place of colleges within tertiary education; the potential for expanding choice for students; the role of lifelong learning (LLL); and a potential conception of how market mechanisms and non-market regulation might work. We end the chapter by raising the question of what kind of system of tertiary education is desirable for Korea.

Throughout these chapters, we present alternatives for Koreans to consider, rather than (in most cases) making specific recommendations. The details of reform must, we think, be left to Korean educators and policy-makers, though we can provide examples to consider, particularly those with some evidence of working in other countries.

In outlining these alternatives, we have tried to keep in mind some assumptions about the future, and some constraints that we should respect. One is that the desire for tertiary education among parents and children is

unlikely to decrease. If there are too many tertiary institutions, then some should close or consolidate, but any reduction in the absolute number of students must come from the reduction in the size of young cohorts, not in the rates at which they attend schooling. In addition, even while Korea spends relatively little governmental revenue on tertiary education, we think it unrealistic to recommend substantial expansion in government funding. There are too many other requirements for public funds — for health care as the population ages, for early childhood programmes and other efforts to increase the birth rate, for the potential costs if there is reconciliation of North and South Korea — to expect government resources for tertiary education to expand dramatically. Instead the challenge will be to use existing public resources — including those that are little-recognised, like tax expenditures — to further public purposes. And finally, while the growth rates of Seoul might be moderated relative to other areas of the country, it will continue to be the dominant city in Korea for many decades to come; the desires of both firms and students to locate near Seoul will surely continue

To be sure, policy-makers have already recognised many of these challenges, and legislation before the National Assembly at the time of our visit proposed solutions to several of them. However we suspect that a broader range of changes, within a comprehensive framework of changes, will be necessary to address the issues we raise in this Country Note.

Throughout these chapters, a number of challenges emerge repeatedly, and we summarise these common themes in Chapter 11. They include issues like the availability of data and evaluation; the propensity to create many small programmes to respond to problems, rather than engaging in structural change; the culture of status that dominates tertiary education, and what it might take to shift to a culture of quality and performance; the relative roles of market and non-market approaches to tertiary education; the domination of economic concerns related to employment, earnings, status, and competitiveness in the motivation of both parents and students and of policy-makers; and the allocation of scarce governmental resources in the future. Addressing these challenges in consistent ways would also help the resolution of problems we identify in Chapter 3 through 11.

Korea has already made the transition from a relatively elite system of higher education to a mass system (Trow, 1973; Trow, 2005). Along the way it has made secondary education almost universal, and created a vast number of tertiary opportunities for its young people — triumphs of which Koreans should be justly proud. But for the next several decades the challenges are to place an increased emphasis upon quality, to strengthen the internal coherence and linkages within the system, and to develop a more flexible system of markets and regulations. This is, of course, a long-run

process, one that will take two or three decades to develop. But the first step will be to articulate the long-runs goals and the mechanisms for achieving them, and the purpose of this Country Note is to help Korea in this first step.

3. Tertiary Education and the Labour Market: Overeducation, Mismatches, and New Connections

There's little question that the expansion of tertiary education in Korea has been stimulated by economic concerns. Repeatedly we heard of the need for more education to keep pace with competitors, or to maintain technological development. While Confucian values may explain some of the veneration for education, more practical and economic concerns have come to dominate both private and public decisions.

When an education system is converted to economic and employment goals, the conventional assumption is that the dictates of the labour market should guide the development of formal schooling. However, educational institutions, the locus of preparation for occupations, are formally separate from workplaces where employment takes place. Connections between the two must be constructed rather than assumed, and in particular market mechanisms are generally inadequate to create these connections, as we argue in the last section. In addition, educational institutions and faculty have other allegiances — particularly, in Korea, allegiance to the Confucian principles of virtue, civility, and excellence, rather than to "modern" values like developing employment-related skills. And so various kinds of mismatches between the needs of the labour market (or demand) and education within tertiary education (or supply) may develop — particularly. we suspect, during the period of extreme expansion of tertiary education when the need for such connections was generally overlooked.

In general there is a sense in Korea that "the linkage between tertiary education and the labour market is weak", as the Background Report acknowledged. In this chapter we examine several distinct types of mismatches: the pervasive problems of over-education, rather than a shortage of skilled workers; the potential under-supply of trade workers and of individuals prepared to go into so-called "3-D" work (dirty, dangerous, and difficult); the complaints employers have made about the skills of recent graduates; and the overall flexibility of the existing system in responding to changes in employment. The last section clarifies the three generic mechanisms of linking educational institutions and labour markets, suggesting some that have been under-used in Korea.

3.1 The Rhetoric of Under-education and the Reality of Over-education

As in many other countries, policy-makers in Korea have called for expanding education (especially tertiary education) as a way of expanding the economy. For example, the Ministry of Finance has developed figures according to standard growth-accounting measures, in which overall growth rates are decomposed into components accounting for the growth in the quantity and quality of capital, and the quantity and the quality of labour measured by years of education.¹⁴ Unfortunately, growth accounting models conventionally overstate the role of education since it is one of the few factors contributing to growth that can be measured. Microeconomic approaches (e.g., Harberger, 1998; Topel, 1999; Landau, Taylor and Wright, 1996) clarify that there are many factors influencing the growth of industrialised economies. These include: national governance; overall economic and political stability; macroeconomic policies; financial, legal, and corporate institutions (including the structure of large corporations or chaebol in Korea); regulatory policies; and policies for labour, science and technology, and education. In this complex mix education is only one of many factors; it can certainly hamper economic growth if there are serious shortages of skilled workers — that is, if demand conditions are right — but education is unlikely to stimulate growth on its own.

There are many signs that the real problem in Korea is an over-supply of individuals with baccalaureate and possibly associate degrees — indeed, what the Minister of Education and Human Resources Development himself called "a crisis of over-education". Overall, the employment rate of recent university graduates is cited to be only 56%, lower than the employment rate of college graduates of 77%; while there are serious problems with the way

¹⁴

While we have been unable to read technical reports in Korean, an individual from the Ministry of Finance cited growth rates due to human capital factors increasing from 0.78% in 1996-2000 to 1.06% in 2001-2003, while the contribution of physical capital declined from 2.26% to 1.56%. These numbers reflect the decomposition of growth rates according to a growth components model, an approach which ignores the great variety of factors in a micro-economic approach like the one adopted by Landau *et al.* (1996).

The same is true in many developed countries. See the special issue of the Economics of Education Review, Vol. 19 (2000), on over-education in the U.S. and Germany; Grubb and Lazerson (2004, Ch. 7) on the U.S.; Grubb (2004) on England.

this statistic is calculated, ¹⁶ it still indicates a problem with graduates getting the kinds of skilled professional and managerial jobs they expect. In many cases, students have taken "leave of absence" — that is, they take periods off from their studies — rather than enter the labour market as graduates with low probability of success. Furthermore, there is a general consensus that university graduates have taken jobs that were designed for college graduates, sometimes as university graduates simply apply for these lower jobs when they are unable to get better jobs, but sometimes because universities have opened baccalaureate programmes that explicitly compete with college programmes. (For example, we heard of lower-quality universities offering four-year programmes in cosmetology, which are surely jobs that should be filled by college or secondary school graduates.)

Similarly, as college graduates have faced competition from university graduates, they have begun to fill jobs that previously were filled by graduates of secondary vocational schools. Thus the employment rates of college graduates are higher than those of university graduates, but their average earnings (KRW 1 489 000 per month are not much higher than those of high school graduates (KRW 1 456 000 per month). In contrast, those with a bachelor's degree and above earn an average KRW 2 208 000 per month. (Apparently the earnings of those with post-graduate degrees are not much higher than those with bachelor's degrees).¹⁷

16

The unemployment rate should be expressed as a proportion of those actively looking for work at a given time. The official employment rate is based on a census in March of every year, and asks whether individual have certified employment — that is, employment that has been certified by an employer. Individuals who have gone into military service, or who have continued their schooling, or who have uncertified employment, or who have stayed home to care for children are taken out of the sample. In addition, the largest number of graduates complete their education in February, just one month before the census; since it usually takes individuals longer than a month, particularly to find "adult" employment (Klerman and Karoly, 1994), many of those counted as not employed are probably still looking for acceptable employment. For all these reasons the official employment rate is likely to be an under-estimate of the true rate, though it is widely used in Korea to compare institutions. When we recommend using the employment rate in subsequent sections, we refer to using an employment rate calculated by more accurate methods.

The Korean data from the Background Report show no earnings advantage to college graduates, whereas the OECD data show a 13% advantage for younger workers (Annex 4, Section 12). In any event the difference is small, and controlling for other variables — labour market experience, ability, family background, gender — would probably further reduce the differential.

A common statement, then, is that enrolment in college is a route to more stable and higher status employment, but not to higher earnings.

These factors have in turn contributed to intense pressure among students to get into the "best" or highest-status universities — the top eight or so universities out of 171, and certainly not colleges — which they (and corporate representatives) think are more likely to lead to professional and managerial employment. This pressure shows up in private tutoring programmes during secondary schooling to enhance college entrance exam scores, which can take up to five hours of time per day on top of the regular school day, and which can cost parents up to 30% of their earnings. We will return to this topic in Chapter 4, when we examine different conceptions of quality, and distinguish status from quality.

The process of over-education, where university graduates have displaced college graduates and college graduates have displaced secondary school graduates, together with the intense pressure to attend tertiary education, has in turn led to apparent shortages of trade-level workers — the electricians, plumbers, mechanics, and secretaries required for construction. assembly lines, and modern corporations. Although these occupations are supposedly prepared for in vocational secondary schools, these institutions now send 62% of their graduates to tertiary education, up from only 8% in 1990, so they are no longer predominantly "terminal" institutions providing vocational education for the mid-level workforce. While we were usually unable to get precise information about the educational preparation of trade workers, we think that these shortages are sometimes met by importing workers from other countries, sometimes through labour market programmes for the unemployed, and sometimes by using college graduates (an example of over-education). However, there has been little recognition that over-education in tertiary education has been matched by some undereducation for jobs for which secondary schools have traditionally prepared students — for example, construction workers and tradesmen like electricians and plumbers.

The process of over-education is caused by at least two different phenomena. One, of course, is the desire of students and their parents for higher levels of schooling, and schooling of the highest possible reputation, in order to get access to the best jobs. But educational institutions themselves have also been responsible for over-education. When the government allowed the founding of more institutions in the 1990s, enormous numbers of universities were founded, as Table 2.1 shows. And there appears to be pressure by several different education and training institutions to provide higher-level degrees. For example, many non-research universities now provide research-oriented Ph.D.s; universities have been providing programmes that compete directly with vocational

programmes in colleges, thereby escalating the degrees for some jobs from an associate degree to a bachelor's degree; a two-year college we visited wants to become a full university, not because there is a shortage of universities but because none of them focus on vocational fields¹⁸ — a statement that trade workers will then have baccalaureate degrees instead of associate degrees or high school diplomas; the Korean University of Technology and Education (KUT), once an institution to train teachers for labour market programmes, has evolved into a full university; and some of the training centres funded by the MOL to provide short-term training have become polytechnics providing associate degrees. It appears to us, then, that both excessive demand from students and the excessive supply of places in tertiary institutions are contributing to the "crisis" of over-education.

We don't see any ways for the government to reduce the demand among students and parents for more education, nor would that be desirable. However, there could be a policy that constrains institutions from providing degrees at higher and higher levels¹⁹. One approach would be to reduce or eliminate the ability of non-research universities to award higher degrees, to prohibit colleges from granting baccalaureate degrees, and to restrict the further development of universities and colleges (including polytechnics). Alternatively, the government could require institutions to prove unmet demand in the labour market (not just demand from students) before they open new programmes. Finally, the government as a whole could examine the policies whereby several ministries — the MOE, the MOL, the Ministry of Science and Technology — create tertiary institutions independently of one another, again contributing to over-education. And the creation of a clear three-part structure for tertiary education, as we suggest in Chapter 10,

¹⁸

The international comparisons made by this college struck us as inappropriate. They cited the Finnish polytechnics granting baccalaureate degrees, for example, but the magnitude of these institutions is comparatively much smaller, and they exist within a very different degree structure. They also cited the English polytechnics and their conversion to universities, but many observers regard this change as a good example of educational inflation.

This policy would be consistent with establishing government regulations to make the quasi-market in tertiary education more efficient. Over-education involves an externality: one student's decision to get more schooling (or an institution's effort to lure students into higher degree programs) is likely to affect negatively another student's ability to get a job. These competitive labour markets are therefore good examples where decisions that are individually and institutionally rational are socially irrational, and improving this quasi-market requires intervention to limit over-education.

might be helpful both in creating a more transparent system and in reducing the institutional pressures for over-education.

Overall, then, the expansion of tertiary education seems to have outpaced the demand for jobs requiring high levels of schooling. Furthermore, the dominant economic incentives in the current system are to enhance the numbers of those with baccalaureate degrees, while the incentives for completing associate degrees are weak. It seems likely that the Korean system is preparing too few technicians in colleges, while there are too many individuals with baccalaureate degrees who cannot find appropriate employment. And institutional interests contribute to the escalation of degrees and levels of tertiary education.

3.2 Under-education and Post-Graduate Education

A different issue involves the numbers of post-graduate students. Currently the numbers of master's and Ph.D. programmes are severely limited: only 66 049 of all 2004 graduates had earned master's degrees, and only 7 995 had received doctoral degrees, compared to 552 542, or 88% of the total, who won baccalaureate degrees (see Table 2.5). In turn, this issue is linked to the role of education in R&D, the subject of Chapter 7, where a larger number of individuals with post-graduate degrees might expand R&D.

However, it is not clear that there is a shortage of post-graduate degrees, at least not in the economist's sense. There doesn't seem to be any artificial restriction in the number of places for post-graduate education; on the contrary, the dominant complaint is that there are too many places in non-research universities, so that the quality of research training is low even if the quantity is appropriate. Indeed, Kim and Lee (2004) mention a glut of Ph.D.s created by the rapid expansion in the supply of these degrees since the early 1990s. In addition, while the status associated with post-graduate education might be substantial, there are no earnings incentives to extend education past the baccalaureate. If there is any shortage, then, the real solution should come from research-oriented corporations and research institutes increasing salaries to attract more individuals into post-graduate education and research, not to expand supply — a change that would only further depress the earnings associated with post-graduate degrees and make the apparent glut even worse.

conventional economic returns to post-graduate education.

20

Technically, shifting out the supply function along a stationary demand function increases the numbers of those with post-graduate degrees, but at the cost of lowering salaries. A demand-side strategy is necessary if there are to be

A comprehensive national framework for R&D of the sort being developed at the time of our visit might clarify the extent of any shortages, and more specifically the potential of shortages to develop in highly specific fields — bio-technology, for example. Then it would be possible to develop a combination of demand-side and supply-side policies appropriate for preventing any shortages from developing. Without such a framework, increasing the numbers of post-graduate degrees might contribute further to over-education

3.3 The Mismatch of Skills

A second potential problem with labour market connections is revealed in complaints about inadequate skills, even among those who have graduated from universities and colleges. In addition to general concerns about skill shortages in areas of strategic national importance, employers also complain about the lack of appropriate skills among the young people they hire. When we examine the specific skills that they complain about, some should indeed be learned in schools, colleges, and universities; for example, mathematics, understanding of market principles, mastery of English and (for some companies) Chinese are competencies that can be readily learned in formal schooling. Representatives of the Federation of Korean Industries complained about a lack of abilities that have been called in other countries "higher-order", like problem-solving and the ability to perform well in groups. If employers truly need these skills, but educational institutions are failing to teach them, then there must be some information problem: either employers have not made their needs known, or educational institutions have failed to respond, or students have remained ignorant of the importance of these competencies in the work world. The alternatives we present in the final section of this chapter could help remedy these potential weaknesses in connections between schooling and employer demand.

However, in some cases employers complain about a lack of skills that should not and cannot be effectively taught in formal schooling. Officials of the MOE indicated that industry has complained not about a shortage of post-graduate degrees, but about their quality because students are not welltrained in the specific techniques that each firm uses; the complaint was that professors want to advance academic knowledge, while firms want more practical knowledge and need to engage in on-the-job training as a corrective. The Federation of Korean Industries claims that its members have to spend a great deal to retrain university graduates in corporate culture, the need to follow corporate rules, corporate communications patterns and modes of presentation, and rapidly changing technologies used in business. Similarly, a large employer complained about poor

understanding of corporate culture and corporate etiquette among new hires. Some of these "skills" are attitudes and values that are best taught by corporations themselves, both because they are likely to be specific to particular companies, and because tertiary institutions, necessarily removed from the workplace and operating with their own cultures, are not the best places to teach the detailed values and norms of workplaces. In this case, a division of labour is appropriate. Then if employers want to hire graduates with these kinds of specific skills, they should join with educational institutions and provide internships or co-operative education, where students spend some time in structured work activities where they can more readily learn about aspects of corporate culture, appropriate attitudes, and other firm-specific skills. Alternatively, they can teach these competencies in the early months of employment, during a trial or introductory period. But we think it is unreasonable and ineffective to expect tertiary institutions to teach such specific skills.

Yet a third complaint is that a shortage exists of workers willing to do 3-D (dangerous, dirty, and difficult) jobs, which are then filled by foreign workers. For example, one employer complained that graduates of engineering programmes were unhappy working in factory settings. Presumably this has happened because, with 81% of secondary graduates going on to tertiary education to get professional and managerial jobs — that is, white collar jobs with office-like working conditions — there are fewer individuals wanting 3-D work. A conventional response has been to import workers, or to develop labour market programmes to prepare such workers. However, it isn't clear what the causes of such shortages are, and therefore what the remedies should be. If students in mechanical engineering programmes are unaware that their work will require some time in factories and on the assembly line, then the appropriate response is adequate warning of the conditions of such jobs — perhaps by developing internship programmes. If there are genuine shortages because workers don't like 3-D work, then the conventional market solution would be to raise wages and thereby increase the numbers of workers willing to put up with 3-D conditions. Under these circumstances supply-side policies — increasing enrolments in tertiary education and labour market programmes — are likely only to add to the stock of trained workers unwilling to go into 3-D work, and then they may go into jobs requiring lower levels of skills and thereby contribute to the "crisis" of over-education.

21

In economics there is a convention that formal schooling should teach relatively general skills, while firms themselves ought to teach firm-specific skills; this usually relies on Becker's (1964) analysis. Corporate culture and etiquette are good examples of firm-specific skills.

A different type of mismatch involves the overall flexibility of tertiary education in response to labour market changes. To the extent that an education system is intended to prepare workers, then enrolment patterns should change as occupational patterns change. This is particularly important in countries like Korea, with open economies subject to variation in international trade, and to countries trying to complete by developing new technologies. However, in Korea the flexibility and responsiveness of tertiary education has been limited by funding allocations based on an extrapolation of historical demand patterns in the context of a quota system, which establishes limits on enrolments in the Seoul area, as well as limiting enrolments in the fields of medicine and teacher education. The most obvious evidence of this is the stability in enrolment patterns in universities over the past ten years, even as demand in certain sectors (like health and engineering) has been increasing.

While the MOE claims to be developing a new forecasting system to help higher education institutions develop their student enrolment profiles. we are unsure that this will fix the current problem²². Instead, when we return in Chapter 6 to the regulation of tertiary education, we will recommend that Korea consider regulating the scale and shape of the education system (school vs. college vs. university) at which different occupational preparation takes place, in order to reduce over-education.

In summary, complaints about the mismatches of skills are quite varied in their origin and in their solutions. Some seem to arise from student misunderstanding of what jobs require, and then the solution is better information to students. Some arise from educational institutions having rigid staffing structures and being resistant to change and, particularly, failing to recognise the competencies required in modern work, and the solution is for employers and education providers to confer about the requirements of modern work. Sometimes the solution should come from employers themselves, developing certain skills on their own, or creating internships and other forms of work-based learning. In some cases, like shortages of workers in unpleasant jobs, the real solution should come from the demand side and increasing wages. And more might be done through incentives that encourage responsiveness circumstances on the part of higher education institutions. Like many other

²²

As best we could understand, the new approach is a manpower forecasting model, attempting to forecast the demand by fields of study. However, manpower forecasting in developed economies has been widely discredited because of its inaccuracy. This is particularly likely to be true in an open economy like Korea's and during a volatile period of time when the emergence of other economies — China and India in particular — makes forecasting especially risky.

issues in Korean education, the problem of mismatches is not a single issue, but a series of somewhat different issues requiring different solutions.

3.4 Strengthening Labour Market Connections

Once preparation for employment is located in educational institutions, necessarily removed from workplaces, then some mechanisms need to be created to make sure that educational preparation and employment requirements do not diverge too sharply. Korea is now taking several steps to improve the connections of tertiary institutions to labour markets. Short-term measures include more internships, greater participation of industry in organizing educational programmes, enhancing collaboration between universities and industry, and expanding short-term vocational training through the unemployment insurance system and private corporation. Over the long run MOE is apparently developing an index of work performance skills that employers can use. These measures are too recent to understand their effectiveness, though we are doubtful about the usefulness of short-term training because such efforts have been almost universally unsuccessful (Ryan, 2001; Grubb and Ryan, 1999).

In general, there are three ways of strengthening connections between education and employment. The first is to inform students about the labour market, the kinds of jobs available, and the forms of educational preparation for all these jobs. Adequate student information might, for example, reduce the problem of students in engineering who don't understand that they will work in factories, or students entering the corporate sector who don't understand the importance of languages. More generally, we understand from tertiary educators that many secondary school students are unprepared to make well-informed decisions about the field of study they want to enter in either college or university. Once enrolled, notwithstanding the promising *hakbu* initiative to enable students to defer study concentration, there can be problems in n changing fields of study, and these students often continue in occupational areas which they dislike, or for which they lack some intrinsic competencies.

There is general agreement in Korea that career guidance and labour market information in secondary education is not particularly strong, with

Within a hakbu, students can choose any field of study before they declare their major at the end of second year in Colleges and Universities.

Students normally have to reapply to be admitted into a different field of study. This is an institutional practice, potentially changeable, that contributes to the rigidity of the education system.

weak staffing levels and limited training. In addition, an OECD review of career guidance policies in Korea (OECD, 2002) found that school counsellors, when dealing with university and college entry decisions, concentrate largely upon school marks, and pay little or no attention to students' long-term career aspirations. In addition, there are few opportunities for students to experience the world of work, or to come into contact with tertiary institutions, to help their decision making. One option, therefore, is for Korea to strengthen career guidance in secondary schools, particularly by following the models suggested by the OECD review as being particularly effective. We have been particularly impressed with the former Careers Service in England, and by current arrangements in Scotland and Wales, in which a free-standing service focuses on career-related guidance and counselling, without being distracted by the other types of guidance that also takes place in educational institutions. Germany provides a similar example, with a free-standing careers service located within the public employment service that works closely with schools. This option need not be particularly expensive, and it would fit with an overall goal (articulated in Chapter 6) of making the quasi-markets in tertiary education operate more effectively.²⁵

Another option is to make transfers among fields of study, and among universities and colleges, more flexible. This would allow students who realise they are in the wrong field of study to change, both reducing these kinds of mismatches and potentially allow greater responsiveness to changing labour markets patterns. The Hakbu system is a promising initiative in this regard.

A second generic way of connecting educational institutions to labour markets includes a great variety of co-operative arrangement between universities and corporations. Currently Korea appears to have a large number of such efforts; every college and university we visited mentioned some employer connections, ranging from joint teaching to internships to customised training for company employees; and the MOE has funded an

²⁵

Throughout this note, we refer to market-like mechanisms and quasi-markets because tertiary education cannot and should not be allocated through a true market, in our view. Although there are "prices" in the form of tuition fees, parents in Korea are apparently quite insensitive to variation in prices, and there is quality competition but not price competition; equilibrium via price (tuition fees) mechanisms is undesirable and inequitable. The "products" and their quality are too variable and unpredictable, partly because they manifest themselves in the future and vary with the characteristics of students; and the externalities associated with education are too numerous, including those associated with public purposes and those that lead to over-education.

office of university-industry relationships in each university. Some universities have "joint degree programmes", where professors work in industry research institutes, and professors and students alike can participate in industry research. These are all steps in the right direction.

One potentially important connection, given complaints that university graduates lack some skills needed in industry (including some firm-specific skills) is the creation of internships and other formats where students learn partly on the job, with university-based learning and firm-based learning somehow co-ordinated. Many (perhaps most) universities have such programmes, but the numbers of students enrolled in them is unknown. One university complained that MOE restrictions on enrolments made it difficult to increase internships, and also noted that not enough companies were willing to provide internships. Many countries have wanted to emulate the German system of apprenticeships and work-based learning, but have been unable to do so because of a weak willingness to participate among firms, a lack of any tradition of tripartite planning necessary to create high-quality internships, and educational cultures hostile to corporate participation. Such partnerships have the potential for reducing mismatches between universities and corporations, but Korea should recognise the need for systematic and long-run efforts in taking this approach.

Overall, then, the large number of efforts at creating universitycorporate partnerships has not worked well, for some familiar reasons. Traditional university values are not always consistent with entrepreneurial activities: professors have few incentives to be involved in partnerships. partly because the ownership of innovations is unclear; and large corporations with their own research facilities do not need to participate with universities. In addition, there seems to have been little evaluation of these partnerships, so there is little information about which of them are more likely to succeed. We can only suggest: that greater flexibility and autonomy of universities, reviewed in Chapter 6, might help create better local partnerships; that MOE should evaluate the variety of partnerships more carefully, to determine which of them are likely to be effective and which should be abandoned: and that strengthening the roles of universities in basic (rather than applied) research and preparing future researchers are themselves powerful ways of combining the self-interest of universities and the self-interest of employers.

In addition, we detected a kind of stand-off between universities and corporations. The human resource staff of a large corporation complained about the skills of recent graduates, and did note a few corporationuniversity programmes to provide mentors to students and sessions on subjects like problem-solving, the need for foreign languages and presentation skills (like PowerPoint). But the company was not actively

trying to work with universities despite their dissatisfaction with graduates. and there seemed to be no forum in which university and corporate representatives could exchange their views freely. We are unclear whether there are issues of protocol that prevent such exchanges, or barriers of custom, or lack of interest on the part of either corporations or universities. It's possible that this is a relationship where MOE could use its convening power — its ability to bring together stakeholders over areas of mutual interest — to start discussions that corporations and universities are unable to begin on their own. But until such discussions become routine, one of the most promising ways of linking universities to labour markets will remain weak

A third way to connect educational institutions and labour markets is through credentials and qualifications, which include not only the degrees awarded by colleges and universities but also the parallel licenses required in Korea to enter certain professions and trades. When qualifications work well, they co-ordinate the demands of employers, the expectations of students, and the offerings of education institutions: employers can specify the competencies they require for employment; educational institutions can prepare students with these competencies (or with the general competencies best taught in formal schooling); and students know what competencies they are expected to master in their schooling in order to become employable. Perhaps the best examples of such qualifications exist in Germany, Austria, and Denmark, where tripartite planning councils — including employer representatives, trade unions and governments — jointly plan licensing exams. But if the interests of any of these three stakeholders are missing from the planning process, then qualifications may not operate to coordinate the expectations of all participants, and something is likely to go wrong.²⁶

From what we can tell, the development of licensing exams in Korea is more likely to adhere to this tripartite model, while the development of education credentials is determined almost entirely by the faculty in universities and colleges — the problem, common in many countries, of supply-driven degrees. The alternative would be to make greater use of tripartite planning mechanisms in setting the standards and the requirements for all college and university degrees. For example, colleges would use local

²⁶

For example, England has generated a vast number of qualifications (NVQs, GNVQs, foundation degrees) in an attempt to create order from the chaos of its prior system; but since it has failed to include employers in designing these new qualifications, employers have not used many of them and they lack any labour market return (Grubb, 2004). In effect, England has no theory of qualifications to guide its actions, and the result has been only to add to the chaos.

employers and employee or professional associations to help set standards and graduation requirements; regional universities would rely on regional advisory broads, and national universities would use national representatives of employers and professional associations.

In the further development of degrees and licensing, a national qualifications framework might be helpful in Korea. These frameworks establish uniform expectations for the duration and content of various degree programmes, and can also specify the process by which degree requirements are developed. Korea also has what is in effect a framework, requiring two to three years for an associate degree, and four to five years for a baccalaureate, though there is some variation among institutions in which fields require a longer period of time. However, degrees can be further distinguished in terms of the knowledge and skills required; for example, in the Australian Qualifications Framework (www.aqf.wdu.au) an associate degree is expected to include the fundamental underpinnings of one or more disciplines, including understanding and interpretation of key concepts and theories, and the development of skills in comprehending and evaluating information from a range of sources; this operates to prevent the associate degree from being only practice-oriented. A bachelor's degree should lead to the acquisition of a systematic and coherent body of knowledge, and to the skills needed to undertake research, involving studies in a field in which a significant literature is available. A qualifications framework like this might help enhance the quality of some tertiary programmes in Korea. Such a framework could also be useful in avoiding qualifications inflation and over-education; for example, the Australian definitions of degrees would clearly prevent universities from offering baccalaureate programmes (like cosmetology) that should really be associate degree or high school programmes.

A second option is to eliminate the parallel system of licensing exams, or to incorporate such exams into the graduation requirements for degrees. (Indeed, several of the universities that we visited require students to pass licensing exams before they receive a degree, and such universities appear to offer courses specifically designed to facilitate passing licensing exams.) Whether combining the degree and the licensing systems is feasible in all occupational areas is, of course, something for Koreans themselves to explore. But a broad qualifications framework might integrate the current dual system, which strikes us as inefficient in the sense that students need to learn in two different ways (in educational institutions and in tutoring programmes) in order to enter occupations, as well as being potentially inequitable if the costs of tutoring programmes are high. And the effort to bring more stakeholders into the development of qualifications might eliminate some of the mismatches now present in tertiary education.

4. The Elusiveness of Quality in Tertiary Education

There is a general consensus in Korea that the quality of tertiary education has suffered with its substantial expansion during the 1980s and 1990s. However, there is apparently no agreement on the meaning of quality, or how to measure quality, or which dimensions of quality have suffered. There are conceptions seemingly related to quality that have pervasive effects — for example, the status rankings of universities and the frantic efforts to get into the "best" universities — that we suspect are not closely related to other dimensions of quality, such as the richness of learning experiences that develop personal and work-related skills and values. In several other countries, the desired outcomes of higher education are described in national qualifications frameworks, and reference is made to these intentions in the design and evaluation of curricula. Despite the concern about quality, the quality assurance (QA) mechanisms²⁷ in Korea seem weak — the efforts of the OA agencies are process-oriented, and well developed QA mechanisms do not seem to function uniformly at the institutional level, in individual colleges and universities. In this chapter, we first clarify the many meanings of quality in the Korea system, then examine what is currently being done to enhance quality, and finally suggest some alternatives for Korea to consider

4.1 The Varied Conceptions of Quality

When educators, policy-makers, and employers complained about low quality, we invariably asked them to be more precise about what they meant by quality. The answers were instructive but extremely varied:

Many observers have complained about the student-teacher ratio, which has increased substantially as the number of students

²⁷ We use the European term "quality assurance" to refer to institutionalised efforts to maintain and improve quality; see Kis (2004) for a review of OECD practices. We understand that the term "university evaluation" may be more common in Korea.

increased without expanding expenditure or staff numbers to the same extent. Over the 1970-2004 period, the student-teacher ratio went from 24 to 76 in colleges, and from 22 to 39 in universities, all compared to the OECD average of 17:1. This measurement of quality is related to conceptions of teaching (in Chapter 5), since many observers think that larger classes reduce the quality of teaching. However, in a system dominated by information transfer and lecture, it probably makes little difference whether there are 30 students in a class or 300. Only when teaching shifts to other forms of pedagogy does the student-teacher ratio matter.

- There's been an increase in the proportion of part-time faculty, in both colleges and universities. In colleges this proportion has increased from 57% in 1995 to 66% in 2004; in universities the increase has been from 47% to 55%. In general this trend has been intended to reduce costs,28 though the higher proportion in colleges than universities may be due to the tendency to hire part-time individuals from industry with more extensive experience and useful knowledge in vocational programmes. There hasn't been much attention to this trend, but often part-time faculty are less available to students and participate less in the intellectual life of an institution so this like the declining student-teacher ratio might be a cause for concern. On the other hand part-time faculty may also be more experienced in the 'real world' and have a more realistic view of useful knowledge.
- With the growth in student enrolments there has been an increasing diversification of the student body, including those drawn from the vocational high school system. Hence, there is wider variation in the readiness of students for academic study and a consequential need for greater variety in ways of teaching in order to promote effective learning. As growth in the size of the student population stabilises, the opportunity arises for giving greater attention to improving the quality of teaching and learning.
- There are general complaints about low levels of academic achievement among students. These complaints (particularly among professors) are both about the quality of entering students and about the accomplishments of students while in university; the latter problem may be linked to a widespread perception that tertiary

28

Part-time teachers are also much more likely to be female than are full-time teachers, and if women are paid less than men this is another way of reducing costs.

students do not work particularly hard. There has been some discussion of introducing a SAT-like exam to reduce the problems of under-prepared students, but this seems like a puzzling and ineffective response: the CSAT now is intended to do this, and certainly the amount of tutoring for the CSAT could not possibly be increased because of a different exam.

- The World Competitiveness Yearbook ranked Korea 59th of 60 countries in its tertiary education system, whereas overall Korea ranked 29th of 60 - suggesting that tertiary education is detracting from Korea's competitiveness.
- All universities and colleges have systems where students rate the quality of courses they take, and these are widely mentioned as indicators of quality. Student rating systems, when appropriately constructed, can certainly be useful; however, there are also wellknown problem with student ratings, particularly the ways they are influence by irrelevant factors like the ease of grading, the joviality of the teacher, and sometimes his or her looks (Gray and Bergman. 2003). Therefore using student ratings as the only indicator of teaching quality seems unwise. In addition, we could not determine that these ratings influence anything — neither faculty promotions, nor attempts to improve teaching, nor rankings of universities and colleges. In the absence of any actions taken on the basis of student rankings, we consider these largely symbolic efforts in institutional OA systems. Overall, student feedback measures are not formalised and the results are not systematically built into performance-based funding or other OA mechanisms.
- Most educators in Korea believe that the completion rates of colleges and universities are quite high, close to 100%. But we are not so sure: there are no national figures on completion rates, and the figures on enrolments suggest that completion rate of the class entering universities in 1999 was about 77%, and that this rate has been falling.²⁹ In addition, stop-out rates, or students taking leaves of absence, have been increasing, and some of these students may

29

For example, there were 244 852 university graduates in 2002, compared to 319 278 new enrolments four years earlier, suggesting a completion rate of 77%; the comparable rate for those entering in 1994 was 83%, suggesting that completion rates fell over this period. Unfortunately, this is an extremely crude way to measure completion rates, and if students take longer to complete university courses than four years it may not be valid. However, in the absence of longitudinal data these are the only estimates available.

not return to their studies; this also suggests that completion rates have been falling. It's reasonable to think that completion rates vary among institutions and fields of study, but such information is also unavailable

- There's a great reliance on the employment rates of college and university graduates. This is an outcome measure, to be sure, connected to employment goals, though we note (footnote 16) that it is inaccurately measured. In former periods, quality might be measured by the expertise of professors, but occupational concerns and employment have become more important.
- As in all countries, measures of research are used to denote quality — both the amount of research grants and the numbers of papers written by faculty, arguably as a measure of scholarly expertise. These measures are surely relevant to post-graduate students engaged in research training, but not necessarily to undergraduate students.
- One government official said simply that "Seoul National University isn't Harvard", meaning that the reputation of Korea's highest-ranking university is not equivalent to the world's highest-ranking university. This is, of course, an extraordinarily high standard of comparison; but as an indicator of quality it seems to refer to an institution with prominent research, world-class graduate schools, and substantial undergraduate programmes, a comprehensive university that is quite different from the government's suggestions for universities to specialise. This conception of quality is also related to goals of having 15 "world-class" universities within the next decade or two
- Several students noted that the most important people in Korea have graduated from the top three universities, from which they have inferred that these are the highest-quality institutions. But this is part of the reliance on a system of status that does not necessarily reflect quality. There is, to be sure, a self-justifying cycle at work here: (1) high status institutions attract the top-performing students; (2) top students add to the learning of others via their standards of performance; (3) high-status employers are attracted to the graduates of institutions that admit from the elite applicant pool; (4) more highly talented students express preferences for institutions whose graduates find the best jobs. But the perpetuation of a system of high status universities may mean only that the selection mechanisms work well.

- We are unconvinced that the highest-status universities are the highest-quality universities, thinking of quality in the value-added sense of how much students learn. The amount of work that students do in many universities is quite low, and indeed there is a prevailing complaint that university students, after the pressures of college entrance exams, don't work very hard. Teaching seems to be dominated by information transfer; and in many (but not all) universities learning seems to be limited to classroom teaching. rather than extending to a broader variety of experiences including internships, study terms abroad, and the like. There are no measures of learning we could find, not even at the institutional level, so there is no way for students to judge the quality of institutions except by status rankings. Some education officials acknowledged that there is substantial discontent with the elite universities, a sense that their claims to status may be undeserved because quality of practice is not demonstrable.
- Status rankings seem to apply to entire universities, not to particular departments. It's reasonable to think that departments within universities vary in their quality, but there is no systematic ways for students to learn about such variation
- As in many countries, there are complaints from industry about the quality of graduates (as we documented in Chapter 3), and complaints among professors about the quality of students entering tertiary education despite the enormous efforts made to score well on the CSAT
- As is true in most countries, colleges have much lower status than universities. Sometimes students choose to enrol in college because they prefer to go into employment quickly, but to a great extent the students who enrol in colleges are those whose CSAT scores are not high enough for universities. However, in some respects colleges may be of higher quality than universities: some of them have a variety of teaching methods, including team-teaching, project-based learning, and workshops. Again, status is not the same as quality.
- Because most Koreans seem to want to live in Seoul, the status of institutions in Seoul is higher than those in the rest of the country. This is, of course, part of the larger problem of regional differentials, which we examine in Chapter 8. However, a common complaint is that the attractiveness of institutions outside of Seoul is low, and many of them have a hard time filling their quotas of students

It's possible that institutional data is better than national data; for example the employment statistics of Ansan College indicate the number of graduates from each department who are employed in a job related to their major, in an unrelated job, and not employed — though many of the latter group are "preparing for employment", presumably by studying for licensing exams. The college's employment rates for 2004 graduates range from 94% in nursing — a high-demand field in many countries — to 31% in radiological technology; for those employed, the proportion in related employment ranged from 100% in clinical pathology and radiological technology to 9% in internet information systems. These figures provide better information than national averages do on several employment outcomes, not just for the entire institution but for specific departments.

Overall, then, there are many different conceptions of quality. Some of them refer to input measures, like staff-student ratios and the quality of incoming students; some refer to outputs, like employment rates (properly calculated, one hopes) and the skills of recent graduates; others are related to research; many statements reflect a conventional status ranking, though its relationship to any other measures of quality is unknown. There's every reason to be concerned that the expansion of tertiary education, as well as other recent changes, taken together have caused a drop in quality, but exactly what quality means remains unclear. Certainly, in considering quality there needs to be greater attention given to quality in teaching and learning and research outcomes, as well as to inputs and to output indicators.

4.2 National Mechanisms of Quality Assurance

At the national level, quality assurance in Korea relies largely on accrediting mechanisms, where different institutions are accredited or evaluated by one of several agencies: the Korean Council for University Education (KCUE), the Korean Council for College Education (KCCE), the Korean Education Development Institute (KEDI), the Accreditation Board for Medical Education in Korea (ABMEK), the Accreditation Board for Engineering Education in Korea (ABEEK), and the Accreditation Board for Nursing Education in Korea (ABNEK). Accreditation procedures vary among these different agencies. For example, university accreditation by KCUE is voluntary, and it is unclear what advantage there is (if any) to being accredited. Institutions wanting to have their academic programmes accredited go through a self-evaluation; then there is a peer review based on site visits of two to three days, with a point system used for various criteria (e.g., management and finance, vision and strategy, research and industryacademic co-operation, and the like). Then a programme is judged to be accredited or not accredited, though the results of more detailed judgements

are given to university administrators rather than being made public. In this process, there are minimal roles for students and external stakeholders. A uniform standard is applied to all institutions, regardless of their mission or institutional type (criticised as "one size fits all").

There have been many criticisms of the existing "system" of OA. One is simply that a large number of agencies are involved in accreditation, without a coherent framework. Another is that accreditation, which is largely voluntary, lacks any legal status, and is often seen as a compliance exercises rather than a crucial method of improving quality — a problem with all forms of OA (Kis. 2004). A third is that the results are not particularly transparent, and provide the public — especially prospective students and employers — with no real information about the quality of institutions or of the individual departments in them. As part of this critique, employers noted that the process of peer review involves professors judging institutions, and they are unlikely to know much about links to employers and the community. As no institution has ever lost its accreditation, there is no demonstration to the public of the application of quality standards. Finally, as the accreditation agencies are all linked in some way to different sectors of tertiary education — to universities, colleges, medical schools, and so on — there is the risk of compromising the independence of quality evaluation and reporting.

In addition, there is one private and unofficial form of "quality assurance": the JoongAng Daily publishes an annual ranking of universities and colleges, following the kinds of procedures developed by U.S. News and World Report for American universities. These procedures have been widely criticised in the U.S. for their lack of both validity and reliability, and they have enabled universities to "game" the system by exaggerating the numbers that affect the final rankings. On the whole, we think that the idea of allowing quality to be measured and publicised by a private newspaper is not a sound approach to QA.

In response to various criticisms, legislation that would authorise an independent accrediting body has been proposed, though this failed to pass in November 2005. The failure may stem from several kinds of opposition: doubt that a government agency could be truly independent; a sense that OA would not be necessary if the market were allowed to work; and the perception that the alternative proposed in legislation would not have any clear advantages over existing arrangements. The National Assembly asked MOE to refine the bill, so the idea of revising current accreditation procedures was still alive at the time of writing. In the concluding section of this chapter we will offer some alternatives to consider.

4.3 Institutional Mechanisms of Quality Assurance

An alternative to national accreditation is for individual institutions to develop their own OA mechanisms. Indeed, there is an enormous variety of institution-specific efforts to enhance quality. The top research institutions we visited tend to hire professors with foreign (especially U.S. and British) Ph.D.s, and require publication for promotion, in order to enhance the research they undertake. Individual institutions have undertaken many small efforts to improve quality, though these seem uneven and idiosyncratic. Some universities have developed their own systems of what are in effect department-specific standards; for example, Korea University has developed a system where individual departments specify a range of courses that students should take before graduation, along with internships and other experiences appropriate to different departments. Ansan College and several other colleges have used a form of job analysis to create their curricula with the help of industry representatives; job analysis involves specifying the various skills required in particular jobs, and then making sure they are taught appropriately.³⁰ And a number of institutions have developed teaching and learning centres to help staff to improve the quality of their teaching, as we note in the next chapter.

These institutional mechanisms of QA seem highly variable and idiosyncratic. The only mechanism of QA that seems relatively universal is student evaluation of courses and teacher performance. However, students themselves think this is merely a compliance exercise, most institutions do not appear to use the results for any form of improvement, and student evaluations are in any event subject to many different types of misperceptions (Gray and Bergman, 2003). Overall, institutional approaches to QA seem to vary substantially. A major concern is that this variation in method masks variability in Korean standards of performance, and obscures the need to make improvements in particular areas.

4.4 Alternative Approaches to Quality Assurance

The development of QA mechanisms has been a difficult and contentious issue in many countries, even those with longer histories of such

(as in Australia and England). See Achtenhagen and Grubb (2001) for some of these issues.

While job analysis and methods like DACUM may be an advantage over a curriculum developed with no reference to job requirements, task analysis has also been strongly criticised for ignoring the conceptual understanding necessary for expert work, and qualifications based on job analysis have been widely critiqued

efforts (Kis. 2004). However, we think it crucial for Korea to confront the need for OA since we do not think that the quasi-market in tertiary education can take care of quality through student and employer decisions. Basic information about quality is now lacking and the incentives for improvement are therefore weak, especially in a system where the demand for tertiary education is so strong. So market forces are by themselves inadequate to enhance quality, particularly in a system where there is so much variation

Several priorities should govern the establishment of a national OA framework. The first of these is that OA should become a mechanism of enhancing quality, rather than simply forcing compliance with bureaucratic requirements and allowing institutions to "game" the system or misstate their quality. This is consistent with the notion of developmental regulation (see Chapter 6), and requires that a QA agency be able to provide some forms of help — advice and technical assistance certainly, and sometimes short-term funding — for institutions with inadequate levels of quality so that they can improve rather than simply try to avoid punishment. Developing the right culture around OA in turn requires establishing trust between OA institutions and colleges and universities in place of punitive or controlling attitudes on the part of OA mechanisms.

A second priority would be to develop a comprehensive framework covering all institutions. The many ministries that now are responsible for colleges and universities — MOE, MOL, the Ministry of Science and Technology — should agree on conceptions and indicators of quality so that the development of tertiary institutions can be co-ordinated and uniform particularly since the institutions sponsored by different ministries are now competing against one another. A comprehensive framework could then specify some elements — for example, certain data requirements and institutional OA mechanisms — applicable to all institutions, while allowing specialised requirements for certain types of institutions (like engineering schools now accredited by ABEEK and medical schools accredited by AMBEK). Korea, then, along with most other advanced nations, would have in place a national commitment to quality improvement influencing the entire tertiary education system.

We think the idea of establishing a single independent OA agency, as in recent legislation, is a good idea, so that OA is not viewed as being subservient to the institutions it regulates. This in turn requires that such an agency receive stable long-term funding and its board of governors or directors include a variety of stakeholders including representatives of faculty, of students, of industry, of professional associations, and of community interests — a broader array than is now represented in accrediting associations. In addition, its staff must be viewed as

independent, competent, and experienced in the various aspects of tertiary education, rather than being individuals with general-purpose training in government and public policy like many government staff now are. We do not know quite how to overcome the suspicions that such an agency can never be independent of government, but this should be one of the goals of any legislation, and the suggestions that we have made above on the composition of the board of directors and on funding should help. And establishing a single agency would help correct the current situation in which a variety of uncoordinated institutions are responsible for OA.

A national QA framework and agency could then include at least five elements. One is the specification of accrediting methods, including standards for self-assessment, for different levels of review (self-review, peer review, and external review), for publicising the results of accreditation so that this mechanism becomes transparent, for specifying issues on which institutions seeking accreditation should improve, and finally for developing a follow-up mechanism to measure progress on enhancing quality³¹. Korea might want to go beyond accreditation — a simple yes/no decision about whether institutions pass certain minimum requirements — to a more complex system of assessment, in which the agency makes graduated judgments (like rankings or groups of institutions of similar quality) about the varying quality of institutions, as JoongAng Daily now does in its rankings. However, such an assessment system is more complex and subject to "gaming" than is simple accreditation, and might be developed over the longer run. It would help for the legal status of accreditation to be clarified: for example, unaccredited institutions might be ineligible to grant degrees or to accept students with loans. Certain other forms of public control could be included in accrediting mechanisms; for example, the criteria necessary for institutions to grant associate, bachelor's, master's and doctoral degrees partly to prevent educational inflation and over-education, as we outlined in Chapter 3 — could be part of accreditation. Finally, in order to promote accreditation as a form of improving educational institutions rather than them. accreditation reports should alwavs include recommendations and options for change.

Second, a national QA framework could specify the elements of institutional QA mechanisms. The specific policies would then be developed by individual institutions, but they could be subject to periodic audits by the national agency. This would at a minimum suggest the kinds of activities

countries with longer histories of OA.

Many of the suggestions in this section follow an excellent review of QA practices in OECD countries by Kis (2004). The development of a detailed QA framework would benefit greatly from examining some of the successes and failures in other

that all tertiary institutions should undertake, in place of the current situation where institutional practices to improve quality are so varied.

Third, the national agency could develop data requirements for measures of quality, in the hope of generating information that would be useful to prospective students, employers, and other stakeholders. These might include both input measures like faculty-student ratios and the proportion of part-time faculty, and outcome measures like completion rates, employment rates (accurately measured), earnings patterns, rates of passing licensing exams, and other measures of learning and employment, specific to fields of study (rather than institution-wide) so that variation within as well as among institutions could be better understood

Fourth, the national agency could develop procedures that, in place of the current "one size fits all" approach, concentrate monitoring and improvement efforts on those institutions most in need of improving their quality. This might mean, for example, a system of priorities where institutions considered to be of lower quality are first in accreditation procedures, or a system where some institutions are monitored more frequently than others.

Finally, as education and research become global, quality assurance procedures could be developed so that they can be understood and approved by international partners. There is a great deal of international debate on QA and its procedures, and its emphases change very quickly. It is important for the development of Korean higher education that such international debate and standards be monitored, with increasing interaction with international developments at all levels of OA, in part to be part of discussion about good practice. The inclusion of international experts and international benchmarks might be considered over the long run, particularly if Korea aspires to develop a number of "world-class" universities.

If Korea adopted a national framework for quality assurance, including the requirement for colleges and universities to collect appropriate data, that might either eliminate some of the low-quality private institutions or cause them to improve their quality. Similarly, if there are institutions that are inefficient because they are operating below capacity, then widespread understanding of variation in tuition costs might allow students to avoid high-cost, inefficient and ineffective institutions, and might then cause some institutions with excess capacity to consolidate. In essence, an appropriate OA framework would provide the incentives for institutions to behave in optimal ways, and this seems preferable to us — and more consistent with developmental approaches to regulation — than legislation being considered that would require consolidation, a form of regulation that would involve the government in constant battle with private universities.

5. The Quality of Teaching and Learning

Another dimension of quality in tertiary education is the nature of teaching and learning. As in many countries and especially Asian countries. teaching in Korea is dominated by the pedagogy of information transfer the transfer of information and procedural knowledge from teacher to student, largely through reading, lecture, drill and practice, and other conventional classroom methods. This approach to teaching and learning is also consistent with the Confucian tradition, of learning from a master. Information transfer is often thought to be an efficient way of mastering a body of knowledge, but it may not foster independent thought, creative and flexible thinking, or critical perspectives.

However dominant this approach to teaching may be, especially in tertiary education, 32 there are other approaches that instead stress the student's interpretation (or "construction") of knowledge including the construction of mental models; that recognise the importance of the student participating actively in making sense or meaning of what he or she is learning, and emphasise more conversation and interaction in the classroom rather than one-way lecture; that engage in more experiential learning, from classroom projects, science labs or vocational workshops, out-of-school experiences like internships and other work placements; and that try to build on students' interests, prior experiences, and prior cognitive development in reaching more sophisticated levels of understanding. This approach to teaching is more varied in the techniques it uses, and the teacher must master a range of pedagogical strategies in addition to disciplinary or vocational content — and probably also what has been called "pedagogical content knowledge", the application of different pedagogies to specific areas of study, since constructivist practices in literature and in math, and in

³²

In many countries early childhood programs, and sometimes early elementary programs, are dominated by conceptions of developing the whole child and of experiential education, some coming from Swiss educators like Froebel and Pestalozzi. The upper levels of tertiary education are less likely to be influenced by these early childhood traditions.

history, and in nursing and in business are surely different from one another.³³

In Korea, as in many other countries, the search for alternative ways of teaching and learning have come in part from a recognition that knowledgeable but uncreative individuals — "company men" and docile citizens — are not necessarily the kinds of creative and entrepreneurial people that the country needs. As the president of a prominent university described the problem to us, the world is changing so rapidly that students must be ready for changes and thinking creatively, not merely accumulating knowledge from the past. Sometimes these complaints come from corporations; for example, various representatives of industry stressed the need for problem-solving abilities, the ability to communicate in various forums, and teamwork and co-operative approaches. And so the issue of changing the nature of teaching and learning, in order to foster greater flexibility and creativity, is one of the issues facing Korea, even though it seems to be less widely debated than the concerns about quality raised in Chapter 4.

5.1 The Current Efforts to Improve Teaching and Learning

There's widespread agreement that secondary schools teach largely through information transfer. One student expressed disappointed when he did not find more discussion in his university classrooms, and papers in which students are allowed to develop their own perspectives, since he had expected that the university would be less rigid than his tightly-controlled secondary classes. (It's unclear to us where these expectations came; they might be more accurately described as hopes without foundation.) The system of private tutoring reinforces the method of information transfer since tutoring is largely confined to memorizing the facts and the procedures that are on the CSAT exam.

When students have been taught predominantly in ways related to simple information transfer, then they themselves can become obstacles to different approaches to teaching. Several professors said that many students coming to the university seem "shy", intimidated, fearful of being thought dumb, unwilling to participate in class discussions;³⁴ but our interpretation is

See, for example, Shulman (1987), on the need for teachers to have content knowledge, general pedagogical knowledge, and pedagogical content knowledge.

Similarly, the rapporteur gave a lecture at Korean University, and was unable to get any students to ask questions and make comments despite inviting them to do so persistently.

that they have not been "taught" or socialised to participate in their elementary and second classrooms. Indeed, under these conditions students may come to interpret learning as mastery of facts and procedures, and may resist or fail to participate in forms of learning — based on discussion, interpretation, articulating and defending individual viewpoints — that don't appear to be "learning" as they understand it. If students see their education in instrumental and vocational terms — simply as routes into the best jobs they can get — then they are also likely to focus on narrow and expeditious forms of learning; several students noted that after the fiscal crisis of 1997. when unemployment rates more than tripled, students cared more about going to university to get jobs, rather than about the content and challenge.³⁵ Such passive roles for students are also consistent with the much older Confucian tradition, as well as with information transfer. While we did not hear much from policy-makers and administrators about the ways students participate in the continuation of passive learning — we suspect that this part of the problem merits further examination.

With some important exceptions, universities also appear to be dominated by information transfer. Faculty members are generally experts in their disciplines; unlike elementary and secondary teachers, they have no preparation in pedagogical approaches. The students we interviewed confirmed the domination of lecture and the lack of student participation. including discussion. The increase in the student-teacher ratio means that many more classes are likely to be large lecture classes.

The dominant way of evaluating the quality of teaching in Korea is the system of student evaluation of courses and performance evaluation of teaching staff. Repeatedly, in response to questions about quality assurance mechanisms, we were told about this method of judging teaching quality. However, we were also told that, while students' evaluations might affect the status of part-time teachers, they do not affect the hiring or promotion of full-time professors, because the student evaluations are not part of what is primarily a quantitative approach to the performance evaluation of teachers; indeed, several professors said that they were never given their student evaluations. Notwithstanding the inherent limitations of student feedback, we think that the evaluation of teaching performance in Korea needs to be improved; the focus of the current approach is on how much teaching gets done rather than how good the teaching is and how well the students are

learning. See Cox (2004) for the U.S. and the many comments in England about "new students" with practical and utilitarian attitudes.

³⁵ There's evidence in other countries of students, and especially working-class students, with overly instrumental, vocationalist, and passive approaches to

learning. Some indicators of teaching quality, including student feedback, ought to be included in future performance appraisal.

To be sure, there are centres for teaching and learning on many campuses, though we were unable to determine how prevalent these are. Those that we saw seemed to consist of one or two people who help professors with such issues as using multi-media and other technology (particularly for older professors unfamiliar with such technology), and delivering effective lectures; for example they may videotape professors in their classes to give them feedback. However, the subjects covered in these centres seem to have little to do with pedagogical alternatives like the greater use of discussion and seminar formats, questioning techniques (even in large lectures), the potential of problem- and project-based learning, the roles of labs and workshops (for sciences, social sciences, and occupational subjects in particular). No doubt the topics incorporated into these teaching centres vary substantially, but we suspect that most of them are related to different forms of information transfer, rather than providing university teachers with a broader range of pedagogies.

In some universities faculty senates have asserted that faculty should move away from lecture-intensive methods, and indeed some universities have created seminars to do just that. By and large, however, faculty groups are concerned more with budget and salary issues, buildings and facilities, and governance issues including university autonomy, so their attention to pedagogical issues is limited.

In addition, the university system in Korea is large enough so that there are some powerful exceptions. Handong University in Pohang is funded by a number of Christian churches, and it has adopted a form of teaching that is quite different from information transfer, with team teaching, project-based learning, and students working in groups. However, while Handong Universities has tried to promote its methods in other universities, it seems to be an exception to general patterns.

It is possible that colleges are more successful in their teaching approaches than are universities. In general, colleges place greater emphasis on teaching rather than research. The one two-year college we visited, Ansan College, stresses a series of vocational programmes including health programmes, business, IT fields, design and animation, and family-related programmes (like early childhood education, food and nutrition, and family welfare). All of these have labs or workshops or "hands-on" or project-based learning, in addition to classroom teaching. Many of them use team teaching, where a teacher from the college and one from workplaces teach together. Many students take some kind of internships or work placement; some departments like nursing and health care require internships for

graduation, and in business about 80% of students get them. Employment in the summer between the first and second years also seems common. The administrators in this college were also more comfortable discussing a range of teaching methods. In several ways, then, this college provides a greater variety of educational experiences, compared to universities dominated by classroom learning.

However, there is substantial variation among colleges in the nature of teaching and the connections to the local community, so it is possible that the teaching approaches at Ansan College are unusual (just as teaching methods at Handong University are quite different from most universities). Only much more detailed research, including direct observation of teaching. could provide enough information about teaching practices throughout Korea to know whether the interesting approaches we saw at Ansan at typical or not.

5.2 The Challenges in Changing Approaches to Teaching

From the experiences of other countries, changing teaching methods is quite challenging, especially at the university level where professors are committed to their disciplines and the challenge of "coverage" — or covering all the material thought important to their discipline — leads to a search for efficient techniques. Short and infrequent efforts to change teaching — for example, the kinds of short demonstrations that centres for teaching and learning may develop — are unlikely to work; sustained efforts, with constant feedback to teachers trying to change their teaching, are necessary (Little, 2005). Changes are certainly possible, but they would require that centres for teaching and learning on all campuses emphasise different approaches to teaching — rather than topics like how to organise lectures, worthwhile as those might be — and work with all faculty (particularly new faculty and part-time faculty) in sustained ways. Other approaches — for example, national discussions among universities and colleges about teaching methods, and more research on the effects of different pedagogies as part of a greater attention to evaluation in general (raised in Chapter 11) — would help make the issue of teaching methods more familiar than it now is.

However, it might be difficult to change teaching methods only in universities. If elementary and secondary schools teach predominantly in conventional ways, then students entering university will not be prepared to be taught in quite different ways. If tertiary entrance requirements, as expressed in the CSAT, emphasise factual recall and simple mathematical or scientific procedures, then students will assume that this is what universities want, and tutorial sessions will reinforce this perspective. (Similarly, since

the CSAT seems to stress a narrow set of subjects, changing secondary teaching may require changing the structure of the CSAT.) Changing teaching methods in tertiary education would be much easier, then, if there were simultaneous steps to modify elementary and secondary education. This in turn might change the approaches of teaching universities, as well, so that elementary and secondary teachers are prepared to teach in a greater variety of ways. But conversely, it might be difficult to change teaching, at least at the secondary level, if university entrance standards continue to be dominated by factual recall and procedural knowledge. This is an area where practices in parts of the entire education system reinforce practices in other parts, and it may therefore be necessary to change all institutions in the system at roughly the same time.

However, we stress that — difficult through changing teaching may seem — there are already practices in Korea to build upon. There are already universities and colleges that use more varied, more conceptual, and more experiential methods, and can help spread these practices to other institutions. There is already a network of centres to improve teaching and learning, and they can be used to focus more explicitly on methods of teaching than is now the case. And, above all, there has been an articulation, from corporations and educators alike, of the need for individuals who are more flexible, more creative, more innovative and adventuresome in their thinking than Korea's system now encourages. Changes in approaches to teaching and learning are one powerful way to accomplish this national goal.

6. Governance and Regulation

As the tertiary education system in Korea has expanded, largely in private universities and colleges, the issues of governance and regulation have become more complex. This is, more than any other area, the issue that involves the balance of public and private control, the extent of government influence versus market mechanisms. The issues of governance and regulation take several specific forms, which we address in subsections of this chapter. It seemed to us that Korea has developed a top-down system of control of universities and colleges, and that, despite efforts to accommodate differences among institutions, this tends on the whole to limit opportunities for flexibility and innovation in private and national/public institutions. There are alternative forms of regulation that we suggest might do more to develop the capacities of tertiary institutions; we favour a developmental approach to regulation rather than a compliance approach, one that can steer market-like mechanisms in tertiary education to work well rather than constraining them.

In addition to examining the relationship between government and tertiary institutions in this chapter, we raise issues about the structure of the national government itself and the various ministries that influence tertiary education. Many of the reforms that policy-makers want to pursue would be, we suspect, more effective if there were different structures within the MOE and more co-ordination and communication among ministries.

Market-like mechanisms inevitably dominate tertiary education in Korea. The great majority of institutions are private; students choose institutions and institutions choose students in a market-like system where supply and demand are powerful forces; and many funding policies that exist — for example, the relatively small amount of governmental revenue in the system, the dominance of loans that enhance student/consumer choice — also enhance a market-like system rather than replacing it with a more fully public system, as exists in some European countries (the Scandinavian countries, Germany and Austria, for example). There is, then, no choice in the near future about having a tertiary education system dominated by market-like forces; the only question is whether government works to enhance the positive elements of markets, or whether it limits the operation of markets in detrimental ways.

6.1 The Current Forms of Governmental Control

As we documented in Chapter 2, the current tertiary system is dominated by private universities and colleges, which were allowed to expand substantially during the 1980s and 1990s. However, the MOE has regulated private institutions in a variety of ways. One form includes the "three nots" policy, designed to promote equity and fairness: universities cannot give their own entrance exams; they cannot prefer some high schools over others, even though there are substantial differences; and they cannot admit students on the basis of their parents' monetary contributions to the institution. In practice, these policies limit institutions in developing their own admissions procedures, and we heard several complaints from private universities about the restrictive impact of the "three nots". A number of institutions indicated that they wish to be more able to differentiate their offerings and attract the best students from the talent pools that are most suited to those offerings. Some were concerned that student choice is being overly distorted by the pressures to get into the highest-status universities. Over-reliance on a single, national admissions test, in a status-driven culture, not only places disproportionate burdens on the lives of young people during their formative years, but it also distorts the distribution of talent within the society and across the labour market. Some students end up taking courses for which they have little interest or aptitude, while others who have the potential to excel in their careers start off too often. regrettably, with a sense of failure. If instead universities and colleges could control their own admissions policies, then they might develop specialties that would give prospective students more options from which to choose. However, we caution against eliminating the "three nots" and other forms of regulation too quickly, without putting in place other mechanisms to enhance transparency and improve the governance of higher education.

In addition, the MOE has a system of quotas on enrolments for those universities and colleges within the Seoul area. This is intended to redistribute the student population to outlying areas, but what it has done in practice is to make enrolments sticky — rather than responsive to changing labour market conditions³⁶ — and it has intensified the competition for places in Seoul. As we argue more fully in Chapter 8, education policy by

36

For example, 40% of university enrolments in 1990 were in natural science and engineering, and 42% in 2004; in medical fields the proportions were 4% and 4%, despite increasing needs for health care in an ageing population; the fraction in the social sciences stayed constant at 28% in 1990 and 27% in 2004. Enrolments in colleges over this period show a decrease in natural science and engineering, from 54% to 46%, and a corresponding increase in arts and athletics, from 9% to 16%. These patterns do not follow either labour market demand or national priorities.

itself is unlikely to contribute much to the distribution of employment and population within Korea, so these quotas may cause more problems than they are worth. There are other problems that enrolment quotas might help solve. like the pressures for over-education and institutional "poaching" that we identified in Chapter 3, but we are unsure that the goal of balancing Seoul with other regions is now being well-served through quotas that restrict the supply of places artificially.

Many other regulations still existing, even after an easing of regulations after the 1990s. The government has introduced limits on student-teacher ratios, with different ratios by field of study. Brain Korea 21 (BK21), a national programme to enhance research universities and support postbaccalaureate students, required participating institutions to reduce the number of students in order to focus their efforts on research. Institutions are also concerned that they will lose research support from government if their tuition fee increases exceed 10% per year. Other regulations govern the length and terms of educational programmes, the types of studies offered, the conditions for re-admission, limitations on the ratio of day and night students, regulations for transfer programmes and the conferring of degrees. restricting research funds to experimental fields, the procedures for appointing professors and visiting professors, and reporting requirements. While the most persistent complaints are reserved for the "three nots", other restrictions exist as well

We believe that more needs to be done to ensure the conditions necessary for market-like mechanisms to operate effectively. For example, information about prices are crucial for students/consumers to make rational decisions in markets; yet information about the level of tuition fees in universities is not publicly disseminated by the public agencies that collect the information. Since the JoongAng Daily has collected this information and publishes it annually, this restriction is now irrelevant, and MOE should now publish accurate information about tuition fees and other costs regularly. In addition, there are many other kinds of information that students could use to make rational decisions; information requirements like accurate employment rates by field, earnings of graduates, rates of completion, and the results of institutional quality assurance mechanisms would help the market work as it should. Such information by field would also allow students to judge the quality of specific departments, rather than assuming that all departments within a high-status university are of high quality. This might in turn cause students to prefer departments in a wider variety of institutions, and in both colleges and universities, rather than concentrating them in the highest-status universities.

To be sure, certain problems in the private sector require regulation. In particular, there seem to have been cases of fraud and embezzlement, for example in institutions founded by individuals whose boards were composed largely of family members, who then extracted revenues from the institutions in illegal ways. However, the need to monitor some institutions carefully should not become a rationale for regulating all institutions uniformly. Instead a system of more flexible and developmental regulation (or "soft-touch" regulation³⁷) might rely on institutional self-assessments and QA mechanisms, with the goal of enhancing the quality of educational institutions. The MOE would then establish criteria for these assessments and for data to be collected and disseminated, but it would confine its regulatory efforts to those institutions and issues that are particularly troubling.

In effect, we are proposing a multi-stage conception of regulation, operating more as developmental regulation than as conventional control. The stages can be seen as the following sequence:

- An initial stage would foster improved quality by requiring that institutions develop their own quality assurance mechanisms, subject only to auditing by the government to be sure that institutions are transparent.
- Another stage would enhance the transparency of tertiary institutions by developing and publicizing information about tuition fees, performance, outcomes, and the like, enabling students to make better decisions among the many institutions and their departments.
- In place of the current quota system, which limits flexibility and responsiveness, a different quota system is necessary to limit institutional over-education, by allowing different types of institutions research universities, educational universities, colleges, and other training programmes to give only certain degrees. For example, some degrees might be limited only to institutions that undertake related research, and some vocational subjects might be limited to either secondary schools or colleges. Such practices need to be tied to the introduction of a qualifications framework, so that the institutions are required to demonstrate that

educational challenges, rather than imposing requirements to make sure that institutions do what they should. Policy, including governmental expenditures for facilities and technical assistance, are then designed to enhance this competence.

An earlier OECD report on early childhood programmes (OECD, 2001) referred to a Finnish "soft touch" approach to regulation, and this proved to be an accurate description of its regulation of all education (Grubb *et al.*, 2005). Finland relies on the competence of municipalities and educational institutions to respond to educational challenges, rather than imposing requirements to make sure that

- the degrees of different types that they offer master's, bachelor's, associate degrees – meet certain objective criteria...
- Other controls would be imposed only when these other kinds of regulations have failed. For example, tuition fee constraints might be imposed only with evidence of unwarranted tuition fee levels: consolidation of institutions would be required only with better evidence of institutional over-capacity harming student interests. These controls would then be applied by exception — that is, to specific institutions that appear to be violating acceptable practice — in place of the current "one size fits all" approach that restricts both high-quality and low-quality institutions alike.

This kind of developmental regulation would require the MOE to engage in certain kinds of new activities — specifying the data that would be truly useful to inform students and to monitor (but not control) quality, specifying the procedures for self-assessment and then discussing potential problems with individual institutions, and creating a qualifications framework to outlines requirements for different levels of qualifications and therefore would require a transformation of how the MOE operates, as we conclude in the last section of this chapter. But it would enable institutions to operate more flexibly and cause the market-like choices of students to regulate the quasi-market in tertiary education, rather than assuming that the MOE can or should regulate institutions directly.

6.2 The Issues of Institutional Governance

At the same time that private institutions have been regulated, national universities have been controlled in other ways. In particular, these public institutions are part of the Ministry of Education and Human Resources Development, which means that the head of a national university's administration is an employee of the Ministry rather than the university. In effect there are divided lines of responsibility. In contrast private universities and colleges have their own boards, which determine the overall priorities of the institutions and choose their presidents. In addition, both KAIST (funded by the Ministry of Science and Technology) and the Korea University of Technology and Education (75% funded by the MOL) have their own boards and greater institutional autonomy than the national universities that are controlled by the MOE. These are good examples showing that a publicly-funded university need not be publicly-operated. and can develop innovative approaches to teaching and learning under selfgovernance.

There has been a movement toward institutional autonomy for national universities. We think this is the right direction to take, and the benefits to public universities should be substantial including the BK21 initiatives, the R&D budget, greater responsiveness to industry and the community, and the possibility of greater differentiation and specialization of institutions. We should note that the transition to greater institutional autonomy will probably take a good deal of time, and the MOE may need to provide transitional support in the process. But the results should be stronger institutions able to pursue distinctive strategic directions and collaborate more fully on the international stage, and a more diverse and responsive higher education system for Korea.

Under a developmental or 'soft touch' approach to regulation we have outlined, tertiary institutions would be responsible for developing better data systems, for developing their own quality assurance mechanisms, and for carrying out the institutional self-assessments to report developments to prospective students, the public, and the MOE. In some ways these are more demanding than the reporting requirements universities and colleges now face. But they would be oriented more toward improving quality than to constraining behaviour, more to informing the market than to following MOE rules.

6.3 The Internal Governance of the Ministry of Education and Human Resources Development

While the country visit did not spend a great deal of time examining the structure of the MOE, there appears to be a great deal of fragmentation within the Ministry and its policies:

- There are eight different student loan programmes, varying in which government agency sponsors them, who is eligible, and what the repayment conditions and interest rates are;
- There are many sources of research funds;
- A number of small projects have tried to link both colleges and universities with local communities:
- A large number of efforts have tried to strengthen regional universities and make them the centres of regional innovation;
- There have been many education reforms started by the MOE, at least one in most years and two in some year; we do not, however, have any information about how well these reforms worked;

- There appear to be many separate divisions within MOE the Background Report describes 12 major divisions for tertiary education alone. This sometimes works to limit possibilities: for example, the divisions concerned with tertiary education are separate from the Lifelong Education Policy Division, and the use of tertiary institutions for LLL — for example, by opening up colleges to older students and encouraging more flexible schedules - may therefore be more difficult; and
- There is a committee that tries to co-ordinate the activities of various divisions, but often such committees are relatively weak because the divisions they are supposed to co-ordinate have more power and resist co-ordination.

Overall, we suspect that consolidation in several forms might be appropriate: consolidation of loan programmes, consolidation of grant programmes, and consolidation of divisions within MOE.

6.4 Consistency and Communication among Ministries

In addition to problems in communication within MOE, we suspect that there are similar problems among different Ministries with interests in common. For example, the MOL has supported the Korean University of Technology and Education, initially to provide teachers for labour market programmes but increasingly to provide conventional baccalaureate degrees. KUT has developed some interesting approaches to teaching, particularly project-based approaches to supplement textbook training, team teaching, well-equipped labs where students conduct experiments, simulations, a sixweek senior project to invent a creative object, that might also be marketable, a requirement to take at least six (of 150) credits in on-the-job training, and another to take courses in teaching methods — a remnant of the days when most students went to teach in training centres. In addition, students are able to change their direction within KUT, particularly away from preparation for teacher training (since demand is dwindling due to the demographic decline) toward corporate work, a good example of such flexibility. Other universities might benefit from understanding these teaching approaches — but there currently seem to be no mechanisms for exchanging information among MOE universities and the MOL university.

At the same time, the development of a new university at public expense, with three quarters of its revenues from MOL, seems unwarranted when many people think there are too many universities in Korea. There's another curious development illustrated by KUT: Originally it was intended to provide teachers for short-term labour market programmes located in

50 training centres, but some of these are being converted to 23 polytechnic universities granting associate degrees, and competing directly with colleges operated under the MOE. Because of MOL subsidy, the tuition fees in the polytechnics are roughly half of those in private colleges, providing them with a competitive advantage. The rationale for the polytechnics is that there is need for more vocational education to combat a shortage of craft skills; in addition, the polytechnics reportedly provide more experience-based teaching methods while colleges are more focused on theory — replicating the familiar divide between theory and practice (rather than trying to bridge this divide by co-operation between MOE and MOL). But vocational education is currently being provided by colleges as well as some universities that have "invaded" the vocational territory of colleges. The lack of a substantial earnings advantage for associate degrees suggest that there isn't a shortage of vocational education. Instead, we interpret the expansion of polytechnics, as well as the development of KUT itself, as examples of "institutional drift", where institutions with a clear but limited purpose become general-purpose educational institutions in order to enhance their own stature. Again, in a country where there are too many tertiary institutions, it seems perverse for new government-sponsored institutions to be developed and then compete with existing institutions.

Similarly, the Ministry of Science and Technology has supported KAIST, which is one of the best-regarded universities in the country, and which might be able to inform other universities about best practices in technological education; joint action between MOE and the Ministry of Science and Technology could achieve this. One factor contributing to the proliferation of tertiary education and the "crisis" of over-education, then, is that individual ministries seem to be able to develop their own education systems, rather than having an overall national plan for tertiary education.

In some cases the lack of communication among ministries may hamper the ability to develop coherent policies. One clear example is the effort to redistribute population and employment away from Seoul. This is an effort that can only be successful by first enhancing economic development in regions outside of Seoul, for example by inducing firms to locate in other regions, or building on natural advantages of areas outside Seoul. In the first instance this requires policies from the Ministry of Industry and others with responsibility for regional development; if employment in a region accelerates, then there may be a role for MOE to expand tertiary education in that region so skill shortages do not develop. This kind of policy requires ministries responsible for economic development to co-ordinate their policies and their efforts to target particular regions for development, and then to alert the MOE to potential emerging demand. The Ministry of Industry chairs the President's Commission on Balanced Economic

Development, which is intended to co-ordinate all ministries related to regional development. However, we did not get the sense that this coordination effort has been successful as it might have in clarifying the roles of different ministries (including Education) in such a policy. On the contrary, the MOE began the New University Regional Innovation (NURI) project in 2003, to promote innovation in local regions through regional universities; but although this effort could have included representatives from other ministries, apparently it did not. There have been only a few examples around the world where universities on their own stimulated regional growth, 38 and in the case of Korea — where an enormous amount of population and employment are already located in and near Seoul — we doubt that efforts by MOE alone can accomplish this.

Similarly, as we argue in greater detail in Chapter 7, the role of universities in research and development cannot be carefully planned without considering the much greater amount of research that takes place in corporations and research institutes, which are funded by other Ministries. Similarly, MOE cannot say how much is being spent in total on tertiary education since it doesn't know the magnitude of tax expenditures, which presumably should be calculated by the Ministry of Finance; determining the resources available for tertiary education therefore requires co-operation among Ministries. In general, then, there are many issues that might require special co-ordination councils such as that developed for regional development. The government might consider establishing regular procedures for identifying the issues that require such efforts so that they can take place quickly and effortlessly.

6.5 Developmental Conceptions of Regulation

In this chapter we have advocated a "soft touch" and developmental approach to regulation. The developmental approach is intended to help develop the capacities of colleges and universities to enhance quality, to respond to the demands of students and labour markets, to enhance flexibility and variety rather than uniformity, and to rely more on efforts to improve the quasi-market in tertiary education. It operates more by setting certain requirements intended to generate institutional improvements — for data collection, for quality assurance mechanisms, for institutional selfassessments, for a qualifications framework — rather than controls that limit

successful.

³⁸ One of the most spectacular examples was the development of Silicon Valley near Stanford University, in California. This single example then created a rush for other universities to establish research centres, but most of these have not been

what tertiary institutions can do. It would rely on much more extensive discussion and consultation between MOE and tertiary institutions, rather than top-down regulation. In the same ways, it would encourage more communication and consultation among agencies within MOE, and between MOE and other government ministries, particularly where there are issues that are larger than tertiary education.

A more developmental conception of regulation implies more technical assistance to universities and colleges, helping them (particularly in the initial stages) comply with new information and quality requirements. This in turn requires that the individuals who carry out this policy have real expertise and experience in tertiary education, rather than backgrounds in general governance and policy that now dominates hiring within government.

One option would be for MOE to hire different kinds of individuals, particularly those with distinguished records in governance, research, and teaching within colleges and universities. Another would be to institute a set of annual review meetings with each institution, as occurs in Norway, in which performance goals and targets are set, and progress towards these is reviewed. Another option would be to develop a new administrative structure, called something like the Korean Council for Tertiary Education, to carry out the advisory and consultative roles of government. The Council itself would, for example, include more stakeholders — representatives of colleges and universities, representatives of students, employers both large and small, representatives of other ministries and other social goals (like R&D and regional diversification). Its staff would include individuals with substantive expertise in different aspect of tertiary education, able to consult with institutions, to amass information about practices in different institutions, to identify innovative and effective practices and then to provide technical assistance to other institutions. The staff would also include data and evaluation specialists, to enhance the information available about quality and effectiveness (a point to which we return in Chapter 11). This Council would among other functions, assume responsibility for the annual performance reviews that we have proposed.

A new administrative structure would replace several functions of the MOE, rather than adding administrative units. What we think it might promote is (1) a clearer vision for the development of tertiary education that diversification, requiring reduced micro-regulation Government; (2) improved co-ordination across government ministries; (3) stronger connections with the labour market, in turn requiring better information for students; and (4) improved quality of education, this including clear expectations of degree standards. A broad advisory council could help advance all four of these. So the Council could develop the

framework for a social compact that defines the mission of different institutions and sets their performance expectations. MOE would have financing and accountability reporting roles (including reporting on measures to reduce regulatory impediments). The quid pro quo is that MOE would relax its regulatory requirements, except for institutions that are of concern. These kinds of administrative and cultural changes, are, we believe, important as part of a new developmental approach to regulating the system.

7. The Roles of Tertiary Education in Research and **Development**

Korea faces the need to enhance its research and development (R&D) activities. Its current economic positions have been created in part through the export of goods relying on technological innovation, in consumer goods. electronics, and automobiles, and it needs to maintain its competitive advantage; it wants to develop its expertise in emerging technologies. In this effort, it faces competitions from other fast-developing countries, especially China and India, as well as from other developed countries trying to maintain their own advantages through R&D.

The question we address in this chapter is what role universities in particular should serve in advancing R&D in Korea. After briefly summarizing the current state of R&D and the production of post-graduate degrees in the first section, we outline some potential directions in the second section

R&D in Korea is usually conceived as science-based or technologicallyoriented; these are the examples that are most frequently mentioned, and only 12% of university research funding is in the humanities and social sciences. However, we will note in the conclusion that Korea lacks comprehensive research about tertiary education, and the evaluation of existing programmes is quite limited. We have, of course, no idea about the extent to which the lack of research is true in other areas of social policy or economic development. However, it's possible that Korean growth in the future will take place not only because of technological advancements, but also because of advancements in other areas of national policy including education policy, through reorganization of firms and other social institutions, and through other innovations that have little to do with technology. From the broad perspective of micro growth theories like that of Landau, Taylor, and Wright (1996), there are many areas other than technological innovation responsible for growth; and from the more specific perspective of the policies that have generated growth in Japan and the Asian Tigers, government management of the economy has been as important as technological advancement. In this chapter, therefore, we use

"R&D" in a broad sense of the term, including not only science-based R&D but also other forms based more on social sciences.

7.1 The Current State of R&D in Korea

In terms of the volume of overall R&D, Korean universities play a relatively small role. About 76% of overall spending on R&D is carried out by corporations; 14% is carried out by research institutes; and only 10% is done in universities, a proportion that has increased only slightly over the past decade, from about 7% in 1993. Given the prominent role of firms in R&D in Korea, it is unlikely in the foreseeable future that universities will become the major players — particularly since a great deal of current R&D funded by firms is intended to develop new products, a kind of firm-specific and market-driven form of R&D that is less appropriate for universities.

Virtually all corporate research funding (95%) goes to corporate R&D, not surprisingly. Of government funding, the majority (52%) goes to research institutes, 19% to corporate efforts, and 29% to universities — largely (67%) to research universities rather than teaching-oriented universities (30%). Most of the research funding to teaching-oriented universities (70%) go to institutions located outside of Seoul, suggesting that these funds are being used to strengthen these institutions; in contrast, most of the funds to research universities (66%) goes to institutions within Seoul. Overall, 67% of government research funds go to the top 20 universities, including a couple of institutions located outside of Seoul (particularly KAIST and POSTECH), so that only a very few universities have meaningful amounts of research funding.

Overall, then, the role of universities in national R&D is quite small. However, there are two roles in which universities are particularly important. One is the support of basic research, as distinct from commercial research. While universities carried out only 10% of overall R&D, university faculty contributed 76% of the scientific papers written in Korea — and these papers, if peer- reviewed for publication in quality international journals, are good indicators of basic research work.

A second role is the preparation of individuals with master's and doctorate degrees, some of whom will become the next generation of researchers. Indeed, the role of universities in preparing researchers is probably the best example where the teaching function of the university and its research function are aligned with one another: faculty conducting research (largely basic research) work with graduate students and thereby both introduce them to novel concepts and prepare them for their future roles. The Brain Korea 21 (BK21) programme of 1999 – 2005 is an example

of government efforts to increase and support this role, with 50% - 70% of funds going to support post-graduate and post-doctoral students to provide a stable research environment for university-based researchers. There have been some complaints that the numbers of master's and Ph.D.s are too low. perhaps because their earnings are only 70% of comparable social scientists (like lawyers and bankers); if so, the only real solution is not to increase the supply of such individuals but to increase salary levels (OECD 2005e, p. 18).

In addition, there are 16 technoparks throughout the country, which are industry-university centres to provide assistance in transferring new technologies to companies (particular small and medium-size) that have trouble finding expertise. The universities and some colleges associated with the technoparks can also provide short- or long-term training programmes for these firms, providing a supply of skilled workers to meet increased demand³⁹. The technopark we visited seemed well-equipped, clear about its purposes, and comprehensive in the services it provides to firms, so this appears to be an excellent model for university-industry linkages related to the transfer of R&D.

However, several factors have made the linkages between research and education problematic. One is that the most prestigious universities tend to hire their faculty from other countries, especially the United States; this helps enhance their status, and perhaps the basic research they do, but it does not contribute to the preparation of post-graduate education. Second, while 67% of research funding goes to the top 20 universities, large numbers of post-graduate students prepared in Korea are trained in second-tier universities where the faculty is not engaged extensively in research, meaning that the close connection between research and education is broken. In effect, non-research institutions are preparing the next generation of researchers, and this is surely not the optimal form of training. One solution, mentioned in Chapter 6, would be to limit PhD training to institutions, or departments within institutions, that have demonstrated research strengths. This could be linked to earlier comments on regulation of the system.

A third possibility was raised by several institutions we visited: the role of university-based research in generating patents and inventions that might

cannot otherwise express their demand.

In economic terms, SMEs lack expertise, and the transactions costs of getting together into consortia in order to obtain both expertise and a supply of skilled workers may be too high, causing this market to fail. Under these conditions government is justified in intervening as a way of providing services to firms that

generate revenues for the university. However, we are quite sceptical about this possibility. In the first place, there have been very few universities worldwide that have been successful in doing this, partly because a very small proportion of research results are commercially patentable. As Bok (2003, p. 101) reported, "Of an estimated 200 or more patent licensing offices on American campuses, only a small fraction received more than USD 10 million in 2000 and a large majority failed to earn any appreciable profit." In addition, the commercial exploitation of inventions and patents is itself a complex process requiring expertise that universities researchers seldom have, and that universities can themselves develop only by spending large sums to develop research offices. The result is that the economic benefits of university-based research are quite uncertain, and many universities that have tried to take this route have lost money. The prominent international examples where universities have contributed to commerciallyvaluable research have been cases where the direct economic benefits have been captured by spin-off firms (as in Silicon Valley and biotechnology firms near Stanford university in the U.S.), or where university faculty have been hired to perform basic research by individual firms (like Novartis at U.C. Berkeley) or by a consortium of firms (like Sematech in Austin, Texas). But these examples have all been initiated by private corporations, not by universities themselves. In addition, many of these examples have been quite controversial, given the non-economic roles that universities in many countries perform, again limiting the roles of universities in commercial R&D. We will not therefore include this role among the potential contributions of universities to R&D. Indeed, we think that the lesson in other countries is that universities need to affiliate with corporations and groups of corporations, particularly when the two useful roles we have identified for universities — basic research, and the training of researchers — can be clarified as part of a larger effort.

7.2 Enhancing the Roles of Universities

We conclude, therefore, that the two most useful roles of universities in R&D are to engage in basic research, some of which may be motivated by potential (but uncertain) commercial applications; and to prepare the next generation of researchers. In terms of basic research, its connection to commercial applications is enhanced when universities maintain ties with corporations. Currently there appear to be many such ties; every university has a university-industry liaison office supported by government funds; and the co-worker system promotes joint research between university and corporation researchers. In addition, there is some joint support among the Ministry of Education and Human Resources Development, the Ministry of Commerce, Industry, and Energy, the Ministry of Science and Technology,

and the Ministry of Information and Communications — though apparently this collaboration has achieved only limited results. These ties should surely be continued and strengthened, and we noted in the prior chapter that relationships among Ministries could be improved.

In addition, there are widespread proposals in Korea to create up to 15 "world-class" universities (eight in Seoul and seven in regional areas) presumably a response to the kind of comment cited above, that "Seoul National University is not Harvard". But we note several practical difficulties in creating 15 universities like "Harvard", presumably referring to that university's position at the top of the world rankings of universities. One is that universities like Harvard and Cambridge and Tokyo have taken many centuries to evolve a culture of high-quality research with high-quality graduate and undergraduate education. This is difficult to do quickly, and the rankings of universities both within countries and across countries have been remarkably stable over time. In addition, we note that all but one of the top-20 universities (Tokyo University) and all but three of the top 40 are in English-speaking countries; their domination has as much to do with the emergence of English as the world-wide language of science and commerce as it does with their intrinsic excellence, and of course Korea cannot compete in terms of language.

Second, it would cost a great deal of money to catch up to the current world-class universities, with their enormous endowments and substantial research facilities. We are unsure that the funds to create even one worldclass university (never mind 15) are available, given the current demands on government funding. We suspect that the funds necessary to create such a large number of "world-class" universities might instead be better spent on targeted efforts to improve specific areas of research and particular programmes to train researchers, as we outline below. Furthermore, additional research funds will not by themselves create "world class" universities. Additional funds for infrastructure and facilities, the capacity to offer competitive and differentiated salaries, an entrepreneurial culture reinforced by institutional autonomy and clear leadership with strong external support will all be needed as well. This raise issues of institutional governance and autonomy that will need to be addressed. It will also generate conflict about government policies for the funding of private institutions, given that many of the front-runners will not be national universities

Third, the process of developing support for a small number of "worldclass" institutions would itself be difficult, politically and technically. It would be necessary to choose the universities for such favoured treatment carefully, since not all universities have the capacity to develop in such ways; other political criteria — favouritism by powerful politicians, the

competing demands of developing universities outside Seoul — would no doubt intervene. The selection of specific fields of study to support would be similarly difficult. And above all, the culture of world-class universities is difficult for government to foster, particularly simply by making available research funds; this generally requires a great deal of autonomy — now often restricted by government in ways we outlined in the previous chapter — as well as visions of excellence equally motivated by research and teaching. Overall, then, we suggest that Korea should be extremely careful about its dream of 15 "world-class" universities, particularly because the goal of enhancing R&D might be achieved through different mechanisms.

In terms of strengthening the role of universities in educating future researchers, the greatest need we see is the effort to be sure that researchers are prepared in research universities, not in second-tier universities that conduct little research. This is also important to the international credibility of a Korean Ph.D. This can be accomplished in several ways. One is to be sure that the research funding that now goes predominantly to a small number of research universities always includes support for post-graduate education, so as to consistently integrate education and research. A second and more controlling (rather than developmental) form of regulation would be simply to ban post-graduate degrees in universities without a certain level of research funding. There could be a programme of affiliation of faculty from non-research to research universities (along US lines): this would help build staff expertise in research and broaden the base of the research talent pool. We are not particularly in favour of this approach, since our preference is for developmental regulation rather than constraining regulation, and forbidding certain universities from participating in post-graduate education would stifle some ambitions. However, we do think that the problem of over-education needs to be confronted, and limits on which institutions provide post-graduate education might be part of the efforts to do this. outlined in Chapter 3.

Another way of thinking about the roles of universities in R&D is to think not about the 171 universities in Korea as autonomous institutions, each striving to be the highest-status, but rather to think of networks of universities linked to one another for both research and post-graduate education. For example, the top research universities — including some specialised universities like POSTEC and KAIST — might be considered research centres, with linkages to other less research-oriented universities and regional universities. These linkages could include research, for example, as second-tier universities carry out supportive research, or more applied research, or regional applications, under the direction of central research universities. They should also include educational efforts, for example as second-tier universities offer undergraduates and perhaps

master's degree programmes in specific fields, linked to Ph.D. programmes in the central research universities. And such a model of networked institutions also gives a role to colleges, for example to prepare the technicians required in certain fields, or in some cases to prepare individuals with Associate's degrees who are then well-prepared to transfer into baccalaureate and master's programmes.

To be sure, this kind of networked approach would institutionalise a two-tiered structure of research universities and second-tier universities concerned with more applied research and educational preparation, and might generate considerable opposition. However, we think that Korea now has such a two-tiered structure since so few universities engage in research. It would be better to recognise this division and use it to enhance national goals —including the development of R&D — rather than to continue this division without recognizing it fully. In the process, it might also be possible to enhance the role of second-tier universities and regional universities in targeted research and in certain types of research-oriented training, so most of these institutions would be better off than they are now.

8. Equity in Tertiary Education: The Issues of Class, Gender, and Region

The issues of equity in tertiary education have not been quite as prominent in recent national debates on tertiary education in Korea as those related to quality, growth, and R&D. Nevertheless they have been important determinants of key policies such as the "three nots", and there has been some concern about a decline of interest in equity as the growth of tertiary education has dominated the past two decades. As one professor expressed this concern, the earlier possibilities of "dragons rising from streams" — of prominent individuals rising from humble origins — have been replaced by a more competitive education system. This now includes widespread private tutoring to prepare for the college entrance exam, providing a greater role for family income to shape access to tertiary education.

In addition, there are concerns about the ability of women to progress to tertiary education. In many OECD countries the educational attainments of women now exceed those of men, but they are still behind in Korea: only 20% of Korean women aged 25-64 have a tertiary qualification, compared to 32% of men of the same age. This is the second largest such gap in the OECD, exceeded only by Switzerland. We note a number of programmes to promote the education of young women, though we suspect that attainments will continue to lag as long as the roles of women in the Korean economy and society lag behind those of men.

The rapid expansion of tertiary education leads to contrary possibilities related to equity. On the one hand, the expansion has opened up more places in colleges and universities, and these should have enhanced the ability of lower-income students and women to attend. On the other hand, the expansion of tertiary education in Korea has been accomplished largely by expanding places in new and therefore lower-status universities, and in colleges; this means that lower-income students and women might have gained access to lower-status institutions, including those that do not lead to post-graduate education. Which of these two possibilities has dominated is a question we try to resolve in this chapter.

There are several mechanisms in Korea designed to enhance equity, including a system of fee waivers, loans, and special programmes. We suspect that these could be better used to improve the consistency of equity policy, and to create a more systematic system intended to enhance equity.

Finally, we end this chapter with a brief note on regional equity, or the imbalance between Seoul and the rest of the country, and the limited potential role of tertiary education in correcting this imbalance.

8.1 The Effects of Family Background

As in other developed countries, education in Korea shows moderately strong relationships between family background and educational attainment. As Table 8.1 reveals, the social class of parents — whether measured by rough class groups, by education, or by occupation — strongly affects the level of tertiary institution their children attend, where levels are measured by relative standing in a ranking of institutions. The social standing of the family is particularly important, with education and occupation also contributing to where students go to university.

Korea has apparently made substantial efforts to make sure that its public secondary system of education creates equitable conditions for all students. An equalization policy effective in 23 cities including Seoul, and covering about half the population, allocates middle school students randomly to academic high schools, and the high schools have to some extent been equalised in terms of their facilities and teaching quality. (The existence of vocational high schools is another issue, and probably contributes to inequality as it does in other countries.) The PISA data, based on tests administered to 15-year-olds, confirm that inequality among these students is the lowest in the OECD countries, as is the effect of family background on PISA literacy scores (Kuczera, undated, Tables 2.3.2 and 3.2.2). However, a student's high school record generally accounts for only 10% of rankings in admissions to tertiary education, and the CSAT generally contributes 70% (the proportion can vary across and within institutions); therefore the system of tutoring for the CSAT, for which parents must pay substantial amounts, undermines a great deal of the equity established in secondary schools.

It's difficult to know how to counter the inequities associated with the private tutoring system. One proposal has been to provide tutoring for students whose parents can't afford it; but this would be prohibitively expensive, and it might not work if high-income parents found even more extensive tutoring for their children. A ban on tutoring would also be unworkable, since families would always find a way around that.

Table 8.1 Level of university based on class level, education level, and occupation of parent1

		Upper level	Upper middle level	Middle level	Middle lower level	Lower level	Total (frequency)
	Upper class	57.1	-	42.9	-	-	7
Social	Upper middle class	16.9	41.6	32.0	8.4	1.1	178
standing of	Middle class	7.5	32.7	45.1	13.9	0.8	743
family	Mid-lower class	8.0	22.8	40.7	26.1	2.4	589
	Lower class	5.8	25.6	30.2	26.7	11.4	86
Subtotal		8.9	29.5	41.2	18.4	2.0	100.0
(Frequency)		(142)	(473)	(661)	(295)	(32)	(1 603)
	Elementary	8.0	30.3	36.8	22.9	2.0	201
Education	Middle school	6.3	26.8	45.6	19.5	1.7	287
level of	High school	6.8	28.4	43.3	19.6	1.8	672
parent	Junior college	7.3	23.6	41.8	23.6	3.6	55
	Four-year university	15.1	35.3	36.3	11.9	1.4	278
	Graduate school +	14.3	30.4	36.6	14.3	4.5	112
Subtotal		8.8	29.5	41.2	18.4	2.0	100.0
(Frequency)		(142)	(474)	(661)	(296)	(32)	(1 605)
	Government	12.8	26.7	38.8	18.2	3.5	258
	Professional	13.9	29.2	43.1	11.1	2.8	72
	Semi-professional	5.0	36.6	38.6	16.8	3.0	101
	Office worker	6.3	35.4	35.4	22.8	-	79
	Service	11.9	31.0	40.5	15.9	0.8	126
Occupation of parent	Sales/Vendor	7.3	32.6	41.0	16.9	2.2	178
	Fishing/farming/forestry/livestock	4.7	21.5	47.7	24.8	1.3	149
	skilled workers/ drivers	7.6	28.0	47.0	15.6	1.7	353
	simple labourer	6.8	31.1	34.1	25.8	2.3	132
	student	11.1	33.3	44.4	11.1	-	9
	housewife	8.8	28.1	40.4	22.8	-	57
	unemployed/retired	14.4	32.2	33.3	18.9	1.1	90
Subtotal		8.9	29.4	41.2	18.5	1.9	100.0
(Frequency)		(143)	(472)	(661)	(297)	(31)	(1 604)

^{1.} The figures in each row sum to 100%. The raw frequencies upon which the percentages are based are shown in the far right column.

Source: National Background Report for Korea.

The MOE is now encouraging colleges and universities to base their admissions on a wider variety of entrance criteria, rather than relying so heavily on the CSAT. This is a positive move. Gradually, the value of tutoring may fall, and the inequalities associated with extensive tutoring may also be reduced. For example, admissions might be decided more by the variety of experiences of students during secondary schools, including their extra-curricular activities; by several exams measuring different aspects of competence in place of a single exam score — consistent with the idea that multiple exams would be more reliable than a single exam; or by a variety of factors like essays and recommendations. This would look more like the U.S. system of admissions based on a wide variety of criteria, rather than the European tradition of heavy reliance on a single exam. While the details of an alternative admission mechanism would require extensive discussions among universities and government policy-makers⁴⁰, there might be several different advantages including greater validity⁴¹ reliability of entrance decisions as well as greater equity if tutoring for the single admissions exam became less prevalent. But without addressing the inequities inherent in the tutoring system, one dimension of inequality will persist.

Finally, there is no information about inequalities in completion rates related to family background. As we mentioned in Chapter 4, the convention in Koreas is that virtually all students complete college and university programmes once they enter. However, the data available lead us to suspect that this is not true, and that completion rates may be as low as 77%; if so it seems likely that lower-income students are more likely to drop out, or to transfer from universities to colleges with their lower tuition and greater prospects for immediate employment. While neither we nor Korean policy-makers know whether this is the case, the development of a more comprehensive equity system might first investigate this possibility and then devise mechanisms to reduce inequality in dropout rates.

⁴⁰

There is already a clearinghouse for students applying to the university, allowing both universities and applicants to rank their preferences, and then matching these preferences as closely as possible. This might be the appropriate group to deliberate about alternative criteria for admissions.

It would be worth examining the validity of the CSAT — that is, its power in predicting how well students do during tertiary education and thereafter. In California, admission to the university is usually based on a wide variety of criteria, but in the past students could also be admitted based on a set of test scores alone. Those admitted through tests tended to do worse than other students, perhaps because tests by themselves do not measure diligence and persistence.

8.2 Gender Inequalities

The gender ratios of high school graduates are roughly even. However, the rates of progression to tertiary education are not equal. Annex 4, Section 17 shows that the proportion of women in both universities and colleges is low, and particularly low compared to OECD countries as a whole. The result, as we pointed out above is that the proportion of women with degrees is substantially lower than the proportion of men. And of course there are generational differences between younger cohorts, who have attended tertiary education after the great increase of the 1980s and 1990s, and older cohorts who matured when Korea did not have a large system of tertiary education.

The causes of these gender imbalances appear rooted in traditional views of women. In general, participation of Korean women outside the home has been lower than in other OECD countries: the labour force participation rate of women is about 49%, much lower than the OECD average of 65%, and the employment rate of women with tertiary education is 57%, among the lowest levels in OECD countries. Women constitute only 34% of individuals in highly skilled positions compared to about 50% in Australia, Germany and Sweden, and 54% in the U.S.; men are dominant in senior corporate positions (94% of all individuals), senior civil service positions (90%), and in university faculty positions (86%) (OECD, 2005e). We heard (though there is little data to confirm this) that parents are less willing to spend money on private tutoring for their daughters than for their sons — again a problem that might be corrected by changing admissions policies. In addition, it may be that parents are less likely to take out loans for daughters, who are less likely to work — or will work at lower wages than sons, making repayment more difficult.

The government has been taking a series of steps to promote gender equity: intensive career counselling and information sessions in elementary schools and middle schools, and a developing plan to support female scientists and engineers. It has introduced targets that engineering programmes try to have at least 30% of their students be female, and that science and technology institutes employ at least 30% women. These seem like steps in the right direction, and they should be continued and expanded where appropriate. And, consistent with our concern with effectiveness, we think that evaluating the effectiveness of such programmes would help not only identify whether they are succeeding in attracting women into tertiary education, but also why or why not, and such evaluation could then lead to improvements in such programmes.

Overall, however, we suspect that the ability of education to promote the education of women is limited as long as the roles of women in the labour market and society are limited, and as long as family-friendly policies like day care are underdeveloped. The efforts to improve gender parity in colleges and universities should surely continue, though they should be matched with efforts to develop family-friendly policies and shifts in cultural norms about the roles of women.

8.3 Equity Mechanisms: Fee Waivers, Loans, and Special Programmes

In order to enhance equity, Korea has a numbers of grants, loans, and other outreach programmes intended to enhance the access of low-income students and women. In addition, the MOE uses its control over the admissions process to try to influence equity, though whether this approach is successful is unclear.

Many universities and colleges use fee waivers to attract students that they want to admit, waiving some or all of the tuition fees they normally charge. (Fee waivers would be called grants in other OECD countries — that is, funds that need not be repaid to support the tuition and living costs associated with tertiary education.) We understand that some universities, including a few of the highest-status universities, use tuition waivers and special admissions procedures to allow low-income students to enter ⁴², but most fee waivers appear to be merit-based — that is, they are efforts by universities to attract the "best" (or highest-scoring) students. If so, these almost surely work against equity. Because fee waivers are set by universities individually, there is no central data on the extent of fee waivers, or whether they are need-based versus merit-based.

In addition, Korea has an extensive system of loans: there are eight major loan programmes, administered by MOE, the MOL, the Korea Labour Welfare Corporation, the Government Employees Pension Cooperative, and the Korea Teachers Pension, aimed at different groups of students (with some limited to science and engineering majors, or victims of work-related accidents, or workers), with different interest rates and repayment schedules. These are available to students in universities and post-graduate schools, but not to college students; about 25% of students in universities and 22% of students in universities and postgraduate education receive loans. These must be repaid when a student completes university, with repayment periods varying among types of loans; some include deferral periods when students need not start repayments, while for others repayment begins right away.

42

Note that a fee waiver might correct the income-related inequalities in attending a high-status university, but it cannot correct the income-related inequalities in accessing the tutoring system that seems necessary to gain admission.

Given the low employment rate of recent university graduates, loans may constitute a severe burden for recent graduates without substantial incomes. There appears to be no information about whether some students decide not to enrol in tertiary education, or enrol in lower-cost colleges rather than more expensive universities, because of their reluctance to take on loans, though it might be economically rational for such students to avoid loans.

In addition, a number of special programmes exist to admit students with certain kinds of social disadvantage. Again, there is a large number of small programmes, for groups like housewives, children of sailors and accident victims, and students from farming and fishing communities, but overall these apply to about 50 000 students while close to 400 000 students are accepted each year.

Finally, the MOE has some influence over admissions policy, particularly through the "three nots" and measures for helping universities to develop their own admissions systems. We note the direction of current reforms to admissions process, giving universities and colleges more discretion to differentiate, and broadening the range of criteria that they can use in selecting students. We encourage more vigorous action in this direction, as it should stimulate diversification and innovation and reduce pressures on high school students and their families.

Overall, however, the equity mechanisms that exist in Korea have been created haphazardly, by different institutions with different goals. Fee waivers are created by universities for their own purposes, and there's virtually no information about them. There are too many loan programmes, uncoordinated and with different repayment options, to understand easily; the resulting effects on discouraging attendance are unknown. There are funds intended to enhance the equity of attending universities and colleges. but nothing to enhance equity of access, which is seriously influenced by private tutoring in high school.

A more coherent and systematic approach to equity would in the first instance determine where equity problems arise: whether they are linked to admissions issues and the need for private tutoring; whether they are related more to income constraints and difficulties associated with the loan system, or to other barriers related to knowledge about tertiary education and the options open.

Then an obvious step would be to consolidate the existing loan programmes, which seem too numerous and varied in their conditions for students to easily understand. We doubt that an extensive system of grants can be created without increasing government spending substantially, which we think is unlikely. However, some grants could be developed for special equity problems, or to entice students into low-demand but socially important fields of study; for example, under current conditions where college graduates do not have higher earnings, a loan mechanisms makes little sense, so grants for some college students might be appropriate. In addition, an expansion of a loan system where students can repay loans from future earnings, like Australia's HECS system, ⁴³ might be a self-supporting option for Korea to pursue. Such loans could be expanded to cover living costs as well as tuition costs (as the government is apparently planning to do), potentially expanding the options of low-income students. HECS-type systems are highly flexible, and provide options for explicit policy decisions about the proportion of costs that should be paid by government, by students, and by other beneficiaries; the deliberations about such funding options would, we suspect, help develop more transparent policies both about equity and about the division of costs for tertiary education.

8.4 A Note on Regional Inequities

A different issue, sometimes mentioned as an aspect of equity, involves the relationship between Seoul and the rest of the country. Currently there is a strong preference among many Koreans for living in Seoul, with its variety of employment and cultural options. This has created a kind of vicious circle in which the most of the highest-reputation universities are located in Seoul; the best students want to go to these universities; and there is an over-supply of universities and colleges outside of Seoul, which struggle to fill their places while universities in Seoul are over-enrolled. Graduates from regional universities also have a harder time finding employment than do those from Seoul universities; many students graduating from regional universities or colleges therefore want to move to Seoul, depriving regional areas of skilled labour.

The major policy to deter the movement of students to universities in Seoul has been the quota system on enrolments in Seoul universities. As we noted in Chapter 3, the quota system has created rigidities of its own, since it seems to be based on historical patterns rather than keeping up with occupational changes. But in addition, its effect on the balance between Seoul and the rest of the country is unclear. While some students may be forced to attend regional universities, they may still decide to move to Seoul when they graduate, particularly if they are trying to work for the highest-

In HECS-type systems, students repay loans through a tax on income above a threshold. Therefore students who do not find employment right after graduation.

threshold. Therefore students who do not find employment right after graduation are not burdened with loan payments that they cannot afford, and the period of repayment stretches into those periods of their working lives when their earnings are higher. See Gallagher (2003) for more information.

status companies located in and around Seoul. We suspect, then, that the main effect of the quota system is to make universities within Seoul even more competitive, if anything enhancing the desirability of these universities, and exacerbating the pressure to do well on the CSAT — and all at the cost of making enrolment patterns less responsive to social and economic changes. A system of quotas aligned with changes in labour markets might correct the rigidity of enrolments, but it cannot do anything to change the imbalance between Seoul and the rest of the country. Instead, as we argued in Chapter 3, the system of quotas should be redirected to correct the problems of over-education.

In addition, MOE has developed a large number of smaller programmes to assist regional universities including specialisation, programmes to enhance co-operation with industry, customised education to meet the needs of specific employers, and programmes of technological assistance; the NURI programme was also developed to make regional universities the centre of regional innovation.

We see no way for the education system, a supply-side policy, to play much role in the allocation of employment and population across the country. If Seoul is so attractive to so many companies and people, then the only real solution is to make other regions more attractive — for example. by luring employment to other regions with subsidies, by increasing the cultural amenities in other regions, and by capitalizing on any special conditions (natural beauty, supplies of water, access to the coast and shipping) that may exist in areas away from Seoul. In addition, there are non-governmental and market forces that might correct the imbalance between Seoul and the rest of the country by making Seoul less attractive: if Seoul becomes too expensive, or too crowded, or too polluted, or transportation becomes too slow, then Seoul should lose some of its appeal, and other regional population centres might emerge. Perhaps the most effect policy might be for government policy and market mechanisms to reinforce one another, with government policies strengthening the economic development of regions that have become attractive to employers and population.

Within government, the Ministry of Industry chairs the President's Commission on Balanced National Development, which is a coordinating committee involving several ministries. The MOE is included, presumably to provide sufficient skilled workers for any local expansion of employment, so that education does not serve as a constraint on local growth. The PCBND offers a framework for improving the articulation of educational supply with the Korea strategy for regional development. Without such a framework, and without a commitment to consistent implementation using the variety of instruments that government has, we do not see how the enormous market forces causing a concentration in Seoul can be countered.

Indeed, it would be counter-productive to try to correct the imbalance between Seoul and the rest of the country through college and university quotas. Such an approach would likely be ineffective in limiting the movement toward Seoul, inefficient, in introducing rigidity into the system of tertiary education, and inequitable, in enhancing the competition for entry into the favoured universities that in turn exacerbates the need for inequitable tutoring.

9. Internationalisation and Globalisation

The patterns of globalisation, extending to economic life, to consumption patterns, and to many aspects of culture, have become truisms. This is particularly so for Korea with its open economy and reliance on exports, its physical proximity to such economic giants as Japan and China, and its easy interchanges with the U.S. (and American universities). The question for this Country Note is what the implications are for tertiary education. In this chapter we concentrate on two issues: the curriculum implications of globalisation; and the issue of foreign universities' participation in Korea's tertiary system.

9.1 The Curriculum Implications of Globalisation

Even in a country like Korea that is well-integrated into international commerce, many individual can live their lives — going about their daily work, buying kim chi and other necessities, celebrating with friends and soju — without thinking much about global patterns. But there are two limits to such a life. One, which we heard repeatedly, is that the lack of command of foreign languages, and more generally of knowledge of international conditions, creates a glass ceiling in employment, even for engineers and technical workers who may think that science-based competencies are all that matters. Certain college and university programmes have therefore created language requirements, not only in English but also in Asian languages like Chinese or Japanese, the languages of competitors, the languages of neighbours. From both a personal standpoint, of individual mobility in the labour market, and from a national standpoint, of having large numbers of citizens who can understand other countries, such educational programmes make a great deal of sense.

Second, Korea now faces, and will surely continue to face, a series of national questions about its role in the world, in economic, political, and cultural senses. Relationships with North Korea, with competitors like China and Japan (and potentially India), its role as a leader among Asian countries, the future of technological developments, its stand on international debates about free markets and the "Washington consensus" versus economic systems with more governmental participation, its response to culture and values from other countries — all these and many more issues require that

Korean citizens understand the distant origins of many issues that affect their daily lives.

These arguments suggests that students in tertiary institutions — and, by extension, in some parts of elementary and secondary education as well should have appropriate preparation in foreign languages, and also in international developments and their consequences. Because we have argued for the greater autonomy of colleges and universities, in Chapter 6, we don't think it appropriate for the national government to legislate such requirements, as it might at the elementary and secondary levels. Rather, these kinds of curriculum offerings should be developed in individual universities and departments, probably tailored to the futures and interests of students. Indeed, we were told in several universities that their language programmes provide a competitive advantage in the market for students; and international education is already the top priority of universities, ahead of student exchanges and attracting foreign students. There might be a role for MOE or for the Korea Institute of Curriculum and Evaluation in creating examples of global education, providing models and technical assistance to colleges and universities trying to create their own programmes. But, as important as they may be for the citizenry's understanding of global developments, the decisions about what to offer and to require should be institutional rather than governmental decisions.

9.2 The Roles of Foreign Universities in Korea

As part of globalisation, tertiary education seems to have become more globalised as well. Some of this trend is related to the movement among countries in students. Currently, extremely small numbers of foreign students enrol in Korean universities. In 2003 only 0.2% of all Korean students were from other countries, the smallest proportion in the OECD, and well below even the quite small 2.2% in Japan, as well as well below the OECD average of 6.4%. Larger numbers of students go abroad (and especially to the U.S.) for undergraduate or post-graduate education, partly because some foreign degrees have substantial status. However, we did not hear about any serious problems with the international flows of students, even though the development of an international outlook among Korean vouth would be helped if more foreign students came there to study. Although it seems unlikely that Korea can attract very large numbers of foreign students, partly because of language issues, the experience of countries such as Japan, where the level of foreign students is ten times that in Korea, suggests that far more can be done, despite the language issue. It's also possible that upgrading the quality of Korea universities, in ways we

suggest in Chapter 4, might reduce the number of Korean students earning degrees abroad, and this might benefit Korean universities.

A different issue involves the attempts of foreign universities to provide programmes within Korea. Currently, MOE requires that the number of foreign directors of a foreign university be no more than two thirds of the board. This restriction, alongside other requirements that are placed on domestic and foreign private providers alike, has meant that; no foreign programme had been established in Korea as of 2004, and only a few online programmes. However, as several institutions we visited complained, another consequence has been to limit the ability of Korean universities to create partnerships with foreign universities. There is a need, therefore, to create a policy that can respond to a number of potential issues.

We suspect that continued regulation of foreign universities into Korea, including the presence of online universities, is justified. The demand for tertiary education is so great, and the respect for status is so powerful, that without regulation we fear that any number of fraudulent and semifraudulent universities would try to sell their diplomas in Korea. These would include universities with names that sound like famous universities (Berkeley University, for example, or Buckingham University) — a specialty of British and American organizations that are little more than diploma mills. If MOE adopts a strong qualifications framework and requires institutions to have robust quality assurance mechanisms, as we suggested in Chapters 3 and 4, then applying these regulations uniformly to international universities as well as Korean universities should eliminate the fraudulent institutions while allowing legitimate universities to develop.

Similarly, if Korean universities want to establish partnerships with foreign universities — especially in areas like business and public policy where other countries have more experience — then such partnerships should be allowed as long as they are under the direction of Korean universities with appropriate quality assurance mechanisms and adherence to qualifications frameworks. Again, this would establish standards of quality that all universities have to meet, whether Korean or foreign, 44 and would prevent fraudulent institutions from practicing in Korea while permitting legitimate partnerships to develop. Such an approach assumes a

⁴⁴

Such an approach has the advantage of abiding by World Trade Organization (WTO) regulations on unfair trade practices, which require countries to treat all foreign universities like the universities from the Most Favoured Nation. While countries are sometimes concerned about WTO regulations, there is currently no regulation specific to education, and the WTO staff do not monitor educational developments.

coherent system of quality assurance and qualifications, underlining the importance of developing such approaches.

10. Improving the Coherence of the System

The expansion of tertiary education in Korea over the past two decades has been incredibly rapid, and astonishingly impressive in many ways. More than any other country. Korea has assured that virtually all students complete secondary education, and has moved toward universal tertiary education. Nevertheless, there are opportunities to weave the complex of institutions that have been created, including the many new private institutions, into a more coherent system of tertiary education.

By a system, we mean a structure that links individual colleges, universities, and other tertiary institutions, rather than simply a group of unrelated institutions: a structure where the roles of different institutions are clearly articulated and transparent; one where the movements among institutions are rational and articulated; one where there is enough information about institutions so that students can make informed choices, policy-makers can identify impending problems and resolve them, and employers can hire graduates with clear understanding of what competencies they are likely to possess. In a country like Korea, as in most developed countries, an education system also should have sufficient choice to satisfy the demands of "consumers", both students and employers; it should be flexible rather than rigid, able to respond to changing demands and external conditions. If tertiary education is to operate according to the mechanisms of quasi-markets (as is appropriate for a country dominated by private colleges and universities) then the conditions for optimality in markets need to be enhanced. And, following arguments in Chapter 8, there should be some equity in the system as a whole.

The tertiary education system in Korea is certainly large, and it is relatively well-funded overall. Improving the ways in which it is regulated and strengthening its internal connections to create a more coherent system would help to improve its efficiency, whilst also increasing its equity, flexibility and responsiveness. It would help to address the issues of quality, over-education and mismatches to the labour market that were brought to our attention, and strengthen the position of colleges within the system. These are objectives that are worth pursuing.

There are many potential dimensions of an improved tertiary system, and we will address five of them in this chapter: the effects on secondary schools; transfer rates among institutions; the role of colleges; enhancing choice; and expanding lifelong learning. In the final section we pose some issues about what kind of system Korea wants to develop. We stress that developing a coherent system from the many institutions that now exists is surely a long-run process, and Korea might want to develop a long-run plan to guide changes over time.

10.1 Effects on Secondary Education

Almost universally, tertiary education systems shape secondary education, since secondary students are likely to be concerned, or obsessed, with the requirements for gaining entry into tertiary education. This obsession is particularly strong in Korea, partly because such a large fraction of the cohort enters tertiary education, and partly because the pressure to get into the "best" universities is so strong. The time and money spent on private tutoring is the best indicator of this, but in addition the curriculum of secondary schools is constrained by the need to prepare for the CSAT.

One question, then, is whether there are changes in tertiary education that could reduce the pressures on secondary education, like changes in admissions procedures. If, as the government currently believes, there were more varied ways to gain admissions to universities and colleges, and the influence of the CSAT were reduced from its current 70% to a modest number of 33% or less, then the CSAT would not be as crucial. For example, colleges might create co-operative relationships with secondary schools, so that students completing certain courses and internships successfully might enter without taking the CSAT. It might be possible for certain colleges to eliminate admissions requirements altogether; certainly in countries like the U.S. and England, open-admissions policies for community colleges and further education colleges reduces a great deal of the stress about enrolling in tertiary education.⁴⁵ Universities might add additional criteria to their admissions procedures including various kinds of experiences during secondary education, accomplishments other than academic accomplishments, and extra-curricular activities, so that the CSAT would not be so dominant. We support increased co-operation within the MOE — between divisions responsible for tertiary education and for

get into tertiary education. The situation in Korea is quite the reverse, however, since the stress in secondary schooling seems extreme.

OECD REVIEWS OF TERTIARY EDUCATION - KOREA - ISBN 978-92-64-04905-5 - © OECD 2009

In the U.S. and England, one could argue that secondary students require more stress, and that secondary schools might improve if there were more pressure to

secondary education — in order to generate other ideas for moderating the pressure on secondary school students.

In addition, we did not hear much about any mechanisms for helping students to make the transition from secondary school to tertiary education. There are several possibilities, including organised visits by university students to secondary schools, like a programme in Austria run by the national students' organization; better information from universities and colleges to secondary schools; and sometimes co-enrolment of secondary students in college and university courses.

10.2 Student Transfer among Tertiary Institutions

There are no data we could find on the extent of transfers among tertiary institutions — from colleges to universities (although we told that about 20% of college students transfer to universities), or among colleges and among universities. The most common assertion is that virtually all students who enrol in a college or university complete a degree there — though we are uncertain that this is true, for reasons we reviewed in Chapter 4. But this pattern includes students who may decide that their initial choice of field of study was the wrong one, students who may want to change as labour market conditions change, and students who may want to move to another part of Korea. We suspect, then, that the system of tertiary education could be made more flexible, and more responsive both to students and to labour market conditions, if more transfer among institutions were facilitated.

The first step in doing this would be to collect the kind of data necessary to trace students over time — longitudinal data or tracer studies. These would permit policy-makers to see what current patterns of mobility are, and what causes them. This is part of a larger process, reviewed in the final chapter, of improving the data and evaluation in tertiary education.

A second step would be to formulate institutional policies facilitating transfer. Again, we suspect that "light touch" regulation by MOE would be appropriate. The MOE could serve a convening role, bringing colleges and universities together to formulate the conditions under which transfer is appropriate — for example, desires to change fields of study, to move to different regions, to enter an institutions with a programme unavailable elsewhere — and the requirements for transfer, related to courses already taken, credits already accumulated, grades achieved, and the like. In some cases articulation or transfer agreements among institutions might be appropriate if, for example, some colleges appear to transfer large numbers of students to specific nearby universities, or if certain research universities receive large numbers of students from particular regional universities. Then mechanisms of informing students about the possibilities for transfer would be appropriate. The result would be more of a real system of tertiary education, with increasing relationships among institutions, rather than the current patterns where most colleges and universities are relatively independent of one another.

One particular kind of transfer might also enhance equity in the system: transfer from colleges to universities. Low-income students are more likely to attend vocational high schools, and only 62% of these students enter tertiary education, compared to 90% of students from academic high schools; most students from vocational high schools enter colleges rather than universities. If transfer were enhanced, then these students might have a better chance of earning a baccalaureate degree, which provides access to better and higher-earning occupations. In addition, low-income students are more likely to enter lower-status universities compared to those from higher-income families, and increased options for transfer would help them move to higher –status institutions.

The development of more fluid transfer among institutions does have the possibility of making tertiary education in Korea more flexible and responsive, but it does have potential drawbacks too. In the U.S., where public systems of education allow substantial or even excessive amounts of transfer, a pattern of moving among institutions known as "swirling" has developed, where students earn credits from a random collection of colleges and universities. In these cases the idea of a coherent programme of studies, with courses carefully related to one another, is undermined. Some limitations on transfer might therefore be appropriate. Alternatively, a qualifications framework might limit the ways credits for a degree could be earned, for example by limiting credits to two institutions, or to institutions that have transfer agreements so that the coherence of programmes is maintained. The key principle is the avoidance of duplication of study by students. Overall, the goal is greater flexibility, but not so much flexibility that the learning necessary for earning a degree is compromised.

10.3 The Roles of Colleges

As is true in many countries (OECD, 2005c), universities tend to receive greater attention than colleges in Korea. Policy-makers in tertiary education rarely referred to them, and many of the country's concerns — for example, about research, and about creating "world-class" universities — are by definition related only to universities. Most students would prefer to attend universities, except for those students with clear interests in vocational fields and those who want to enter employment quickly, so colleges commonly are

second-class choices among students. 46 One employer mentioned that he would never hire from colleges, preferring only graduates from the higheststatus universities, so again colleges become sources of last resort for employers. Universities have been "poaching" on the turf of colleges, by creating programmes that compete directly; this kind of pattern seems to be squeezing colleges out of certain labour markets, and may contribute to the low earnings benefits associated with completing college.

However, we think that colleges merit a stronger role in a system of tertiary education. For one thing, they account for 25% of all enrolments in tertiary education: they are numerically too large to ignore. For another, they prepare for a range of vocational fields, from health to business to engineering, that are crucial to the Korean economy. And they provide access to tertiary education for lower-income students and those who have attended vocational high schools.

Strengthening the roles of colleges will, we suspect, require several different kinds of actions. One would be to improve transfer from colleges to universities, so that potential applicants would recognise the possible route to the baccalaureate degree, if that is their ultimate ambition; this would also enhance the equity of tertiary education. Another would be to create a qualifications framework, as we suggested in Chapter 3, partly to reduce the amount of over-education and partly to clarify the roles of colleges in their particular part of the labour market. A third would be to develop indicators of quality; if there were real measures of competence in the system, then employers might shift from status-based hiring to hiring on the basis of quality, and this might strengthen the role of associate degrees in the labour market

In addition, we are somewhat puzzled about the low earnings benefits of completing associate degrees, since these benefits are substantially higher in other countries (see Sections 11 and 12 of Annex 4). We suspect that one of the reasons may be variation in economic returns by field of study, and it's certainly worth knowing about such variation. It is also possible that differences between Seoul earnings and earnings outside of Seoul are partly responsible. Other characteristics of the middle-level labour market for

⁴⁶

However, see Kim and Lee (2004, Table 1), which ranks all universities and colleges according to criteria not mentioned in the article. The top three deciles are dominated by universities, but starting at the fourth decile a number of colleges (largely in Seoul) compete favourably with universities, most of which are located outside of Seoul. Evidently, the top preferences among students are for universities based in Seoul, plus POSTECH and KAIST; but colleges in Seoul may be preferred to universities outside Seoul. The bottom-ranked institutions dominating the 8th – 10th deciles are colleges outside of Seoul.

which colleges prepare students might be responsible.⁴⁷ But if it were possible to determine why these economic benefits are relatively low, and then to correct any obvious problems, then colleges might become more attractive to students.

In addition, the quality of colleges varies substantially, as the quality of universities does. A better system of quality assurance might therefore enhance the stature of colleges. There are some "natural" teaching advantages of colleges: because they are largely focused on occupational preparation, there is ample opportunity for "hands-on" and more active form of teaching in workshops and labs; the possibilities for internships and other employment-related experiences can be expanded, particularly as some colleges already have good relationships with local employers.

A number of policy-makers noted that colleges have great potential for providing lifelong learning, a subject we take up in a section below. Such programmes might not only give colleges another important social role, but might also help colleges to keep up with the changing demands of employers.

There are, then, a number of ways of clarifying and strengthening the roles of colleges. We will return to this briefly in the concluding section of this chapter, where we outline several different conceptions of a tertiary system.

10.4 Expanding Choice

Tertiary education in Korea has expanded rapidly, largely by increasing the numbers of institutions, but the variety and choice among institutions has not increased correspondingly. While there are a few distinctive institutions — a few universities focused on science and technology, a few universities with a distinctive approach to teaching like Handong University, and of course the specialised teacher training institutions and the one corporate university — by and large all universities aspire to be comprehensive research universities. They are arrayed on a single dimension of status, rather than having several distinctive types of universities and several ranking systems. And colleges are often comprehensive institutions, though many of them specialise to some extent, for example in health, commercial occupations, rehabilitation training, the arts or tourism.

See, for example, Grubb (1996, Chapter 1) on the distinctive characteristics of the mid-skilled labour market in the U.S., some of which help explain the uneven and uncertain returns to community college degrees.

Expanding the variety of institutions would, we think, enhance the choice among students, the choice among employers, and the overall flexibility of the system as a whole. Indeed, the idea of specialised institutions, and therefore greater variety, is one that several policy-makers mentioned. One rationale for shifting to a more "developmental" conception of regulation, is precisely to expand the variety of institutions.

However, a corollary of expanding choice is that students and employers must be prepared to exercise choice in informed and responsible ways. This means that information to secondary school students will need to be improved. In addition, information about quality, and about dimensions of quality in addition to more accurate employment figures, needs to be expanded, as we stressed in Chapter 4. A number of ways of improving the overall system of tertiary education therefore come back to issues we have already examined.

10.5 Expanding Lifelong Learning

For recent cohorts of high school students, among whom 81% attend some form of tertiary education, Korea surely has a large enough base of formal schooling for both social purposes and for economic reasons. However, there are not that many opportunities for older individuals to receive additional education, whether for employment reasons or for broader social purposes; the OECD (2005d) review of adult learning found a low rate of adult participation in learning, despite low skills level among some of the population (especially the older population). We suspect that there are many older workers who could benefit from upgrade training and retraining. In the future, the changing needs of dynamic economies are often cited as reasons for needing more lifelong learning (LLL) than was true in the past.

The kinds of institutions that provide lifelong learning vary among countries, depending on historical and institutional developments. In Korea, however, demographic trends will increasingly lead to excess capacity in both colleges and in regional universities, so we see no reason for new institutions to be created in the foreseeable future. The extension of colleges and some universities to providing more lifelong learning would require some modifications, of course. The current predominant focus upon full degree programmes, lasting a minimum of two years, would have to be broadened to include more flexible approaches, allowing shorter-term and more specific programmes to develop. These might be subject to the requirements of a qualifications framework, to create coherent certificates or other credentials certifying what an individual has learned. These should presumably be created in the same way that other qualifications are created, with the participation of employers (for employment-oriented LLL), tertiary institutions themselves, and representatives of an occupational association or students. However, such certificates might be specific to particular employers, colleges, regions of the country, and fields of study, so the procedures for creating such qualification should be shorter and more flexible

In addition, LLL requires flexible hours of operation, particularly in the evenings and weekends. Again, this means that classroom and workshop facilities in colleges and universities could be more fully used when "regular" students are not attending.

There remain issues of who would pay for LLL. Costs might be shared between employers, especially for relatively specific training, and individuals, especially for more general education, particularly when earnings increase after additional training. Governmental subsidies might be reserved for specific purposes: to enhance equity, particularly for older workers with lower earnings; to facilitate the transition among occupations or among business sectors, as the economy changes; to relieve temporary shortages of certain kinds of workers⁴⁸, or workers in particular regions of the country; or to promote certain newly-developing occupations or sectors, for example high speed rail or advanced gas turbines.

10.6 Alternative Models for a Tertiary Education System

Overall, Korea might consider what kind of system of tertiary education it wants to develop over the next decade or two. Some approaches are unlikely to develop; for example, the German model of public universities, carefully controlled so that variation in quality and offerings is minimised, is not possible in Korea since it already has so many private institutions. Nor is the Danish, Swedish and Australian model, in which tertiary education is almost entirely dominated by universities, with few other types of institutions. A fully unregulated, market-driven model is also unlikely because it would fail to serve important public purposes, would surely exacerbate social inequality, and would jeopardise quality. We favour a model of institutional autonomy with certain limits and with specific supports: mission boundaries for different institutions (comprehensive

We are sceptical of most employer claims about shortages of particular skilled workers, like the complaints in Korea about shortages of individuals willing to do 3-D work. In most cases, raising wages is the appropriate strategy, and pressures on government to expand supply are simply ways to avoid increasing wages. However, in cases where there are market constraints and imperfections, including problems in specific local labour markets, then some government subsidy might be appropriate.

⁴⁸

research universities: niche research institutes with some graduate training: comprehensive teaching institutions: polytechnics: institutions: community college/TAFE institutions): clear pathways for learners, aided by a national qualifications framework; and better information

For this reason, many of our suggestions have outlined alternatives that might improve the operation of these market-like mechanisms improvements in information and quality, a form of regulation that enhances flexibility and responsiveness, and an improved qualifications framework to certify the outcomes. We have also stressed in this chapter the advantages of transfers among institutions. In effect we have suggested a system of networked universities and colleges operating in a quasi-market, regulated to assure that market failures related to information, transparency, quality, and over-education are controlled

We wonder whether Korea should also consider formalizing distinctions that have already emerged in practice. As in many other countries, there are in effect three segments of tertiary education: colleges; universities with little or no research, which should not (as we argued in Chapter 7) provide research-oriented postgraduate degrees; and research universities, most of them comprehensive. (There are also specialised universities, like education universities.) Recognising these distinctions formally would have some advantages, particularly in enhancing the transparency of the system. It might also reduce the pressures for institutional drift and over-education, and enhance the quality of teaching by clarifying that colleges and nonresearch universities (or teaching- or education-focused universities) should try to compete on the quality of undergraduate teaching rather than research reputations. It would allow for both excellence in teaching and in research, for variety in types of institutions within each of the three segments, for mobility among institutions in the three segments, and for different types of regulation appropriate to each type of institution.

Like the other suggestions we have pose in this chapter, the creation of a formal tripartite system of tertiary education would require substantial discussion and planning, and the time required to make the transition to it might be substantial. But in the end the benefits of aligning current institutions in a more coherent system might be worth the effort needed to create it.

11. General Patterns and Final Observations

The previous chapters have reviewed both the triumphs of education in Korea — particularly the completion of secondary education by almost everyone, the high proportion of secondary students who enter tertiary education, the high overall achievement levels and low inequality as measured by PISA data — as well as a number of concerns. We have suggested ways for Korea to respond to issues — quality, responsiveness to labour market needs, the regulation of a complex and largely private sector, equity, research and development, and the overall shape of the system of tertiary education — that all developed countries face, particularly as they try to use education to enhance their competitiveness and economic standing. We won't review those alternatives here, but we will note a number of issues that have emerged in several different chapters.

11.1 The Transition from Quantity to Quality

Korea is consciously in the process of making a transition from a focus on quantity to a greater emphasis on the quality, coherence, and equity of tertiary education, and we agree with the need for such a transition. Indeed, this a particularly favourable time for such changes since the decline in the size of young cohorts mean that there will be fewer individuals to educate; improvements in quality are surely easier to achieve when pressures to expand the system have abated.

Enhancing quality can take many forms that we have reviewed in previous chapters, including the development of standards, better indicators of quality, quality assurance mechanisms, a qualifications framework, and different approaches to teaching and learning. Many of these specific mechanisms are difficult and time-consuming to develop, to be sure, and need to be guided by long-run plans. But they also require a significant shift in focus. In the first place, it will be necessary to think more insistently about outcomes, learning, competencies, and achievement, and less about inputs and measures of size like enrolments and funding patterns. The efforts to discuss and develop standards by field of study and to calculate better measures of outcomes including completion and employment rates are

part of this. This does not mean that measures of the educational process itself are worthless: many such measures, including the quality of teaching, the preparation of teachers, and the variety of educational experiences, will still be necessary, particularly as part of quality assurance mechanisms. But these aspects of the educational process are valuable because of evidence that they cause students to learn more, in more sophisticated ways. Connections to the community and to employers are valuable because they can help place learning in an appropriate context. And there are good reasons to think that contextualised learning is more powerful than abstract or "academic" approaches. Such dimensions of the educational process are resources that Koreans can be relatively confidant make some difference to outcomes, rather than those (like status) that do not.

Part of this change would also be a shift from the culture of status and prestige that governs the rankings of universities, and perceptions of colleges — to a culture of merit and achievement. In the end the two ways of thinking might arrive at the same outcomes — for example, it is possible that the small number of universities that now dominate everyone's status rankings would still be at the upper end of quality rankings. However it seems more important for particular universities to be valued because of progress in learning among their students, not because they are well-regarded or place their graduates in high positions. And we also think that a focus on learning and competence rather than status would help enhance the perceptions of both colleges and regional universities, which cannot compete fairly in the quest for higher status but certainly can compete in efforts to enhance learning and outcomes.

The real problem in Korea is no longer under-education, as it was perhaps as recently as twenty years ago, but over-education; by any measures comparing it with other countries. Korea has enough individuals in vounger cohorts with sufficient years of formal education for the "workforce of the 21st century". Of course, it may be difficult to dampen the pressures for more and more schooling, particularly since parents and students understand this as the way to get ahead. Emphasizing quality therefore means redirecting the incentives of parents and students (by providing them better information about dimensions of quality, for example) as well as the incentives of tertiary institutions (by limiting their expansion in certain fields, for example), and finally the incentives of employers — for example, by including them in efforts to develop a qualifications framework emphasizing competence and quality rather than years of schooling and quantity. So a consistent policy will have many elements, but they should all be linked by a change in thinking about tertiary education, from emphasizing quantity to focusing on quality.

A shift to emphasizing quality might also affect the mechanisms that government has used to further its goals. We note that there are many small programmes in tertiary education — many small efforts to improve connections between employers and universities, many special loan programmes to enhance equity. These small programmes have developed, as we understand them, in response to specific problems that arise — the distance between formal schooling and employers, for example, or gender inequity. But the outcome-oriented solution in such cases is not to develop many small programmes, which are difficult to understand and to evaluate, and which are likely to be uneven in different areas of Korea. The alternative solution is the developmental process of improving the ability of colleges and universities to address these problems on their own, and to be flexible enough to respond to labour market conditions or community needs. This would eliminate the need for many small corrective programmes.

11.2 The Divide between Practice and Theory

In preparation within educational institutions for occupations, at all levels of the labour market, an inevitable tension develops between theory — symbolised by "textbook" approaches, lecture and information transfer, research-oriented professors, and sometimes the values of older universities (in Korea, Confucian values) — and practice, represented by more learning in labs and workshops, on-the-job or in consultation with potential employers, with teachers more likely to come from practice than from research. This divide is virtually inevitable since the values of educational institutions and the values of workplaces are necessarily — and thankfully — different from one another. The tension is well-represented in Korea, where some institutions pride themselves on being more practice-oriented and "relevant" while criticising other institutions. Thus corporations often criticise universities because their graduates lack practical skills related to how corporations work; colleges claim to be more experience- and joboriented than universities; those in polytechnics criticise colleges for being too textbook-driven, and pride themselves on their connections to employers. There's a constant process of blaming others for being excessively theoretical and impractical, while some institutions particularly universities — criticise other institutions for being overly practice-oriented and too dominated by specific corporate demands. And, from experiences in other countries, we suspect that claims of being more practice-oriented sometimes hide an anti-intellectualism that cannot possibly be helpful in a knowledge economy.

Even while the divide between theory and practice is inevitable, there are ways of moderating the tension, particularly through institutional

collaboration. For example, some universities and colleges have developed forms of teaching and co-operation with industry that seem quite beneficial to both sides, without abandoning the kind of theory that is necessary over the long run; they could provide models and information to other educational institutions. The Korean University of Education and Technology, with its roots in labour market programmes, has developed a wide variety of interesting and "active" teaching practices; it could work with colleges to share some of these practices. If corporations are critical of the competencies of students, then ways need to be found to encourage them to become involved in correcting these problems — and at least in figuring out which competencies (like basic math, languages, and economic understanding) educational institutions ought to teach and which (like corporate culture and etiquette) are best left to corporations themselves. The establishment of internships and other work experience programmes are other methods for combining "practice" and knowledge of specific work conditions with the "theory" that is best taught in classrooms — and the establishment of meaningful amounts of such cooperative education would require long periods of co-operation.

It is, of course, difficult to develop such forms of co-operation in an intensely competitive environment; the rapid expansion of tertiary institutions after 1990 and the emergence of a "crisis" of over-education may have made such co-operation more difficult. This is, of course, another cost of the rapid expansion, and suggests again that restricting expansion and over-education and creating a networked system of institutions would be important roles for government to play. But even under current conditions, we suspect that Korea could make substantial progress in bridging the theory-practice divide by paying more attention to this teaching problem.

11.3 Market and Non-market Mechanisms

As is obvious from simple data like that in Table 2.2, tertiary education in Korea is dominated by private institutions. The period of expansion has sometimes been described as "letting the market rip", or allowing market incentives — and particularly the demand for more education among parents and students, generated both by economic concerns as well as older Confucian values — to cause the expansion of institutions. While we think that private institutions and market-like mechanisms will continue to dominate, allowing unbridled competition is less appropriate as Korea shifts from a focus on quantity to quality. Quality in education is much more difficult to define, to measure, and to publicise than is quality in conventional consumer goods, and all the mechanisms of improving quality we have mentioned require public intervention to some extent. Sometimes

this is intervention just to create information, or to create more transparent degrees and other qualifications; in other cases, government intervention may be necessary to force institutions to adopt practices —like quality assurance mechanisms — that they would not undertake on their own, just as conventional corporations have to be forced to reveal their financial positions truthfully or to limit pollution. The irony has always been that the optimal characteristics of markets have always required non-market and government interventions to work well, and this is even truer for education than for conventional consumer goods.

At the same time, we have outlined some possibilities for shifting to what we have called developmental regulation — what others might call "light-touch regulation" — relying on competent institutions. This would encourage a trusting relationship between MOE and tertiary institutions, as well as enhancing the flexibility of institutions. Of course, the government must still be willing to step in if there are signs of fraud or dishonesty, as is true for corporations, but the nature of the relationship changes to one of consultation and assistance. And we note again, as we stressed in Chapter 6, that this requires different competencies within the MOE — more expertise and experience with tertiary education, more familiarity with what local institutions are doing.

11.4 The Allocation of Scarce Resources

Korea has expanded its tertiary system without enormous expenditures of governmental funds, and we suspect that such funding will continue to be relatively limited. We therefore think that the potential elements of policy we have outlined must confront the issues of cost; we are, for example, sceptical that Korea will have enough public funding to establish 15 worldclass universities, and we have avoided recommending an enormous system of grants to enhance equity because we suspect that such increases in funding are politically impossible.

At the same time, there are sources of public funds that could be reallocated to enhance public purposes. One is the "demographic dividend": if there are absolutely fewer students to educate in the coming decades, but governmental funds as a proportion of GDP stay constant, then the amount of public funds per student will increase. This "dividend" could be spent in various ways: on enhancing quality; on increasing the amount of lifelong learning; on enhancing equity mechanisms including more grant funds; on investing in targeted forms of R&D related to based research and postgraduate education.

In addition, we have identified tax expenditures as a current source of government subsidy — largely to middle- and upper-income families, we suspect — that is both inefficient and inequitable. These could be eliminated or reduced by changing the tax structure, and the resulting revenues used for pay for some of the purposes we have outlined in this Country Note. This would be a recognition and reallocation of what are effectively government funds, even though tax expenditures are rarely identified in the same ways that direct expenditures are.

11.5 Data and Evaluation

We have identified many areas where data about tertiary education are either inaccurate — for example, the calculation of employment rates that are widely used to judge quality — or simply missing — for example, information about the magnitude of tax expenditures, about expenditures by Ministries other than MOE, about transfers among institutions, about completion rates, and about detailed employment effects. Similarly, we found little evaluation evidence — that is, information about which of the many small programmes Korea has initiated actually work.

We suspect, then, that in order to improve the data needed to steer the system, Korea — like many other countries — needs to develop a culture of evidence and evaluation as it starts a new stage in the development of tertiary education. In addition, the quality agenda and regulatory changes we have suggested will require additional data to be collected, including data that needs to be carefully defined and measured to capture dimensions of quality. A culture of evidence and evaluation, like the development of a quality focus, is not simply a set of procedures to collect additional information; it is instead a change in perspective, one that seeks out better information as the basis for decision-making.

Of course more data and evaluation are useless if they are not incorporated into decision-making — the decisions of colleges and universities about how to improve their offerings; the decisions of potential students and employers; the decisions of policy-makers about how to improve the system. Part of a culture of data and evaluation, then, is moving towards new ways of making decisions.

11.6 The Emphasis on Economic Purposes

We started this Country Note by pointing out the faith among Koreans in the value of education in a knowledge-based economy. Our visits to universities and colleges confirmed this emphasis: routinely, policy-makers,

administrators, and students spoke about education in terms of its economic value, and complaints about quality were very often complaints about the mismatch between education and labour market demands. We looked for remnants of older Confucian traditions of formal schooling, and an emphasis on learning related to moral virtue, governance, and household management, but we found little evidence that these are important to most participants in tertiary education. And when academics and professors are criticised for failing to change, it is sometimes because they have held on to older conceptions about the purposes of education, rather than embracing the Education Gospel enthusiastically.

The emphasis on the economic value of formal schooling is, we think, limited in several ways. Even in attaining economic goals, it creates certain problems — particularly over-education, but also the stress and expenditure that entry into tertiary education and private tutoring programmes create, the emphasis on attaining degrees and qualifications instead of the learning that these degrees are supposed to represent. But it also narrows the purposes of colleges and universities, displacing other goals including the development of an active sense of citizenship, an appreciation of the long tradition of Korean culture, the moral and personal values embedded in Confucian philosophy. And there are other forms of learning that are surely valuable in the modern world, even though their economic value is quite indirect; for example, knowing more about international developments in a country like Korea is surely exciting as well as necessary, since global influence may be shifting from Europe and the U.S. to Asia, where Korea is a leader in many ways.

We are unsure how tertiary education in Korea can assert, or reassert, a broader set of purposes in tertiary education; this is a task for individuals more familiar with the history of educational institutions and the motivations of parents and students to contemplate. Our role is limited simply to pointing out how focused Koreans seem to be on the economic purposes of tertiary education, and what the consequence might be in both economic and non-economic terms. Over the long run, we think that universities and colleges can be even richer institutions if they integrate a variety of purposes. As Korea shifts to a greater concern with quality, this too could be a dimension of what quality means.

References

- Achtenhagen, F. and W. N. Grubb (2001), Vocational and occupational education: Pedagogical complexity, institutional indifference. In V. Richardson (Ed.), *Handbook of Research on Teaching* (4th ed., pp. 176-206). Washington, DC: American Educational Research Association.
- Becker, G. (1993; original 1964), *Human Capital: A Theoretical and Empirical Analysis with Special Reference to Education*. (Third edition). Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Bok, D. (2003), *Universities in the marketplace*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Choi, S.G., *et al.* (2003), A study on private tutoring and its costs in Korea. Seoul: KEDI.
- Cox, R. (2004), Navigating Community College Demands: Contradictory Goals, Expectations, and Outcomes in Composition. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, School of Education, University of California, Berkeley.
- Gallagher, M. (2003), Higher education financing in Australia. Presentation to the Education Committee, OECD.
- Gray, M. and B. Bergman (2003), Student Teaching Evaluations: Inaccurate, Demeaning, Misused. *Academe* 89(5).
- Grubb, W. N. (1996), Working in the middle: Strengthening education and training for the mid-skilled labour force. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Grubb, W. N. (2004), The Anglo-American Approach to Vocationalism: The Economic Roles of Education in England. Research Paper 52, ESRC funded Centre on Skills, Knowledge and Organisational Performance, Oxford and Warwick Universities.
- Grubb, W. N. and P. Ryan (1999), *The roles of evaluation for vocational education and training: Plain talk on the field of dreams.* London: Kogan Page and Geneva: International Labour Office.

- Grubb, W.N. and M. Lazerson (2004), *The Education Gospel: The Economic Value of Schooling*. Cambridge MA: Harvard University Press
- Grubb, W.N, H.M. Jahr, J. Neumüller and S. Field (2005), *Equity in Education Thematic Review: Country Note for Finland*, OECD, Paris.
- Harberger, A. (1998), A vision of the growth process. *American Economic Review*, 88(1): pp. 1-32.
- Kim, S. and J.-H. Lee (2004), Changing facets of Korean higher education: Market competition and the role of the state. Paper prepared for KEDI and the World Bank.
- Kis, V. (2004, August), *Quality Assurance in Tertiary Education: Current Practices in OECD Countries and a Literature Review On Potential Effects.* Education and Training Policy Division, OECD, Paris.
- Klerman, J. and L. Karoly (1994), Young men and the transition to stable employment. *Monthly Labour Review* 117(8): pp. 31-48.
- Kuczera, M. (undated), Indicators of Equity in Education.
- Kwon, D. B. (2001), *Adult education in Korea*. Unpublished paper, College of Education, Korea University, Seoul.
- Landau, R.T., T. Taylor, and G. Wright (1996), *The mosaic of economic growth*. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Little, J.W. (2005), Professional development and professional community in the learner-centred school. Washington D.C.: National Education Association.
- McManus, S. A. (2001), "The three E's of economic development the hardest is equity: Thirty years of economic development planning in the Republic of Korea", in Korean National Commission for UNESCO (Eds) *The Korean Economy: Reflections at the New Millennium*, Elizabeth NJ and Seoul.
- OECD (1998), Redefining Tertiary Education, OECD, Paris.
- OECD (2001), Review of Early Childhood Education and Care. *Country Note: Finland*, OECD, Paris.
- OECD (2002), Review of Career Guidance Policies. *Country Note: Korea*, OECD, Paris.
- OECD (2003a), OECD Science, Technology and Industry Scoreboard, OECD, Paris.
- OECD (2003b), Education at a Glance, 2003, OECD, Paris.

- OECD (2004a), Labour Force Statistics 1983-2003, OECD, Paris.
- OECD (2004b), "Employment protection and labour market performance", *Employment Outlook*, OECD, Paris, pp. 61-125.
- OECD (2004c), "Taxation and Lifelong Learning", *Education Policy Analysis*, OECD, Paris.
- OECD (2005a), OECD in Figures 2005, OECD, Paris.
- OECD (2005b), OECD Economic Surveys: Korea, OECD, Paris.
- OECD (2005c), "Alternatives to universities revisited", *Education Policy Analysis 2004*, OECD, Paris, pp. 15-46.
- OECD (2005d), *Korea Country Note*. Thematic Review of Adult Learning. OECD, Paris.
- OECD (2005e), *Developing Highly-Skilled Workers*: Review of Korea, OECD, Paris.
- Ryan, P. (2001), The school-to-work transition: A cross-national perspective. *Journal of Economic Literature*, *39*(1): pp. 34-92.
- Shulman, L. (1987), Knowledge and teaching: Foundations of the new reform. *Harvard Educational Review* 57(1): 1-22.
- Topel, R. (1999), Labour markets and economic growth. In O. Ashenfelter and D. Card (Eds.), *Handbook of Labour Economics*, *3*, 2944-2984. Amsterdam: Elsevier Science.
- Trow, M. (1973), Problems in the transition from elite to mass higher education. In *Policies for Higher Education*, General Report on the Conference on the Future Structures of Post-secondary Education. OECD, Paris.
- Trow, M. (2005), Reflections on the transition from elite to mass to universal access: Forms and phases of higher education in modern societies since WWII. In P. Altbach (ed.), *International Handbook of Higher Education*. Amsterdam: Kluwer.

Annex 1: Members of the OECD Review Team

Michael Gallagher Director of Policy and Planning, Australian National University Canberra, Australia

W. Norton Grubb (Rapporteur) David Gardner Chair in Higher Education, University of California Berkeley, United States

Richard Sweet (Co-ordinator) Consultant to the OECD and Fellow, Centre for Post-compulsory Education and Lifelong Learning, University of Melbourne, Australia.

Ossi Tuomi Secretary General, Finnish Higher Education Evaluation Council Helsinki, Finland

Annex 2: Authors of the National Background Report and National Co-ordinators

Authors of the national background report

Byung-Shik Rhee, KEDI (Report editor and project manager) Young-Chul Kim, KEDI Jae-Eun Chae, KEDI Suk-Dong Ham, Hanyang University Chong-Ung Kim, Daegu University

National co-ordinators

Byung-Shik Rhee, Research Fellow, KEDI

Dr Jong-Gap Lee, Director General, Human Resource Development Bureau, MOE and Human Resource Development (to September 2005).

Dr Wha-Jin Kim, Director General, University Support Bureau, MOE and Human Resource Development (from September 2005).

Annex 3: Programme for the National Visit

Monday, 17 October

10:20 - 10:30	Welcome by Dr Hyung-Yeel Koh, President of the Korean Educational Development Institute (KEDI)
10:30 - 11:30	Meeting with writers of the country background report
12:00 – 13:40	Lunch meeting with Dr Suk-Min Chang, President of Korea National College of Rehabilitation and Welfare
15:00 – 15:30	Meeting with the Dr Jin Pyo Kim, Minister of Education and Human Resource development and Deputy prime Minister
15:30 – 18.30	Meeting with senior officials for higher education, MOE and Human Resource Development

Tuesday, 18 October

10.30 - 12.30	Korea Advanced Institute of Science and Technology, Daejon. Dr Robert B. Laughlin, President and senior administrators
14.00 – 17.00	Meeting with senior officials of the Ministries of Finance, Planning and Budget, Labour, Commerce and Science and Technology

Wednesday, 19 October

10:00 – 13:00	Meetings with various stakeholders at Handong Global University, Pohang
14.30 – 15.30	Meeting with various stakeholders at Pohang University of Science and Technology (POSTECH)

Thursday, 20 October

09:30 – 12:00	Meeting with various stakeholders at Yonsei University (including senior administrators, faculty senator, director of staff labour union, student representatives)
13:30 – 14:00	Meeting with Hwang Woo Yea, Chair of the Education Committee of the National Assembly
14.30 - 16.00	Federation of Korean Industries

Friday, 21 October

10:00 – 12:00	Seoul National University. Meeting with senior administrators, staff and student representatives
12:00 – 14:00	Lunch meeting with members of the faculty council, Seoul national University
15.00 - 17.00	Human Resource Department, Hyosung Group
18.00 - 20.00	Welcome dinner hosted by the President of KEDI

Monday, 24 October

10:30 – 13:30 Korea University of Technology and Education, Choen-An. Meeting with various stakeholders meetings with school administrators and HE researchers (economists)

Tuesday, 25 October

10:00 - 12:00	Ansan College, Ansan. Meeting with key stakeholders
12.00 - 13.30	Lunch with senior administrators
14.00 - 16.00	Ansan Techno Park
17.00 - 18.00	Meeting with Bong Ju Chung, Member of the Education Committee of the National Assembly

Wednesday, 26 October

11:00 – 12:00	Debriefing meeting with senior officials of the Ministry of Education and Human Resource Development
12.00 – 13.00	Farewell lunch hosted by Dr Gwang-Jo Kim, Deputy Minister for Education and Human Resource Development

Annex 4: Comparative Indicators on Tertiary Education

	Korea	OECD mean	Korea's rank¹	Korea as % of OECD mean ²
OUTCOMES				
1. % of the population aged 25-64 with tertiary qualifications (2002)				
Tertiary-type 5B - Total	8	8	15/25	100
Males	8	7	15/25	114
Females	7	9	15/25	78
Tertiary-type 5A and advanced research programmes - Total	18	15	10/30	120
Males	24	16	5/30	150
Females	13	14	16/30	93
2. % of the population aged 25-34 with tertiary qualifications (2002)				
Tertiary-type 5B	15	9	7/25	167
Tertiary-type 5A and advanced research programmes	26	19	4/30	137
3. % of the population aged 25-64 with tertiary				
qualifications – time trends				
1991	14	18	16/21	78
2002	26	23	13/30	113
4. % of the population aged 25-34 with tertiary qualifications – time trends				
1991	21	20	12/21	105
2002	41	28	3/30	146
5. Survival rates in tertiary education (2002) Number of graduates divided by the number of new				
entrants in the typical year of entrance	79	70	5/20	113
Tertiary-type 5A education Tertiary-type 5B education	79 74	70	3/20 11/17	101
6. Average duration of tertiary studies (in years)	/4	13	11/1/	101
(1995)				
All tertiary education	3.4	4.2	15/19	81
Tertiary-type 5B education	2.1	2.2	=9/15	95
Tertiary-type 5A and advanced research programmes	4.2	4.7	12/18	89

	Korea	OECD mean	Korea's rank¹	Korea as % of OECD mean ²
7. Tertiary graduates by field of study, First and	l Second degre	e ³ (2002)		
Tertiary-type 5A				
Education	5.2		26/26	
Humanities and arts	21.4		1/26	
Social sciences, business and law	22.3		24/26	
Services	2.9		11/26	
Engineering, manufacturing and	27.4		1/26	
construction				
Agriculture	2.6		8/26	
Health and welfare	7.1		23/26	
Life sciences	2.1		17/25	
Physical sciences	3.5		6/25	
Mathematics and statistics	1.9		4/25	
Computing	3.5		12/25	
Not known or unspecified				
All fields	100.0			
Tertiary-type 5Bs				
Education	9.0		8/19	
Humanities and arts	14.8		3/22	
Social sciences, business and law	15.9		19/23	
Services	8.1		15/22	
Engineering, manufacturing and construction	32.4		4/22	
Agriculture	1.0		14/19	
Health and welfare	9.6		15/21	
Life sciences	0.0		8/9	
Physical sciences	0.2		5/11	
Mathematics and statistics				
Computing	8.8		10/21	
Not known or unspecified				
All fields	100.0			
Advanced research programmes				
Education	4.4		10/22	
Humanities and arts	9.9		19/26	
Social sciences, business and law	12.6		19/25	
Services	2.9		3/19	
Engineering, manufacturing and construction	28.4		1/25	
Agriculture	4.7		16/25	
Health and welfare	24.4		8/26	
Life sciences	3.4		21/22	
Physical sciences	5.4		20/21	
Mathematics and statistics	1.5		18/19	
Computing	2.3		10/19	
Not known or unspecified	a			
All fields	100.0			

	Korea	OECD mean	Korea's rank¹	Korea as % of OECD mean ²
8. Tertiary graduates by field of study ³ per 10 0	00 population,	First and S	Second degr	ee (2002)
Tertiary-type 5A			00/07	
Education	3.72		20/25	
Humanities and arts	15.38		1/25	
Social sciences, business and law	16.04		17/25	
Services	2.10		10/25	
Engineering, manufacturing and construction	19.74		1/25	
Agriculture	1.90		5/25	
Health and welfare	5.10		17/25	
Life sciences	1.53		10/24	
Physical sciences	2.50		4/24	
Mathematics and statistics	1.40		2/24	
Computing	2.54		11/24	
Not known or unspecified				
All fields	71.95		11/25	
Tertiary-type 5B				
Education	7.15		4/19	
Humanities and arts	11.67		1/20	
Social sciences, business and law	12.56		3/22	
Services	6.43		2/21	
Engineering, manufacturing and construction	25.63		1/21	
Agriculture	0.79		5/18	
Health and welfare	7.62		4/20	
Life sciences	0.03		5/9	
Physical sciences	0.19		4/10	
Mathematics and statistics				
Computing	7.00		2/20	
Not known or unspecified				
All fields	79.06		1/24	
Advanced research programmes				
Education	0.08		10/21	
Humanities and arts	0.17		19/25	
Social sciences, business and law	0.22		16/24	
Services	0.05		5/18	
Engineering, manufacturing and construction	0.50		5/24	
Agriculture	0.08		15/24	
Health and welfare	0.43		8/25	
Life sciences	0.06		18/21	
Physical sciences	0.10		18/20	
Mathematics and statistics	0.03		16/18	
Computing	0.04		14/18	
Not known or unspecified	a			
All fields	1.77		13/25	

	Korea	OECD mean	Korea's rank¹	Korea as % of OECD mean ²
9. Employment ratio and educational attainment ⁴				
(2002) - Number of 30 to 34-year-olds in employment				
as a percentage of the population aged 30 to 34				
Lower secondary education	0.6	0.0	12/20	100
Males	86 55	80	12/29	108
Females Territory education type P (Territory type 5Pc)	33	52	13/29	106
Tertiary education, type B (Tertiary-type 5Bs) Males	92	93	17/25	99
Females	43	93 81	25/25	53
Tertiary education, type A (Tertiary-type 5A) and	43	01	23/23	33
advanced research programmes				
Males	93	94	20/29	99
Females	51	81	29/29	63
10. Unemployment ratio and educational	31	01	2)12)	03
attainment ⁵ (2002)				
Number of 30 to 34-year-olds who are unemployed as				
a percentage of the population aged 30 to 34				
Tertiary education, type B (Tertiary-type 5B)				
Males	4.4	3.4	6/25	129
Females	2.2	3.1	14/25	71
Tertiary education, type A (Tertiary-type 5A) and				
advanced research programmes				
Males	2.6	3.1	19/29	84
Females	1.0	3.5	29/29	29
11. Earnings of tertiary graduates aged 25-64				
relative to upper secondary graduates aged 25-64				
(1998) (upper secondary = 100)				
Tertiary-type 5B	106		17/19	
Tertiary-type 5A	147		15/21	
12. Earnings of tertiary graduates aged 30-44				
relative to upper secondary graduates aged 30-44				
(1998) (upper secondary = 100)				
Tertiary-type 5B	113		15/19	
Tertiary-type 5A	142		15/21	
PATTERNS OF PARTICIPATION				
13. Participation rates of all persons aged 15 and				
over by programme (2001)				
Per cent of all persons aged 15 and over in tertiary	2.40	0.66	1 /22	
type 5B programmes	3.48	0.66	1/23	527
Per cent of all persons aged 15 and over in tertiary	4.01	2.00	(12.4	•
type 5A programmes	4.91	3.99	6/24	123
Per cent of all persons aged 15 and over in tertiary	0.00	0.17	1.6/21	
type 6 programmes	0.09	0.16	16/21	56
Per cent of all persons aged 15 and over in all tertiary	0 10	1 50	1/25	
programmes	8.48	4.58	1/23	185

	Korea	OECD mean	Korea's rank¹	Korea as % of OECD mean ²
14. Index of change in total tertiary enrolment				
(2002) (1995 = 100)				
Attributable to change in population ⁶	84	95	18/19	88
Attributable to change in enrolment rates ⁷	175	137	3/19	128
15. Enrolment rates (2002)				
Full-time and part-time students in public and private				
institutions, by age				
Students aged 15-19 as a percentage of the	79.9	79.4	18/27	101
population aged 15-19				101
Students aged 20-29 as a percentage of the	26.5	22.7	9/27	
population aged 20-29	-0.0	,	<i>>.</i> ,	117
Students aged 30-39 as a percentage of the	1.7	5.4	23/27	
population aged 30-39				31
Students aged 40 and over as a percentage of the	0.4	1.5	16/23	
population aged 40 and over	***			27
16. Age distribution of enrolments (2002)				
Persons aged 35 and over as a per cent of all	6.6	16.2	13/18	41
enrolments in tertiary type-5B programmes	0.0	10.2	15/10	
Persons aged 35 and over as a per cent of all	1.1	9.7	22/24	11
enrolments in tertiary type-5A programmes	1.1	<i>y.,</i>	22/21	- 1 1
Persons aged 35 and over as a per cent of all	3.4	10.2	19/24	33
enrolments in tertiary type-5A +5B programmes	3.1	10.2	17/21	33
Persons aged 35 and over as a per cent of all	39.7	32.5	7/21	122
enrolments in tertiary type-6 programmes	37.1	32.3	//21	122
Persons aged less than 25 as a per cent of all	79.6	60.8	8/25	131
enrolments in tertiary type-5B programmes	17.0	00.6	0/23	131
Persons aged less than 25 as a per cent of all	85.4	64.7	1/26	132
enrolments in tertiary type-5A programmes	03.4	04.7	1/20	132
Persons aged less than 25 as a per cent of all	83.0	63.8	3/26	130
enrolments in tertiary type-5A +5B programmes	03.0	03.8	3/20	130
Persons aged less than 25 as a per cent of all	2.0	10.0	17/21	20
enrolments in tertiary type-6 programmes	2.0	10.0	1 //21	20
17. Gender distribution of enrolments (2002)				
Females as a per cent of enrolments in tertiary type-	36.3	55.1	28/28	
5B programmes	30.3	33.1	28/28	66
Females as a per cent of enrolments in tertiary type-	26.6	52.0	20/20	
5A programmes	36.6	52.9	28/28	69
Females as a per cent of enrolments in tertiary type-	26.5	52.2	20/20	
5A+B programmes	36.5	53.3	28/28	68
Females as a per cent of enrolments in tertiary type-6	27.7	42.2	0.6/07	
programmes	27.7	43.3	26/27	64
Females as a per cent of total tertiary enrolments	36.4	53.0	28/28	69

	Korea	OECD mean	Korea's rank ¹	Korea as % of OECD mean ²
18. Net entry rates into tertiary education ^{8,1} (2002)				
Tertiary-type 5B				
Total	58	16	1/20	363
Males	57	14	1/19	407
Females	59	18	1/20	328
Tertiary-type 5A			10/01	400
Total	52	51	10/24	102
Males	55	45	5/23	122
Females	49	55	13/23	89
19. Distribution of students in tertiary education by type of institution (2002)				
Tertiary-type 5B education, public	14.1	68.6	26/28	21
Tertiary-type 5B education, public Tertiary-type 5B education, independent private	85.9	13.7	20/28	627
Tertiary-type 5A and advanced research	03.7	13.7	2/14	027
programmes, public	22.7	79.0	28/28	29
Tertiary-type 5A and advanced research				2)
programmes, independent private	77.3	11.4	1/14	678
20. Distribution of students in tertiary education				070
by mode of study (2002)				
Tertiary-type 5B education				
Full-time	100.0	78.9	=1/29	127
Part-time	a	21.8		
Tertiary-type 5A and advanced research programmes				
Full-time	100.0	83.9	=1/29	119
Part-time	a	16.7		
Foreign students as a percentage of all students	0.2	5.7	26/27	4
(2002) (foreign and domestic students) ¹⁰				-
National students enrolled abroad in other reporting countries relative to total tertiary enrolment ¹¹ (2002)	2.6	4.1	17/29	63
Index of change in foreign students as a percentage of all students (2002) (foreign and domestic students) (1998 = 100)	160		5/22	
21. Expected changes of the 20-29 age group by 2012 relative to 2002 (2002 = 100) ¹²	81	96	23/30	84
22. Upper secondary attainment rates % of persons aged 25-34 with at least upper secondary education	95	75	1/30	127
23. Expected years of tertiary education under current conditions (2001) Full time and part-time ¹³	4.0	2.7	3/27	148

	Korea	OECD mean	Korea's rank ¹	Korea as % of OECD mean ²
EXPENDITURE				
24				
24. Annual expenditure on tertiary education institutions per student, public and private				
institutions				
In equivalent US dollars converted using PPPs,				
based on full-time equivalents				
All tertiary education (including R&D activities)	6618	10 052	20/26	66
Tertiary-type 5B education (including R&D	4295		12/16	
activities) Tertiary-type 5A and advanced research programmes				
(including R&D activities)	8236		10/17	
Annual expenditure on tertiary education				
institutions per student relative to GDP per				
capita, public and private institutions (2001)				
Based on full-time equivalents				
All tertiary education (including R&D activities)	42	42	13/26	100
Tertiary-type 5B education (including R&D activities)	27	28	8/15	96
Tertiary-type 5A and advanced research programmes				90
(including R&D activities)	52	43	3/16	121
25. Cumulative expenditure on educational				
institutions per student over the average duration				
of tertiary studies ¹⁴ (2001)				
In equivalent US dollars converted using PPPs				
All tertiary education	22 701	42 906	17/19	53
Tertiary-type 5B education	8 890		10/12	
Tertiary-type 5A and advanced research programmes	34 756		11/14	
26. Expenditure on tertiary education institutions				
as a percentage of GDP, from public and private				
Sources Tentions type 5D education 2001	0.7	0.2	2/18	250
Tertiary-type 5B education, 2001	0.7			350
Tertiary-type 5A education, 2001	2.0 2.7	1.1 1.3	1/19 1/29	182 208
All tertiary education, 2001 27. Relative proportions of public and private	2.1	1.3	1/29	208
expenditure on educational institutions, for				
tertiary education				
Distribution of public and private sources of funds				
for educational institutions after transfers from				
public sources				
Public sources, 2001	15.9	78.2	26/26	20
Private sources, household expenditure, 2001	58.1	17.1	1/21	340
Private sources, expenditure of other private entities,				
2001	26.0	9.7	2/17	268
Private sources, all private sources, 2001	84.1	21.8	1/26	386

	Korea	OECD mean	Korea's rank¹	Korea as % of OECD mean ²
28. Distribution of total public expenditure on				
tertiary education (2001)				
Public expenditure on tertiary education transferred to educational institutions and public transfers to the				
private sector, as a percentage of total public				
expenditure on tertiary education				
Direct public expenditure on public institutions	70.2	69.8	17/25	101
Direct public expenditure on private institutions	23.1	11.6	4/21	199
Indirect public transfers and payments to the private	6.7	18.2	22/27	
sector		10.2		37
29. Expenditure on tertiary education institutions as a proportion of total expenditure on all				
educational institutions (2001) Public and private	32	24	3/26	133
institutions				
30. Total public expenditure on tertiary education				
(2001)				
Direct public expenditure on tertiary institutions plus				
public subsidies to households (which include				
subsidies for living costs, and other private entities)				
As a percentage of total public expenditure	1.7	2.8	19/22	61
As a percentage of GDP 31. Subsidies for financial aid to students as a	0.5	1.3	29/29	38
percentage of total public expenditure on tertiary				
education (2001)				
Scholarships / other grants to households	0.8	9.7	25/27	8
Student loans	8.7	7.8	9/16	112
Scholarships / other grants to households attributable	0.8	1.3	9/9	62
for educational institutions	0.6	1.5	2/2	02
32. Expenditure on tertiary education institutions				
by resource category (2001)				
Distribution of total and current expenditure on tertiary education institutions from public and				
private sources				
Percentage of total expenditure				
Current	79.5	88.5	26/27	90
Capital	20.5	11.5	2/27	178
Percentage of current expenditure				
Compensation of teachers	34.2	42.4	10/15	81
Compensation of other staff	11.1	22.7	15/15	49
Compensation of all staff	45.2	67.1	28/28	67
Other current	54.8	32.9	1/28	167

	Korea	OECD mean	Korea's rank ¹	Korea as % of OECD mean ²
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT				
33. Gross domestic expenditure on Research and				
Development (R&D) as a percentage of GDP				
(2002) Source: OECD (2005)				
2002	2.53	2.26	6/20	112
1991	1.82	2.21	11/24	82
34. Higher education ¹⁵ expenditure on R&D as a				
percentage of GDP Source: OECD (2005)				
2002	0.26	0.41	17/21	63
1995	0.19	0.36	22/27	53
35. Percentage of gross domestic expenditure on				
R&D by sector of performance (2002)				
Source: OECD (2005)	10.4	10.2	10/10	<i>-</i> 7
higher education ¹⁵	10.4	18.2	18/19	57
(higher education in 1995) business enterprise	8.2 74.9	17.5 67.9	25/26 1/19	47 110
government	13.4	11.0	1/19	110
private non-profit sector	13.4	2.9	7/15	45
36. Percentage of higher education ¹⁵ expenditure	1.3	2.9	//13	43
on R&D financed by industry Source: OECD (2005)				
2002	13.9	5.9	2/17	236
1995	22.4	5.8	1/27	386
37. Total researchers per thousand total	22,4	3.0	1/2/	300
employment Source: OECD (2005)				
2001	6.3		10/21	
1995	4.9	5.8	12/25	84
38. Researchers as a percentage of national total				
(full time equivalent) (2001) Source: OECD (2005)				
higher education ¹⁵	16.9		22/22	
(higher education in 1995)	19.3	27.0	25/26	71
business enterprise	73.5		1/22	
government	8.8		18/22	
39. Share in OECD total "triadic" patent families ¹⁶				
(%) (2001)				
Source: OECD (2005)				
2001	1.17		11/30	
1995	0.93		12/30	
40. Foreign PhD students as a per cent of total PhD enrolments (2002)	1.9	13.2	15/18	14

Notes for the Tables

Sources:

All data are from OECD (2004), Education at a Glance, OECD Indicators 2004, Paris, unless indicated otherwise in the table.

Other sources:

Eurydice (2003), Key data on education in Europe - 2002 edition, Brussels, www.eurydice.org/Doc_intermediaires/indicators/en/frameset_key_data.html IALS, International adult literacy survey database.

OECD (2004), Learning for Tomorrow's World, First Results from PISA 2003, OECD, Paris.

OECD (2005), Main Science and Technology Indicators, volume 2004/2, OECD, Paris.

Missing data:

- a: Data not applicable because the category does not apply.
- x: Data included in another category or column.
- n: Magnitude is either negligible or zero.

General notes:

- 1. "Korea's rank" indicates the position of Korea when countries are ranked in descending order from the highest to lowest value on the indicator concerned. For example, on the first indicator "% of the population aged 25-64 with tertiary qualifications, College Total", the rank "x/x" indicates that Korea recorded the xxst highest value of the xx OECD countries that reported relevant data. The symbol "=" means that at least one other country has the same rank.
- 2. "% of OECD mean" indicates Korea's value as a per cent of the OECD value. For example, on the first indicator "% of the population aged 25-64 with tertiary qualifications, College Total", the percentage "xx" indicates that Korea's value is equivalent to xx% of the OECD mean.
- 3. This indicators show the ratio of graduates as a proportion to all fields of studies. The fields of education used follow the revised ISCED classification by field of education.
- 4. The employed are defined as those who during the survey reference week: *i)* work for pay (employees) or profit (self-employed and unpaid family workers) for at least one hour, or *ii)* have a job but are temporarily not at work (through injury, illness, holiday, strike or lockout, educational or training leave, maternity or parental leave, etc.) and have a formal attachment to their job.
- 5. The unemployed are defined as individuals who are without work, actively seeking employment and currently available to start work.
- 6. The impact of demographic change on total enrolment is calculated by applying the enrolment rates measured in 1995 to the population data for 2002: population change was taken into account while enrolment rates by single year of age were kept constant at the 1995 level.
- 7. The impact of changing enrolment rates is calculated by applying the enrolment rates measured in 2002 to the population data for 1995: the enrolment rates by single year of age for 2002 are multiplied by the population by single year of age for 1995 to obtain the total number of students that could be expected if the population had been constant since 1995.
- 8. The net entry rates represent the proportion of persons of a synthetic age cohort who enter a certain level of tertiary education at one point during their lives.

- 9. Educational institutions are classified as either *public* or *private* according to whether a public agency or a private entity has the ultimate power to make decisions concerning the institution's affairs. An institution is classified as *private* if it is controlled and managed by a non-governmental organisation (*e.g.*, a Church, a Trade Union or a business enterprise), or if its Governing Board consists mostly of members not selected by a public agency. The terms "government-dependent" and "independent" refer only to the degree of a private institution's dependence on funding from government sources. A government-dependent private institution is one that receives more than 50% of its core funding from government agencies. An independent private institution is one that receives less than 50% of its core funding from government agencies.
- 10. Students are classified as foreign students if they are not citizens of the country for which the data are collected. Countries unable to provide data or estimates for non-nationals on the basis of their passports were requested to substitute data according to a related alternative criterion, *e.g.*, the country of residence, the non-national mother tongue or non-national parentage.
- 11. The number of students studying abroad is obtained from the report of the countries of destination. Students studying in countries which did not report to the OECD are not included in this indicator.
- 12. This indicator covers residents in the country, regardless of citizenship and of educational or labour market status.
- 13. School expectancy (in years) under current conditions excludes all education for children younger than five years. It includes adult persons of all ages who are enrolled in formal education. School expectancy is calculated by adding the net enrollment rates for each single year of age.
- 14. Country mean for countries with 1995 and 2001 data.
- 15. "Higher Education" includes all universities, colleges of technology and other institutions of post-secondary education, whatever their source of finance or legal status. It also includes all research institutes, experimental stations and clinics operating under the direct control of or administered by or associated with higher education institutions. For detail, see OECD (2002), Frascati Manual 2002: Proposed Standard Practice for Surveys on Research and Experimental Development.
- 16. "Triadic patent" means patents filed all together to the European Patent Office (EPO), the US Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) and the Japanese Patent Office (JPO). This indicator shows each country's share in total triadic patents filed by OECD countries. Reference year is when the priority patent is filed. Data is estimated by the OECD Secretariat and provisional. Because a few countries share large proportion of triadic patents, other countries have small share.

Country specific note:

Net entry rate is calculated as gross entry rate.

OECD PUBLISHING, 2, rue André-Pascal, 75775 PARIS CEDEX 16 PRINTED IN FRANCE (91 2009 06 1 E) ISBN 978-92-64-04905-5 – No. 57177 2009

OECD Reviews of Tertiary Education

KOREA

In many OECD countries, tertiary education systems have experienced rapid growth over the last decade. With tertiary education increasingly seen as a fundamental pillar for economic growth, these systems must now address the pressures of a globalising economy and labour market. Within governance frameworks that encourage institutions, individually and collectively, to fulfil multiple missions, tertiary education systems must aim for the broad objectives of growth, full employment and social cohesion.

In this context, the OECD launched a major review of tertiary education with the participation of 24 nations. The principal objective of the review is to assist countries in understanding how the organisation, management and delivery of tertiary education can help them achieve their economic and social goals. Korea is one of 14 countries which opted to host a Country Review, in which a team of external reviewers carried out an in-depth analysis of tertiary education policies. This report includes:

- an overview of Korea's tertiary education system;
- an account of trends and developments in tertiary education in Korea;
- an analysis of the strengths and challenges in tertiary education in Korea; and
- recommendations for future policy development.

This Review of Tertiary Education in Korea forms part of the *OECD Thematic Review of Tertiary Education*, a project conducted between 2004 and 2008 (www.oecd.org/edu/tertiary/review).



